University of Alberta

Decision making under risk in multiple sclerosis

by

Ashley Dawn Radomski

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Epidemiology

Department of Psychiatry

©Ashley Dawn Radomski Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

Cognitive deficits affect approximately 50% of multiple sclerosis (MS) patients and are associated with disease-related neurodegeneration. Prior MS-studies found decision making impairments uncorrelated with patients' cognitive functions. Brain correlates of decision making in MS have not been established. The Game of Dice Task (GDT) measures decision making under risk and was used here for the first time in MS patients. I tested healthy controls with either cognitive or brain measures (each n=20), 13 mildly-disabled relapsing-remitting (RR) ("RR-1"), 9 RRMS moderately-disabled ("RR-2"), and 10 secondary progressive ("SP") MS patients. GDT was impaired in RR-2 and SP subgroups. GDT correlated with processing speed in all patients, but also with executive functions in RR-2 patients. Ventricular width measures indicated atrophy in RR-2 and SP. In all patients, atrophy correlated with decision making and processing speed. Decision making under risk is impaired in later-stage MS and is related to cognition and brain atrophy.

Acknowledgement

I began the process of earning my master's degree with high aspirations, firm goals, strict pre-determined deadlines, but also a somewhat naive appreciation for what this journey would exactly entail. Although there are many, I would like to thank and acknowledge a few very special individuals, who in their own unique way, continued to serve as the steady guiding light, illuminating the path I ventured on for this degree.

Thank you Dr. Esther Fujiwara for seeing the potential in me. Working with you was an invaluable opportunity. You provided an environment for me to explore what I truly enjoy, aspects of cognition and the human mind, while learning your experimental methods. During my program you have been generous with your time, genuinely involved in the research and ensured my understanding of it. I learned rigorous scientific practices, while you consistently kept my progress on schedule, providing me with meaningful critiques. You always found a way to showcase my strengths and improve my weaknesses. I am sincerely grateful for the robust set of research skills that you have given me, and I will continue to fine-tune them as I advance with my career. You have been a steadfast and strong-willed supervisor and mentor. I admire your dedication to research and your perpetual ability to perform at such a high level. I look forward to maintaining our relationship and working together on projects of our shared interests again in the future.

Thank you Dr. Chris Power for being so approachable and involved in my research and graduate student experience. I appreciate your well-rounded perspective on a variety of issues, and particularly, the reassuring, considerate and encouraging manner in which you presented it. Thank you for boosting my confidence, reminding me of my abilities, and earnestly nudging me to put my skills to good use, even before I felt ready. I hope to emulate your ability to "do it all" while "making it look so easy". Your passion and superb skill for research and helping patients is inspiring. I have felt it to be a privilege to be able to learn from you.

Thank you Dr. Scot Purdon for your engagement in the research and for your seasoned clinician-scientist advisement on the project. You have been quick to offer feedback, answer questions and to participate in my academic and professional development. I have much respect and admiration for the work that you do.

Thank you Dr. Ken Warren and Ingrid Catz for the very personal interest you took in fostering my evolution, not only as a young academic, but as an individual as well. Thank you for welcoming me in your "professional family". You have cared about my success on multiple fronts and have reassured me that eagerness and passion will allow me to make the difference I want to make in the field of mental health. I am in awe at the life-long commitment and the genuine enjoyment you both took in the area of Multiple Sclerosis research. The legacies you have left as a result of your tireless efforts will serve as a constant reminder to me to work hard and then work a little harder still. Dr. Warren, I know that you always say, "Life goes by too quickly", so I will remember to make time for all aspects of my life.

Thank you Dr. Gregg Blevins and members of the Northern Alberta MS Clinic for your strong desire to promote and facilitate research of the devastating disease that is MS.

Thank you Cathy Drost and Diane Turner for your friendly and prompt research administrative support on the project.

To all the above individuals, thank you for your time and efforts in patient recruitment, data collection and offering suggestions to make the most out of the study design and analyses.

A huge thank you to the MS patients who have enthusiastically devoted their time to participating in this study. These individuals who have been affected by MS have been role models for their positive attitudes and their choice to remain persistent in the fight to end MS.

Thank you Dr. Glen Baker and Tara Checknita for opening doors, being available for questions and advice and always looking out for my best interest.

Thank you to my dear friends, colleagues and learning partners in the halls of the RTF. I am grateful for the special bonds that were created through collectively making sense of our various challenges, dissolving feelings of isolation, celebrating each other's successes and characterizing our interactions with laughter, positive reframing and upbeat affirmations. You have dependably been my most pleasant distractions, most empathetic sounding boards and most valuable allies.

Thank you Abeed for fanning the fire in my heart and my mind. I appreciate your role as the fulcrum in my intricate balancing act. You have empowered me to be my best self.

Thank you Dad, Mom, Jonathan, Mackenzie and my grandparents for the day-to-day love, support and understanding that you gave me so that I could uphold my endurance during this degree. You are endless wells of practical and emotional support as I continue to meet the competing demands of school, work, family and personal development. Since you know me best, each of you has reminded me of the type of person that I believe that I am and the type of things that I believe I am capable of. Thank you for keeping me grounded and focused being the best cheer team anyone could ask for.

With sights set on the future, I would ultimately like to express my gratitude to my supporters by paying their teachings forward in the same manner by which they came to me, generously and freely.

Section Pag	ge
I. Introduction	1
II. Literature Review	2
1. Multiple Sclerosis	2
1.1. Epidemiology	3
1.2. Etiology	4
1.3. Diagnosis	5
1.4. Classification of MS-related disability	5
1.5. Multiple sclerosis subtypes	7
1.6. Pathophysiology and brain changes	9
1.6.1. Brain changes and their clinical/cognitive correlates 1	1
1.6.2. Linear measurements of structural MRIs in MS 1	6
1.7. Cognition in MS1	8
1.7.1. Neuropsychological assessment of cognition in MS 1	9
1.8. Neuropsychiatric changes in MS	25
2. Decision making	:6
2.1. Types of decision making. Ambiguity vs. Risk	27
2.1.1. Decisions under ambiguity. Iowa Gambling Task (IGT)2	28
2.1.2. Decisions under risk. Game of Dice Task (GDT)	32
2.1.3. Similarities between IGT and GDT	\$6
2.2. Decision making in MS	38
2.2.1. Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Annoni, van Melle, Bogousslavsky an Schluep (2004)	1d 10
2.2.2. Nagy, Bencsik, Rajda, Benedek, Beniczky, Kéri, et al. (2006)	41
2.2.3. Roca, Torralva, Meli, Fiol, Calcagno, Carpintiero, et al. (2008)	12
2.2.4. Simioni, Ruffieux, Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Annoni, & Schlue (2008)	ер 13
2.2.5. Simioni, Ruffieux, Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Du Pasquier, Anno and Schleup (2009)	ni 4

Table of Contents

2.2.6. Simioni, S., Schluep, M., Bault, N., Coricelli, G., Kleel Du Pasquier, R. A., Gschwind, M., Vuilleumier, P. & Ar M. (2012)	berg, J., moni, J. 45
2.2.7. Decision making in MS. summary and integration	47
2.3. Decision making in neurodegenerative conditions	49
3. Hypotheses	52
III. Materials and Methods	53
1. Participants	53
2. Neuropsychological battery	59
2.1. Game of Dice Task (GDT)	60
2.2. Shipley Institute of Living Scales (SILS)	60
2.3. Symbol-Digit Modalities Test (SDMT)	60
2.4. Verbal Selective Reminding Test (SRT)	61
2.5. Paced Auditory Serial Addition Tests (PASAT)	61
2.6. Nine-Hole Pegboard	62
2.7. Tower of Hanoi (TOH)	62
2.8. Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST)	63
2.9. Digit Spans	63
2.10. Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT)	64
2.11. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)	64
2.12. Dysexecutive Questionnaire (DEX)	65
2.13. Fatigue Assessment Instrument (FAI)	65
2.14. London Handicap Scale (LHS)	66
3. Linear measures of ventricular enlargement	66
4. Composite scores of cognitive performance	68
5. Statistical Analyses	72
IV. Results	74
1. Performance in individual neuropsychological tests	74
2. Performance in cognitive composite scores	76
3. Performance in psychosocial questionnaires	78
4. Game of Dice Task (GDT)	82

4.1. GDT net-score
4.2. GDT: Effects of pre-morbid intelligence and years of education 84
4.3. GDT performance across risk-levels
4.4. Shifting risk levels in the GDT
4.5. Perseverations on choosing the same risk level in the GDT
5. GDT correlations with neuropsychological measures
6. Atrophy measures
6.1. Correlations between atrophy measures and disease-related parameters
6.2. Correlations between atrophy measures, cognition, and GDT 100
V. Discussion
1. Impairment in the Game of Dice Task in MS 102
1.1. Comparison with previous IGT findings in MS 103
1.2. Comparison with Simioni et al. (2012) 105
1.3. Influence of education and premorbid IQ on GDT performance 107
1.4. Patterns of GDT impairment in RR-2 and SP patients 110
2. Correlations with GDT performance
2.1. Decision making under risk and speed of information processing 111
2.2. Decision making under risk and executive functions
2.3. A role of sample characteristics and disease course? 116
3. Decision making and MS-related brain atrophy 116
3.1. Neural substrates of decision making in MS 117
3.2. Ventricular enlargement and cognition in MS 120
4. Study limitations 123
5. Future directions
6. Conclusion
References 129
Appendix A. The Revised (2010) McDonald Criteria for the diagnosis of MS
Appendix B. Z-scores and standard deviations of study controls' performance on the neuropsychological tests, derived from published norms

Apper	ndix	C. F	Proportion	of MS patie	ents in	each subgi	roup performing	ng le	ess than or
equal	to	two	standard	deviations	below	controls'	performance	in	composite
scores									

List of Tables

Table Page
I-1. Classification of disability associated with multiple-sclerosis according to the Expanded Disability Status Scale
I-2. Summary of two neuropsychological screening batteries commonly used to detect cognitive deficits in MS
II-1. Summary of prior decision making studies in MS patients
II-2. Summary of main findings from IGT and GDT studies in patients with neurodegenerative disorders
III-1. Demographic variables of the study sample
III-2. Summary of controls and patient subgroups' demographic and disease- related variables
III-3. Details on magnetic resonance images obtained from patients
III-4. MS disease-modifying treatment at the time of the study
III-5. Type and dosage for medications prescribed for the management of MS patients' symptoms
III-6. Test sequence and estimated administration time
IV-1. MS patients' neuropsychological test results and comparison with controls
IV-2. Patient subgroups' neuropsychological test results and comparison with controls
IV-3. MS patients' performance in composite scores of cognitive functions 76
IV-4. Patient subgroups' performance in composite scores
IV-5. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) results in all MS patients and in patient subgroups
IV-6. Fatigue Assessment Inventory (FAI) results in all MS patients and patient subgroups
IV-7. Dysexecutive Questionnaire (DEX) results in all MS patients and patient subgroups

IV-8. London Handicap Scale (LHS) results in all MS patients and in patient subgroups
IV-9. Correlations between GDT net-score, subgroup, and premorbid IQ
IV-10. Three regression models predicting GDT net-scores by premorbid IQ and subgroup
IV-11. Predictors of the three regression models including premorbid IQ, subgroup and their interactions
IV-12. Three regression models predicting GDT net-scores by years of education and subgroup
IV-13. Predictors of the three regression models including years of education, subgroup and their interactions
IV-14. Percentage of GDT safe and risky choice perseverations out of the total number of safe/risky choices
IV-15. Safe and risky choice perseverations in the GDT
IV-16. Correlations between GDT net-score /total number of shifts and the cognitive composite scores
IV-17. Correlations between GDT net-score and single measures within the EF composite score in RR-2 patients only
IV-18. Linear atrophy measures in MS patients
IV-19. Partial correlations, controlling for age, between the linear brain atrophy measures and demographic/disease parameters
IV-20. Partial correlations, controlling for age, between the linear brain atrophy measures and cognitive composite scores, GDT net-score and GDT number of shifts

List of Figures

Figure Page
I-1. The clinical courses of the four different subtypes of MS7
II-1. Schematic of the Iowa Gambling Task
II-2. Anticipatory skin conductance responses (SCRs) (A) and reward/punishment SCRs (B) (μ S/sec), generated by normal controls, patients with amygdala lesions, or patients with ventromedial frontal lobe (VMF) lesions as a function of choice in the Iowa Gambling Task
II-3. Illustration of the Game of Dice Task
III-1. Example of T2-weighted axial MR slice selected for measurements of the linear atrophy markers
IV-1. Distribution of handicap scores across patient subgroups in the London Handicap Scale (LHS)
IV-2. Mean differences in GDT net-score between controls and MS patients 82
IV-3. Mean differences in GDT net-score between controls and MS patient subgroups
IV-4. Correlation between EDSS score and GDT net-score
IV-5. GDT-net-scores in each subgroup separated by low- and high-premorbid IQ (median split)
IV-6. Frequency of decisions across the four GDT risk levels
IV-7. Total number of shifts between risky (1- and 2-number choices) and safe choices (3- and 4-number choices) in the GDT
IV-8. Rank correlation between GDT net-score and correct sorts in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST 64-card version) in RR-2 patients

List of Abbreviations

AMG: amygdala BBB: blood-brain-barrier BRB-N: The Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests **BVMT-R: Brief Visual Memory Test-Revised** CGT: Cambridge Gambling Task CIS: clinically isolated syndrome CNS: central nervous system COWAT: Controlled Oral Word Test CSF: cerebrospinal fluid CVLT-II: California Verbal Learning Test-II D-KEFS: Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System DLPFC: dorsolateral prefrontal cortex EBV: Epstein-Barr virus EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale FHW: frontal horn width fMRI: functional MRI GDT: Game of Dice Task GLM: general linear model GM: gray matter HC: healthy controls ICD: intercaudate distance ICR: intercaudate ratio IGT: Iowa Gambling Task IQ: intelligence quotient JOLO: Judgment of Line Orientation MACFIMS: Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in Multiple Sclerosis MRI: magnetic resonance imaging MS: multiple sclerosis MSFC: Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite Score

NAWM: normal-appearing white matter OFC: orbitofrontal cortex PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test PD: Parkinson's disease PPMS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis PRMS: primary relapsing multiple sclerosis **RR**: relapsing-remitting RRMS: relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis SDMT: Symbol Digit Modalities Test SP: secondary progressive SPMS: secondary progressive multiple sclerosis SRT: Selective Reminding Test TVW: third ventricle width VMPFC: ventromedial prefrontal cortex WLG: Word List Generation test WM: white matter WOF: Wheel of Fortune Task

I. INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory and neurodegenerative disorder with an unpredictable course and widespread effects on the central nervous system. Approximately half of all MS patients develop a range of deficits in neurocognitive functions (Arnett & Strober, 2011). Decision making is a very important and frequently utilized neurocognitive function. Relatively little is known about the types and extent of decision making impairments in MS, especially compared to more commonly observed and assessed functions like attention, executive functions or memory. Virtually nothing is known about brain correlates of decision making in MS. Decision making can be understood as a complex neurocognitive function that encompasses both emotional and cognitive aspects. Either aspect contributes to a different degree depending on the specific decision making test.

The current thesis uses the Game of Dice Task (Brand et al., 2002); a decision making test that emphasizes cognitive aspects of decision making and has never been studied in MS. The work here attempts to provide further knowledge about the cognitive and neurodegenerative correlates of decision making in patients with MS. Ultimately, understanding the nature and determinants of decision making impairments in MS may lead to treatments that can improve the safety, independence and quality of life for patients. I start the following introduction with an overview on MS.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurological, inflammatory, immune-mediated and neurodegenerative disease. Characteristic of the disease is the process of demyelination, the breakdown of fatty nerve myelin sheaths surrounding the axons of the brain and spinal cord, along with the formation of lesions, better known as lesions or plaques, particularly in the white matter (WM). This detrimental process of demyelination results in a reduction of neural signal conduction throughout the central nervous system (CNS) and manifests itself in a broad spectrum of signs and symptoms. Although MS is historically thought of as a WM disease, plaques are also found in the cortical gray matter (GM), leading to both WM and GM damage and atrophy, together that promote the progression of MS-related disability.

MS has an unpredictable course both amongst and across patients in that the experienced symptoms can vary as a function of the location and severity of each individual neurological lesion. An exacerbation of MS (also known as a relapse, attack, episode or flare-up) is associated with increased lesion activity. These attacks, or episodes, can involve the advent of new symptoms or the worsening of old symptoms. An episode can last for days, weeks, or months, and it often alternates with periods of few to no symptoms (remissions). Initial symptoms of MS commonly involve changes in visual acuity, diplopia (double vision), hearing loss, numbness, tingling or weakness in the limbs or face, vertigo, dysarthria (difficulty articulating words), ataxia, sexual dysfunction, and urinary frequency or urgency. Other symptoms, not physical in nature, include mood and/or personality changes, fatigue and cognitive difficulties. Prominent cortical signs, such as aphasia, apraxia, seizures, visual field loss, dementia and extrapyramidal symptoms, are extremely rare and considered unusual in MS (Noseworthy, Lucchinetti, Rodriguez, & Weinshenker, 2000).

1.1. Epidemiology

MS is one of the most common neurological disorders to disable young and middle-aged adults. According to Rosati (2001), about 2.5 million people suffer from MS globally, with a world-wide disease prevalence rate between 2 and 150 per 100,000. The geographical prevalence of MS varies, but generally, MS is more prevalent with increasing geographical distance from the equator (Handel, Handunnetthi, Giovannoni, Ebers, & Ramagopalan, 2010; Skegg, Corwin, Craven, Malloch, & Pollock, 1987). This particular distribution pattern likely represents a combination of environmental factors, genetic differences, and discrepancies in surveillance for the disease. In Canada, a recent review across 9 epidemiological studies (Poppe, Wolfson, & Zhu, 2008) describes prevalence rates between 55.2 (found in Newfoundland and Labrador) and 350 cases (in other Atlantic provinces) per 100,000 people, with a cross-national prevalence of 240 per 100,000. These numbers confirm Canada as a country of very high MS prevalence. It should be noted that determining precise prevalence statistics is challenging because there are estimates that up to 20% of cases of MS go undetected in life, with only some appearing as a chance finding post-mortem (i.e., lesions commonly located in a periventricular distribution in the temporal, occipital and frontal lobes) (Gilbert & Sadler, 1983). These undetected cases also reveal that there is likely an underestimation of true prevalence and new incidence rates of this disease.

As in other autoimmune disorders, there are gender differences in prevalence of MS, with MS affecting approximately twice as many women than men. A systematic review of 28 epidemiologic studies found that, from 1955 to 2000, the estimated female to male ratio of MS incidence increased from 1.4 to 2.3 (Alonso & Hernan, 2008), and newer evidence suggests that the incidence of MS is still increasing in females (Koch-Henriksen & Sorensen, 2010). Although MS can occur at any age, the onset of MS is usually in early adulthood, with symptoms manifesting between 15-50 years of age. The median and mean ages of the onset of MS are 23.5 and 30 years of age, respectively (Confavreux & Vukusic, 2006). The peak age of MS onset is about five years earlier for women than for men.

1.2. Etiology

The etiology of MS is still unknown, but is likely a combination of both genetic and environmental causes. Evidence for genetic influences comes from the 5% dizygotic and approximately 25-40% monozygotic concordance rates for twins (Handel, Handunnetthi, et al., 2010; Handunnetthi, Handel, & Ramagopalan, 2010). There are also differences in prevalence rates across different ethnic groups. Caucasians, especially those originally from Northern Europe/Nordic regions (who typically live in temperate zones and in high-income countries), appear to have the highest risk for developing MS; while people of Asian, African, or American Indian origin (who often live in lower-income countries and in tropical zones) have the lowest risk (Koch-Henriksen & Sorensen, 2010). Ethnic evidence such as this is also supported by geographical observations that MS is more commonly found at latitudes further from the equator in both directions, a widely-documented occurrence that is commonly referred to as the theory of latitudinal gradient (Cross, Cross, & Piccio, 2012). A review by Handel et al. (2010) found additional evidence for environmental and geographical influences in the etiology of MS based on data from migration studies: Persons who emigrate during childhood assume the same prevalence risk as those of the new country. As stated in a review by Koch-Henriken and Sorensen (2010), the irregular distribution of MS across geographical populations can be attributed to differences in the interaction of genes and the environment; however, sources of error, such as prevalence and incidence surveys being affected by inaccuracy of diagnosis and data ascertainment, might play a part in the geographical and temporal variations found in MS.

Exposure to sunlight and/or vitamin D are suggested to be an important environmental factor(s) in the etiology of MS (less sunlight/vitamin D increasing MS risk), as well as possibly exposure to the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (Ascherio & Munger, 2007; Handel, Giovannoni, et al., 2010). Other, less definitive

4

evidence for environmental factors in the etiology of MS include smoking, physical trauma, respiratory tract infections, organic solvents and a fatty diet (Handel, Giovannoni, et al., 2010; Handel, Handunnetthi, et al., 2010; Milo & Kahana, 2010; Ramagopalan, Dobson, Meier, & Giovannoni, 2010), factors that are more frequently found in developed countries.

1.3. Diagnosis

The International Panel on MS-Diagnosis has created and recently (2010) revised guidelines termed the "Revised McDonald Criteria" for the diagnosis of MS (Polman et al., 2011). According to these guidelines, MS is diagnosed when a patient has experienced a minimum of two episodes of neurological disturbance that implicate spatially and temporally disseminated multifocal inflammatory demyelinated plaques in the CNS, while excluding other viable diagnoses. Although diagnosing MS can be made on the attainment of clinical evidence alone if the patient has experienced at least two separate episodes of CNS impairment, the use of MRI can further justify, augment or substitute clinical evidence to meet the diagnostic threshold (Polman et al., 2011). Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) testing and/or evoked potential examinations can be used to diagnose MS as well. The full 2010 Revised McDonald Criteria are outlined in **Appendix A**.

1.4. Classification of MS-related disability

The MS disease course is marked by combination attacks of inflammation and degeneration that leads to brain and spinal cord damage/atrophy and associated functional deficits. As the disease evolves, the brain and spinal cord become increasingly deprived of sensory inputs and lose the ability to transmit signals as well. The most widely used scale for rating the level of neurological disability for MS patients is the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS; Kurtzke, 1983). The EDSS summarizes a patient's disability based on 8 functional systems: pyramidal, cerebellar, brainstem, sensory, bowel and bladder, visual, cerebral, and other (miscellaneous). The EDSS typically rates the severity level of disability with a major emphasis on the patient's ability to walk. For each functional system, a patient receives a clinical/qualitative rating on a 0-5 or 0-6 scale based on his/her performance on a neurological examination. The individual functional system ratings are then combined to give a total score (i.e., composite score) from 0-10, with 0.5 increments. An EDSS score of 0 denotes an unremarkable neurological examination, whereas an EDSS score of 10 denotes death. See Table I-1 for a breakdown of each EDSS increment.

EDSS Score	Result of neurological examination/level of disability
0.0	Normal neurological examination
1.0	No disability, minimal signs in one FS
1.5	No disability, minimal signs in more than one FS
2.0	Minimal disability in one FS
2.5	Mild disability in one FS or minimal disability in two FS
3.0	Moderate disability in one FS, or mild disability in three or four FS. Fully ambulatory
3.5	Fully ambulatory but with moderate disability in one FS and more than minimal disability in several others
4.0	Fully ambulatory without aid, self-sufficient, up and about some 12 hours a day despite relatively severe disability; able to walk without aid or rest some 500 meters
4.5	Fully ambulatory without aid, up and about much of the day, able to work a full day, may otherwise have some limitation of full activity or require minimal assistance; characterized by relatively severe disability; able to walk without aid or rest some 300 meters.
5.0	Ambulatory without aid or rest for about 200 meters; disability severe enough to impair full daily activities
5.5	Ambulatory without aid or rest for about 100 meters; disability severe enough to preclude full daily activities
6.0	Intermittent or unilateral constant assistance (cane, crutch, brace) required to walk about 100 meters with or without resting
6.5	Constant bilateral assistance (canes, crutches, braces) required to walk about 20 meters without resting
7.0	Unable to walk beyond approximately five meters even with aid, essentially restricted to wheelchair; wheels self in standard wheelchair and transfers alone; up and about in wheelchair some 12 hours a day
7.5	Unable to take more than a few steps; restricted to wheelchair; may need aid in transfer; wheels self but cannot carry on in standard wheelchair a full day; May require motorized wheelchair
8.0	Essentially restricted to bed or chair or perambulated in wheelchair, but may be out

 Table I-1. Classification of disability associated with multiple-sclerosis according to the
Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS; Kurtzke, 1983)

-

EDSS Score	Result of neurological examination/level of disability
	of bed itself much of the day; retains many self-care functions; generally has effective use of arms
8.5	Essentially restricted to bed much of day; has some effective use of arms retains some self care functions
9.0	Confined to bed; can still communicate and eat.
9.5	Totally helpless bed patient; unable to communicate effectively or eat/swallow
10.0	Death due to MS

FS: Functional system

While still widely used to classify stages of disease development and associated neurological impairment, the EDSS has also been criticized (Hobart, Freeman, & Thompson, 2000; Naci, Fleurence, Birt, & Duhig, 2010). Core points of criticism include the qualitative nature of the scale, insensitivity in higher ranges of disability, emphasis on the patient's ability to walk and inability to account for the cognitive or mood changes commonly associated with MS.

1.5. Multiple sclerosis subtypes

The MS disease course is capricious and initially difficult to predict. There are at least four different subtypes of MS used to categorize patients according to the course of their disease (Fox, R. J., 2010): relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), secondary progressive MS (SPMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS), and progressive-relapsing MS (PRMS). These subtypes differ in clinical features, prognosis, and disease trajectories (see **Figure I-1**).



Figure I-1. The clinical courses of the four different subtypes of MS (Fox, R. J., 2010).

MS typically begins with a clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), an apparent neurological attack (e.g., optic neuritis) highly suggestive of inflammation/demyelination. Given that CIS is characterized by one (but not more than one) discrete neurological disturbance, CIS does not fulfill criteria for the diagnosis MS (Miller, D., Barkhof, Montalban, Thompson, & Filippi, 2005). Yet, approximately 30% to 70% of persons with a CIS later develop definitive MS. The majority (~85%) of patients with a diagnosis of MS have the RR subtype. RRMS is characterized by a biphasic disease course: acute episodes of neurological disruption (relapses) with variable recovery from a relapse that alternate with a stable course between attacks. Overall, with RRMS there is often minimal disease progression. However, over time, most RRMS patients evolve into the chronic phase of the disease (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000). Within 25 years, approximately 90% of RRMS patients advance into the SP disease course. SPMS is characterized by ceasing inflammatory activity but increasing and steady neurological decline (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000). RRMS tends to have an earlier onset compared to other subtypes of MS, averaging 25-29 years; patients convert to a SPMS disease course at a mean age of 40-44 years (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000).

About 10% of MS patients exhibit a disease course with a rapid and steady decline in neurological function from disease onset, without ever experiencing recovery or remission periods, and are classified as having PPMS (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000). Patients following this disease course experience less frequent inflammatory responses; instead, axonal loss and GM and WM damage consistently increase, and eventually lends to greater disability (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000). PPMS has a mean age of onset of 35-39 years, this is nearly ten years later than RRMS patients (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000). A small minority of MS patients (~5%) suffer from a disease course characterized by progressive neurological decline accompanied with well-marked acute attacks (i.e., relapses) with very limited recovery. This disease course is classified as PRMS (Feinstein, 2007; Noseworthy et al., 2000).

Overall, less than 5% of MS patients have very severe disability within the first 5 years after onset, with 10–20% of patients remaining unimpaired without therapy after 20 years of the disease (Scalfari et al., 2010). In primary progressive forms of MS, the median time from disease onset to reaching irreversible disability is significantly earlier compared to RRMS, with most progressive MS patients having developed mild to moderate disability by the time they are diagnosed (Scalfari et al., 2010). Prior to disease-modifying therapies, the median time from disease onset to cane requirement was 15 years, disease onset to bedbound status was 26 years, and then disease onset to death was roughly 41 years (Scalfari et al., 2010). The degree that disease-modifying therapies (i.e., medications that exclusively act on the inflammatory activity of the disease and are therefore only useful in RRMS) alter this timeline of progression is still to be determined (Trojano et al., 2007). The median lifespan for MS patients is approximately 5–10 years shorter than for the age-matched general population (Bronnum-Hansen, Koch-Henriksen, & Stenager, 2004).

1.6. Pathophysiology and brain changes

The histopathology of MS is quite heterogeneous but classically comprises focal demyelination in the brain and spinal cord, initially linked to inflammation and edema, followed by axonal damage, loss of oligodendrocytes, microglial activation, and astroglial scarring (Filippi, Dousset, McFarland, Miller, & Grossman, 2002; Fisher, Lee, Nakamura, & Rudick, 2008). Myelin is a complex of lipoproteins made by oligodendrocytes that envelope the axon and aids in signal transmission. As MS progresses, acute viral or bacterial infections may result in a breakdown of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB), that then becomes permeable to T-cells and other lymphocytes and there is an increase of inflammatory attacks over time (i.e., attacking myelin as if body-foreign). Over time, myelin is degraded, becomes detached from the axon and eventually becomes phagocytosed by invading macrophages. This disruption in neural conduction results in clinical symptoms. Locations of active inflammation (lesions or plaques) are highly visible on structural MRIs (Filippi, Rocca, et al., 2002). Neuroimaging and histological demonstrations of demyelination tend to reveal a periventricular distribution, although lesions can also be found amidst or adjacent to large WM tracts (e.g., Tiemann, Penner, Haupts, Schlegel, & Calabrese, 2009). Active and focal inflammatory lesions in the WM are more common in patients with acute or relapsing forms of MS, while in progressive forms of MS, there are more diffuse, non-active WM lesions, along with demyelination in the cortex and more progressive axonal injury (damage to the myelin and axon itself) (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005).

Importantly, it has now been accepted that WM lesion load (regardless of whether lesions are active or not) does not provide a comprehensive explanation of disease progression or (cognitive) impairment in MS (Barkhof, 2002). Although there have been fewer investigations of GM changes in MS, plaques in the GM can be observed in post mortem/tissue examinations of patients (Geurts, Stys, Minagar, Amor, & Zivadinov, 2009; Kidd et al., 1999). GM demyelination differs from WM demyelination whose pathological hallmarks (BBB breakdown, massive infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages), are typically absent (Peterson, Bo, Mork, Chang, & Trapp, 2001). These findings suggest that different pathological mechanisms may drive GM and WM lesions in MS. There is evidence that cortical GM lesions can occur secondary to WM damage (Cifelli et al., 2002; Simon, Kinkel, Jacobs, Bub, & Simonian, 2000), but can also occur in independently (Bo, Geurts, van der Valk, Polman, & Barkhof, 2007). Thus, cortical GM could be an independent early and/or initial target of MS-related brain pathology. Even though the exact temporal and causal interplay between WM and GM changes in MS is currently unclear, it is suspected to differ between MS subtypes and different disease trajectories (Pirko & Johnson, 2008). Both types of MS-pathology are related to disease progression and cognitive deterioration and this will be outlined in the next section.

1.6.1. Brain changes in MS and their clinical/cognitive correlates

The most commonly assessed pathological brain changes, in conjunction with disability (usually EDSS) and cognitive impairment, are discrete, visible MS-specific WM lesions ("plaques" usually visualized by gadolinium enhanced T2-weighted MR imaging) and GM atrophy (global or regional), followed by cortical lesions (reflecting GM or mixed GM/WM lesions) and changes in WM integrity [diffuse damage to normal appearing white matter (NAWM) or tractspecific damage] using different MR imaging parameters. A comprehensive review of these findings is beyond the scope of this thesis. Therefore, the relationships between these parameters and disease severity as well as cognitive impairment will only be reviewed briefly before turning to global brain atrophy, as the latter was assessed in the current study.

A) White matter lesions: As mentioned above, WM lesions have long been known as a critical finding in MS. To quantify WM lesion load, visible WM lesions acquired through gadolinium enhanced T2-weighted MR image sequences are usually traced manually on MR images by a radiologist and their volume is calculated. Less detailed measures include simple lesion counts. Such WM lesions have sometimes been associated with disease severity and cognitive dysfunctions (Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, Grossi, & Gallo, 2011; Camp et al., 1999; Rao, Leo, Haughton, St Aubin-Faubert, & Bernardin, 1989; Ron, Callanan, & Warrington, 1991; Rovaris, Marco et al., 2000). However, mapping lesions to cognitive dysfunction is often relatively poor, leading to the formulation of a 'clinicoradiological paradox' in MS (Barkhof, 2002). If correlations are found between lesions and cognitive deficits, these can have regional specificity. For example, WM lesion burden in the frontal lobe was associated with executive dysfunctions in Arnett et al. (1994) and in Swirsky-Sacchetti (1992). More recently, Llufriu and colleagues (2012) found that even small damage to the structural integrity of the corpus callosum (the major WM commissural tract in the brain) correlated with dysfunction in verbal and visual memory, information processing speed and executive tasks. The frequency of lesions in the corpus callosum was lower in

cognitively intact than in cognitively impaired MS-patients (especially in patients who showed deficits on a test of processing speed) in Rossi et al. (2001). Since WM lesions are often located in periventricular brain regions, and increasing degeneration in those areas could interrupt WM tracts that originate from or project to prefrontal, cingulate, and association areas (Bendfeldt et al., 2012), WM lesions might lead to functional disconnection of cortical areas and deep GM structures that are critical for many cognitive and sensory functions (e.g., the thalamus). In addition, the periventricular anterior cingulate gyrus has extensive connections with many cortical regions including the insula, which, in turn has numerous connections with the limbic system, (e.g., the hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus), as well as the frontal, parietal and temporal cortices (Charil et al., 2007). Histopathological studies in MS have demonstrated that these areas are more demyelinated than others (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005).

B) Gray matter atrophy: Changes in GM are usually not assessed manually but are based on (customized) automated segmentation procedures, producing volumetric measures of all GM within each 3D voxel of brain tissue. Several research groups confirmed that the relationship between cognition and GM atrophy often supersedes that with WM lesions in MS (Bakshi, Benedict, Bermel, & Jacobs, 2001; De Stefano et al., 2003; Sanfilipo, Benedict, Sharma, Weinstock-Guttman, & Bakshi, 2005). Thus, GM damage (diffuse or focal) is not only more prevalent in MS than initially thought (Brownell & Hughes, 1962; Calabrese, M., Rocca, et al., 2009; Calabrese, M., Rocca, et al., 2010; De Stefano et al., 2003), but quite significantly related to cognitive impairment (e.g., Amato et al., 2004; Amato & De Stefano, 2007; Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, Mattisi, et al., 2010; Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007). Subcortical ('deep') GM damage is common in MS (Bermel, Innus, Tjoa, & Bakshi, 2003; Cifelli et al., 2002; Prinster et al., 2006; Sepulcre et al., 2006). Among affected sites are the thalamus and basal ganglia, followed by hypothalamus, hippocampus, cerebellum and spinal cord (Calabrese, M., Mattisi, et al., 2010; Gilmore et al., 2006; Vercellino et al., 2005). Among these sites, the most robust and consensual finding for correlation between cognition and GM

atrophy is found with the thalamus (Batista et al., 2012; Benedict et al., 2013; Benedict, Ramasamy, Munschauer, Weinstock-Guttman, & Zivadinov, 2009; Houtchens et al., 2007).

Cortical GM atrophy is most pronounced in temporal and frontal cortex (including motor cortex), and parallels impairment in motor, memory and executive functions (Benedict, Zivadinov, et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2004; De Stefano et al., 2003; Fisher et al., 2008; Morgen et al., 2006; Prinster et al., 2006; Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007). Changes in GM are closely associated with both physical disability and its progression (correlations range from r = 0.47-0.59) (Bonati et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2004; Fisher et al., 2008; Fisniku et al., 2008; Horakova et al., 2009) as well as cognitive impairment (Amato et al., 2007; Calabrese, M., Agosta, et al., 2009; Calabrese, M., Rocca, et al., 2010; De Stefano et al., 2003; Sanfilipo et al., 2005; Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007). A recent metaanalysis (Lansley, Mataix-Cols, Grau, Radua, & Sastre-Garriga, 2013) found that MS-related GM reductions across 19 studies and 500 RRMS patients were rather regionally-specific and involved bilateral thalamus, basal ganglia structures, pre/postcentral cortex and cingulate gyrus. Disability (EDSS) was related to atrophy in pre/postcentral gyrus regions only; according to the authors, likely as a result of the bias in the EDSS towards assessing locomotor disability. Cognition was not assessed in this meta-analysis.

Fisniku and colleagues (2008) showed that GM atrophy, unlike WM atrophy, increases in patients with moderate disability (EDSS> 3). This view is further supported by findings that the rate of GM atrophy is accelerated upon conversion from CIS to the RRMS and SPMS ($3.4\times$ and $14\times$ the normal rates, respectively), while WM atrophy remains relatively stable throughout the same MS courses ($3\times$ the normal rate) (Dalton et al., 2004; Fisher et al., 2008). Thus, GM pathology may better represent progressive CNS damage and resulting physical disability in MS patients than WM pathology, although some contrasting results have also been reported (Sastre-Garriga et al., 2004).

Of note, cognitive impairment is more prominent during the time that the MS disease course converts from a RR subtype to the SP type (Benedict, Carone, & Bakshi, 2004; Filippi et al., 1994); this also happens to be a time marked with accelerated degeneration of the cerebral GM (Fisher et al., 2008).

C) Gray matter lesions: Apart from GM atrophy, cortical and subcortical inflammatory GM lesions also contribute to overall disability in MS (Hayton et al., 2009; Rovaris, M., Judica, et al., 2008). These types of lesions have been less well studied, but they seem to show mild correlation with current EDSS scores and moderate correlation with EDSS changes over time (Calabrese, M., Rocca, et al., 2010). Similar to GM atrophy, PPMS patients show more pronounced accumulation of active GM lesions, paralleling increased physical disability (Calabrese, M., Rocca, et al., 2009). It was suggested that fatigue in MS patients could be secondary to the regional atrophy of the fronto-parietal cortex, striatum and thalamus (Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, Grossi, et al., 2010; Filippi, Rocca, et al., 2002; Niepel et al., 2006) as well as the higher overall GM lesion burden (Riccitelli et al., 2011; Sepulcre et al., 2009). Yet, it is not known whether the severity of physical impairment is proportional to GM lesion volume or whether it depends more on the topography of the GM lesions (see Horakova, Kalincik, Dusankova, & Dolezal, 2012 for more detailed discussion).

D) Changes in white matter integrity: As mentioned above, in addition to visible MS-specific WM lesions, diffuse WM damage in "normal appearing white matter" (NAMW) as well as tract-specific WM changes are also common in MS (Filippi et al., 2000; Ge, Law, & Grossman, 2005; Guo, Jewells, & Provenzale, 2001). Both pathologies have been related to disability and cognitive impairment in numerous studies (Lin, X., Tench, Morgan, Niepel, & Constantinescu, 2005; Ozturk et al., 2010; Preziosa et al., 2011; Wilson, Tench, Morgan, & Blumhardt, 2003). For example, diffusion-tensor imaging (DTI)-based tractography of the corpus callosum was sensitive to changes in processing speed in Lin et al. (2008), similar to a study from Yu and others (2012), who found the strongest correlations

between information processing speed and DTI-measures of WM disintegration (lesions, NAWM volumes) in the thalamic radiation, corpus callosum and the sagittal stratum (an occipito-temporal white matter tract).

Comparing the relative contributions of the type of MRI-based in vivo brain pathology to disease severity and cognition is complicated and studies often yield inconsistent results. For example, Penny et al. (2010) showed in a longitudinal study in PPMS patients that baseline WM lesion volume was the best MRI predictor of overall cognitive function, verbal memory and attention/speed of information processing after 5 years. In line with this finding, Bagnato et al. (2010) found cortical GM lesions to be related to cognitive impairment in 21 MS patients, but this correlation was rendered insignificant when WM lesion load was controlled, suggesting no contributions of GM lesions over and above effects of WM lesions to explain cognitive deficits in this study. Hulst and colleagues (2013) compared diffuse WM pathology, discrete WM lesions, and GM atrophy in conjunction with cognition in 55 MS patients. They found only *diffuse* WM structural changes (assessed with DTI) to be related to cognitive deficits in patients. Calabrese et al. (2009) found that cognitive impairment across 70 MS patients was independently predicted by cortical lesions and regional GM atrophy, but not by WM lesions. A more recent longitudinal study by the same group in 312 patients, however, found that cortical lesion volume, GM fraction as well as T2-WM lesion volume at baseline were all independent predictors of cognitive status after a five year follow-up (Calabrese, M. et al., 2012).

Much of the contradictory evidence is likely due to differences in the assessment of and focus on particular pathological brain changes, the size of the effects and therefore power-issues with smaller sized studies, as well as different imaging parameters and associated sensitivity for any particular brain pathology across studies. It can be reasonably assumed that all pathological changes contribute to MS-related disability and cognitive disturbance although the exact extent that they do so is difficult to quantify and definitively determine across studies.

E) Global atrophy measures: In addition to specific WM or GM pathology, whole brain or regional atrophy are also commonly associated with the presence of cognitive dysfunction, since they encompass both WM and GM pathologies in MS. For example, brain atrophic changes may better explain cognitive impairment in RRMS patients than WM lesion volume alone (Morgen et al., 2006; Sanchez, Nieto, Barroso, Martin, & Hernandez, 2008). One study reported that global brain atrophy in MS accounts for about 10-15% of the variance in verbal learning and memory tasks and about 33% in processing speed tasks (Benedict, Bruce, et al., 2006). Several other MRI studies have demonstrated that global corpus callosum and frontal lobe atrophy provide robust correlates of MS-associated cognitive dysfunction (Benedict, Carone, et al., 2004; Rovaris, M., Comi, & Filippi, 2006; Zivadinov, De Masi, et al., 2001; Zivadinov, Sepcic, et al., 2001).

A relatively simple method of estimating brain atrophy is achieved via linear 2-dimensional (2D) measurements, included in the current study. These linear measurements can be performed on structural MRI to provide gross information on overall brain atrophy in patients. The benefits of such linear measurements are that they are simple and rapid, and that they can be performed on standard clinical MR scans that are available for most patients. Compared to modern MR imaging techniques developed to detect MS-specific brain pathologies, evidently, linear atrophy measures are relatively crude and variability between scanners and scan sequences across centers will influence the results. Nevertheless, atrophic changes that can be linked to disease progression and cognitive decline in MS have used this approach and these are outlined below.

1.6.2. Linear measurements of structural MRIs in MS

Linear measures of the width of the brain, corpus callosum and the ventricles have been applied in MS for decades. Four commonly used linear measurements include that estimate ventricular size are: Frontal horn width (FHW; Berg, D., Maurer, Warmuth-Metz, Rieckmann, & Becker, 2000; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Martola et al., 2008; Simon et al., 1999), third ventricle width (TVW; Berg, D. et al., 2000; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Martola et al., 2008; Simon et al., 1999), intercaudate nucleus distance (ICD; Butzkueven et al., 2008) and intercaudate ratio (ICR; Bermel, Bakshi, Tjoa, Puli, & Jacobs, 2002; Butzkueven et al., 2008). Indicators of ventricular enlargement reflect a loss of brain parenchyma (Fox, N. C. et al., 2000; Turner, Lin, Calmon, Roberts, & Blumhardt, 2003), in particular, reductions in thalami, basal ganglia, and periventricular WM, structures that form the walls of the third and lateral ventricles (Martola et al., 2008). Ventricular enlargement can be found within one year of disease duration in MS and continues as the disease progresses, even after over 4 decades (Martola et al., 2008).

After visually selecting the appropriate slice position for each assessment, the linear distances of each structure/region is obtained from a 2D single-image axial slice using a linear distance tool. A validation study by Butzkueven and colleagues (2008) tested three linear markers of ventricular enlargement, ICD, TVW and FHW, against results of an automated protocol used to assess brain parenchymal volume (Butzkueven et al., 2008). The TVW (p=0.001) and ICD (p<0.001) measures differentiated well between MS cases and controls. Ratio measurements based on TVW and ICD that also take into account skull size inversely correlated with brain parenchymal volume (p<0.01) cross-sectionally and after 4 years time (Butzkueven et al., 2008). Turner and colleagues (2001) also validated that some linear measurements correlate well with 3-dimensional (3D) ventricle volumes (Turner et al., 2001). In this study, TVW showed the strongest association with the clinical stage of the disease (i.e., disease duration, duration of symptoms and disability). These studies show that linear measurements obtained from clinical MRI scans can indeed validly estimate brain atrophy in MS.

MS lesions and atrophy in GM structures surrounding the third ventricle may disrupt WM tracts interconnecting prefrontal-limbic structures, resulting in MS-characteristic deficits of memory and "frontal" functions (Rao, 1986). The

size of third ventricle estimates the volume of the thalamus, a region that is an important hub for mediating cognitive deficits in MS (Batista et al., 2012; Benedict et al., 2013; Benedict et al., 2009; Houtchens et al., 2007). TVW has been more strongly related to cognitive deficits compared to measures of lesion load and global brain volume in several studies (Benedict, Bruce, et al., 2006; Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007). TVW has been found to be an indicator of significant disease progression, for example in RRMS patients (Simon et al., 1999). In addition, ICD and ICR (i.e., ICR accounting for skull size) are thought to reflect atrophy of WM tracts and ventricular enlargement near the basal ganglia, especially the caudate nuclei (Bermel et al., 2002). Both measures, especially the ICR, were found to relate to severity, duration, as well as cognitive deficits, especially deficits in processing speed in MS (Bermel et al., 2002; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Caon et al., 2003). However, it is important to note that 2D linear measures sometimes (Martola et al., 2008; Turner et al., 2001), but not always, correlate with disease duration or EDSS (Clark, C. M. et al., 1992; Kalkers et al., 2002).

In summary, linear measures of ventricular enlargement can be understood as approximations of brain atrophy in MS. Similar to more sophisticated 3D measures, they have previously been related to disease severity, progression and cognitive dysfunction in MS in several studies. Although precision and replicability of these measures are necessarily inferior to 3D volumetric measures, their ease of implementation as well as the wide availability of clinical MR scans in MS patients are attractive features of 2D linear measures. Two-dimensional linear measures were used in the current study.

1.7. Cognition in MS

Although descriptions of altered mentation in MS were noticed long before Jean-Martin Charcot, the French neurologist, came to name this condition (Charcot, 1868), only since the mid-1980s have greater efforts been invested towards testing MS-associated behavioral and cognitive changes. Early research into the psychological and cognitive aspects of MS focused on an undifferentiated category of "mental symptoms" (fatigue, sleep, emotional and cognitive problems) that were initially considered secondary to the more overt physical symptoms assumed to be most debilitating. However, with improved psychometric methodologies, cognitive deficits are now recognized as a primary and often intensely disabling aspect of MS. Cognitive impairment is present in nearly half of all MS patients, with prevalence rates ranging from 43 to 70% (Amato, Zipoli, & Portaccio, 2008; Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008; Ferreira, 2010). Cognitive impairment can be difficult to detect because it is only mildly associated with physical impairment (Beatty, Goodkin, Hertsgaard, & Monson, 1990; Piras et al., 2003), can occur at any stage of the disease, and may not directly covary with disease duration (Beatty et al., 1990). Although cognitive impairment can even present in the very beginning of the disease (Achiron & Barak, 2003; Deloire et al., 2005; Feuillet et al., 2007; Glanz et al., 2007; Potagas et al., 2008; Zipoli et al., 2010), cognitive disturbances are usually more severe in patients with SPMS compared to those in the RR stage (Beatty et al., 1990).

MS-related cognitive impairment has detrimental effects on activities of daily living (e.g., grocery shopping, driving, banking), autonomy, and social activities and interactions (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008). Additionally, the presence of cognitive deficits accounts for more variance in employment status (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008) than physical disability and demographic factors associated with the disease (Larocca, Kalb, Scheinberg, & Kendall, 1985). Therefore, it is safe to assume cognitive deficits considerably reduce the quality of life of MS patients and should be of primary concern in this disorder (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008; Rao, Leo, Bernardin, & Unverzagt, 1991).

1.7.1. Neuropsychological assessment of cognition in MS

MS patients' self-report of their cognitive impairments, although important clinically, is not always reflective of their true cognitive performance, but might be instead linked to changes in mood such as depression (Langdon, 2011). Therefore, objective neuropsychological measurement of cognitive abilities is desirable. Neuropsychological assessment involves the formal use of standardized tests to appraise the extent of impairment of cognitive function(s) with respect to normative performance of a healthy age- (and education-) matched general population. Historically, neuropsychological assessment was aimed at localizing an area of the brain presumably affected by neurological illness or injury. Since the localization of MS-related brain changes is non-focal and diffuse, a variety of cognitive functions can be impaired in MS. Frank dementia (global cognitive decline) is rare in MS (Amato et al., 2010); instead, more subtle cognitive deficits, that can vary substantially among patients (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008) are more often observed. In general, areas of cognitive impairment in MS include the efficiency and speed of information processing, verbal and visual-spatial memory, attention, visual perceptual processing, and executive functioning. Processing speed/attention and memory are the hallmark cognitive domains with deficits in MS (Benedict, Cookfair, et al., 2006; Rao et al., 1991). A brief summary of aspects of impaired cognition in MS is given in the following.

A) Information processing speed. Information processing speed refers to the speed and capacity that one can sequence and execute cognitive information. Reduced speed of information processing is considered the single most common cognitive deficit in MS, affecting nearly half of all patients (Denney, Lynch, & Parmenter, 2008; Rao et al., 1991). Compared to controls, generalized slowing in information processing is greater in progressive subtypes (50% slower) than in RRMS (24% slower). Deficits in processing speed emerge even when controlling for motor involvement can be demonstrated by auditory tests requiring no motor output (De Sonneville et al., 2002). MS patients' slowed processing speed is even more pronounced on tasks that are explicitly timed (Denney, Gallagher, & Lynch, 2011). However, when cognitive load is reduced, by increasing the interval between stimulus presentation and the allotted time to respond, there is an improvement in the accuracy of MS patients' performance (Leavitt, Lengenfelder, Moore, Chiaravalloti, & DeLuca, 2011). Over several years, MS patients'

performance on tests of information processing speed declines more rapidly than that on other cognitive tests (Denney et al., 2008).

B) Attention. Attention involves selecting a (sub)set of information to focus on for enhanced processing and can include a single information source or several sources. Attention often involves processing speed and working memory. Complex aspects of attention (e.g., selective and divided attention) are most often impaired, whereas simpler forms (e.g., attention span) are generally intact in MS patients (Amato, Zipoli, et al., 2008). Impaired attention and reduced informationprocessing speed represent the most sensitive indicators of incipient cognitive dysfunction in MS (Amato, Zipoli, et al., 2008).

C) Memory. Memory refers to the ability to learn new information and to recall that information after a delay. Besides processing speed/attention, learning and memory deficits are considered one of the most frequent cognitive problems in MS, affecting between 40-60% of all patients (Calabrese, P., 2006). Within longterm memory, the formation of new episodic memories [declarative memory] (Squire & McKee, 1993); i.e., memory for materials that the individual has been instructed to learn and that they can then verbally retrieve/'declare'] is frequently affected. For example, when learning a list of words, MS patients are slower at acquiring information over multiple trials and have difficulty organizing words in semantically logical groups that facilitate recall, especially if the words are unfamiliar (Rao, Hammeke, McQuillen, Khatri, & Lloyd, 1984). Conversely, semantic memory (i.e., memory for time-unspecific and over-learned information such as the meaning of words or symbols) as well as implicit memory (learning and remembering that happens without conscious awareness) are usually preserved in MS patients (Amato, Zipoli, et al., 2008). Short-term or "working memory" (the ability to maintain and manipulate a limited set of information over a brief period of time) is also commonly impaired in MS; however, when recalling a short span of numbers (i.e., Forward Digit Span), patients may perform similar to controls (Rao, Leo, & St Aubin-Faubert, 1989). Ultimately, long-term

episodic memory is one of the most consistently impaired cognitive functions in MS (Rao, Reingold, Ron, Lyon-Caen, & Comi, 1993). Memory deficits also serve as an indicator of daily functioning in MS (Higginson, Arnett, & Voss, 2000).

D) Visual abilities. Visual perceptual processing includes simple recognition of visual stimulus characteristics (e.g., characteristics of faces, identification of visual forms and visual-spatial orientation of objects) and the ability to remember and manipulate their location and orientation. Visual abilities are impaired in over 20% of MS patients (Benedict & Zivadinov, 2006). Difficulties in primary visual processing (e.g., from optic neuritis) in MS can have a detrimental effect on visual perception processes, although perceptual deficits that are independent of primary visual or other cognitive abnormalities can also occur. In general, impairments in this domain can be seen in visual-perceptual tasks such as Judgment of Line Orientation (distinguishing the planes/degree of angle a straight line is presented at), in facial recognition and in tasks that require identifying previously-seen complex objects (Rao et al., 1991). Since perception is the first step to further and more complex cognitive processes, impairments in visual processing might also lead to a decreased performance in tasks of processing speed, motor abilities as well as memory (Vleugels et al., 2000).

E) Executive functions. "Executive functions" is an umbrella term referring to higher-order cognitive abilities needed for complex goal-directed behavior and flexible adaptation to environmental changes or demands (Miyake et al., 2000). There is considerable debate about the exact nature and definition of executive functions, a debate that is beyond the scope of the current thesis (see Fournier-Vicente, Larigauderie, & Gaonac'h, 2008; Miyake et al., 2000; Royall et al., 2002). Classically, executive functions include the ability to plan, anticipate outcomes, monitor one's own behaviour, flexibly shift mental sets and direct one's own cognitive processing resources appropriately. Classic executive dysfunctions found in MS patients involve abstract reasoning, problem solving, planning, monitoring and cognitive estimation (Amato, Zipoli, et al., 2008).

Additional executive dysfunctions, such as disinhibition, the ability to shift sets, and poor fluency, were found to be as common as 17% in one MS sample of mixed subtypes (Drew, Tippett, Starkey, & Isler, 2008). MS patients may show deficits in phonemic and semantic verbal fluency tasks, not as a reflection of their language abilities, but because fluency tasks, especially phonemic fluency, also recruit/assess executive functions (e.g., Henry, J. D. & Crawford, 2004). Deficits in executive functioning are most pronounced in patients with SPMS and PPMS (Rao et al., 1991). Approximately 15- 20% of MS patients show deficits in one or more executive function (Drew et al., 2008; Rao et al., 1991).

F) Language Abilities. Language abilities are typically measured with naming, comprehension, reading, fluency and writing tasks. Most linguistic abilities are usually preserved in MS patients (Jennekens-Schinkel, Lanser, van der Velde, & Sanders, 1990; Merson & Rolnick, 1998); however, tests of verbal, category or semantic fluency reveal deficits as compared to controls (Friend et al., 1999). Weaknesses in sentence comprehension have been linked to slowed information processing (Grossman et al., 1995). In tasks of verbal fluency, 13-23% of patients are demonstrating borderline or greater impairment (Benedict & Zivadinov, 2006; McIntosh-Michaelis et al., 1991; Rao et al., 1991). As mentioned above, deficits in fluency are often related to impairment in other cognitive domains, such as executive functions and speed of processing, and this is true for MS patients as well (Friend et al., 1999).

G) Intelligence. Intelligence (also referred to as IQ: intelligence quotient) can be assessed with complex, multi-subtest batteries (e.g., the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, [Wechsler, 1997]), yielding comprehensive measures of crystallized (using non-timed, education-dependent and age-resistant tasks) and fluid intelligence (using speeded, relatively education-independent, but age-sensitive tasks). Crystallized intelligence also tends to be more resistant to the detrimental effects of cerebral pathology than abilities associated with fluid intelligence. Therefore, in clinical studies, premorbid (i.e., pre-illness) intelligence
(premorbid IQ) is often estimated with tests of crystallized intelligence such as reading, vocabulary or word pronunciation/comprehension tests, which are thought to capture stable abilities based on the lifetime acquisition of semantic knowledge. In MS patients, premorbid IQ is usually normal, or shows only a moderate decline as the disease progresses (Amato, Zipoli, et al., 2008), unless in cases of incipient cognitive decline, when performance-based measures of intelligence (i.e., spatial skills) can decrease more steeply (Kujala, Portin, & Ruutiainen, 1996). Paralleling findings in normal aging with those in aging patient populations, MS patients with higher premorbid IQ demonstrate greater cognitive resilience, a finding that applies to both RRMS (Sumowski, Chiaravalloti, Leavitt, & Deluca, 2012). More specifically, higher premorbid IQ allowed RRMS patients to maintain a higher level of cognitive functioning in the face of increasing brain atrophy compared to those with lower premorbid IQ (Sumowski et al., 2009).

As summarized above, MS-related cognitive deficits frequently apply to specific cognitive domains, despite considerable diversity among patients in the presence and severity of such deficits. While comprehensive neuropsychological testing is certainly desirable and renders detailed recommendations for treatment and rehabilitation, factors such as the intensive testing time (4-6 hours) and the required reporting knowledge, significantly limit the likelihood of comprehensive neuropsychological testing to be part of routine practice in public health systems. However, a few neuropsychological screening batteries, aimed at assessing MS-specific deficits, have been generated. The two most widely used are outlined briefly here: The Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests (BRB-N; Rao, 1990), and the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in MS (MACFIMS; Benedict et al., 2002). The tests included in these batteries were largely selected for qualities such as: acceptable test-retest reliability, available normative data, adequate range (minimal ceiling and floor effects), adequate discrimination between MS patients and controls, availability of equivalent

alternate forms for repeated testing, and ease of administration. The tests included in these batteries and the administration times are presented in **Table I-2**.

		COGNITIVE DOMAINS TESTED						
Battery Name	Processing Speed & Attention	Processing Speed & Working Memory	Verbal Learning/ Memory	Visual Learning/ Memory	Verbal Fluency	Executive Functions	Perception	
Brief Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological Tests (BRB-N) 30 minutes	Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT)	Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT)	Selective Reminding Test (SRT)	10/36 Spatial Recall Test	Word List Generation test (WLG)	-	-	
Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in MS (MACFIMS) 90 minutes	Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT)	Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT)	California Verbal Learning Test-II (CVLT-II)	Brief Visual Memory Test- Revised (BVMT- R)	Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT)	Card Sorting Test from D-KEFS	Judgment of Line Orientation (JLO)	

Table I-2. Summary of two neuropsychological screening batteries commonly used to detect cognitive deficits in MS

As can be seen in **Table I-2**, many tests overlap between the two batteries, with the PASAT (Gronwall, D. M., 1977), SDMT (Smith, A., 1982) and tests of verbal fluency (i.e., WLG and COWAT [Loonstra, Tarlow, & Sellers, 2001]). Of note, my current selection of neuropsychological tests was based on consideration of the tests included in these screening batteries as well as with the increased focus on the assessment of executive functions in my study. The details of my test battery will be described in the Methods section.

1.8. Neuropsychiatric changes in MS

Besides cognitive deficits, MS is associated with a number of neuropsychiatric and vegetative changes. Specifically, fatigue is very common in MS and affects more than 70% of all patients (Hadjimichael, Vollmer, & Oleen-Burkey, 2008; Krupp, Alvarez, LaRocca, & Scheinberg, 1988). Furthermore, up to 50% of MS patients have comorbid depression (Feinstein, 2011; Jones, K. H. et al., 2012; Paparrigopoulos, Ferentinos, Kouzoupis, Koutsis, & Papadimitriou, 2010; Patten, Beck, Williams, Barbui, & Metz, 2003). Depression significantly influences quality of life in individuals with MS (Benedict, Wahlig, et al., 2005)

and the elevated prevalence of depression in MS poses important implications for the prevention of suicide in this disorder (Feinstein, 2002). As suggested by Arnett and colleagues, although disease-specific correlates (i.e., lesion load, brain atrophy) and direct symptoms of the disorder (fatigue, degree of physical impairment, cognitive dysfunctions, pain) will increase the risk for depression in MS, this link is likely moderated by the presence of stress (i.e., psychosocial, financial, health), the nature of stress coping styles and the level of social support (Arnett, Barwick, & Beeney, 2008). Although less systematically studied, anxiety disorders affect between 25% and 50% of MS patients (Feinstein, 2007; Jones, K. H. et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2012). Interestingly, a number of recent studies also found selective emotional processing deficits in MS including disturbed recognition of facial emotion and deficits in Theory of Mind (Banati et al., 2010; Henry, A. et al., 2011; Krause et al., 2009; Passamonti et al., 2009). Since the target neuropsychological function in my study is decision making, a function that comprises both cognitive and emotional elements, I was mindful to include a number of scales assessing the presence of common neuropsychiatric changes in MS. The details of these scales are given in the Methods section (Section II-2).

2. Decision making

Decision making is a complex process that requires an individual to form preferences, select and execute goal-driven actions, and evaluate the outcome related to choices (Ernst & Paulus, 2005). Decision making has a ubiquitous role in daily life. From the decision to start, continue, or stop eating chips in front of the TV to the decisions an individual makes about what college to attend and whether or not spending a night out with friends will help towards that specific aim, decision making tends to require both cognitive and emotional abilities. Cognitive abilities, more specifically, executive functions, such as categorization, task monitoring, set-shifting and cognitive flexibility, contribute to the deliberate and strategic aspects of decision making. However, in addition to executive functions, decision making also involves emotional aspects as it requires, for example, the fundamental capacity to perceive and appreciate reward/punishment

and the use of such feedback from past decisions to guide future decisions. Thus, making self-advantageous decisions requires both intact cognitive and emotional functioning, as each play a distinct but integral role in this self-regulatory behavior.

2.1. Types of decision making: Ambiguity vs. Risk

Most decision making situations offer more than one decision alternative. As a result, when trying to make the most appropriate choice, individuals have to perceive and evaluate the beneficial and detrimental consequences that are associated with the different options. Based on how explicit the likely consequences of the choice options are (i.e., how calculable the probability of reward or punishment is), decisions can be classified as decisions under ambiguity and decisions under risk.

"Decisions under ambiguity" (Bechara, 2004) refer to situations when the consequences of the decision are undefined and when there is no information provided about the likelihood of positive or negative consequences as an outcome of each choice. As a result of ambiguous decision situations, it is very difficult for the individual to consciously develop a decision strategy; instead, individuals are thought to "implicitly" rely on their own feelings, hunches and subtle emotional signals to help them make a decision (in accordance with the 'somatic marker hypothesis'; see (Damasio, A., 2004; Damasio, A. R., 1994; Damasio, H., Grabowski, Tranel, Hichwa, & Damasio, 1996; Damasio, H., Kuljis, Yuh, van Hoesen, & Ehrhardt, 1991). An example of a decision under ambiguity is being sick and then given the choice to opt in for a new treatment, but the probability that the treatment will improve your health is unknown (Brand, Recknor, Grabenhorst, & Bechara, 2007).

Conversely, many decisions can be made on the basis of some knowledge about the situation: the consequences are specified and the associated probabilities are explicitly known and quantifiable. These types of decisions are commonly referred to as "decisions under risk" (Brand, Labudda, & Markowitsch, 2006). An example of a decision under risk would be when that sick patient is offered a new medication, and is also told the treatment has a 95% chance of success and a 5% chance of fatal complications (Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007).

Both, decision making under ambiguity and under risk continue to receive great attention in neuropsychological research. Impaired decision making is a symptom of many psychiatric, neurodegenerative and neurological diseases (see below). Two common tasks to assess neuropsychological decision making deficits in patient populations are the Iowa Gambling Task (IGT) and the Game of Dice Task (GDT).

2.1.1. Decisions under ambiguity: Iowa Gambling Task (IGT)

The Iowa Gambling Task (IGT) has been the first and continues to be the most common tool to assess decision making in patient populations. The IGT assesses decision making under ambiguity (Bechara, Damasio, Damasio, & Anderson, 1994) (see **Figure II-1**).



Figure II-1. Schematic of the Iowa Gambling Task (from (de Visser et al., 2011).

In the IGT, individuals are asked to choose a card from one of four card decks displayed on a computer screen (A, B, C, D). Participants are told that each time they choose a card they will win some game money, but every so often, choosing a card will cause them to lose some money. Unknown to the participant, two of the decks (A, B) are associated with short-term high gains (fictitious money wins) but even higher long-term losses. Decks A and B are referred to as "disadvantageous decks". The two other decks C and D are associated with low gains but also with low losses and are referred to as "advantageous decks". The decks within each category (A vs. B and C vs. D) differ from each other in the percentage of loss to total trials (see **Figure II-1**). The (explicit) goal of the IGT is to win as much money as possible. Over the course of 100 choice trials (with a 20-30 administration time), individuals are supposed learn to prefer the advantageous decks (C, D) and to avoid the disadvantageous decks (A, B). Importantly, individuals are not told about the probabilities of winning/losing or the number of trials in this task. Therefore, the IGT measures decision making under ambiguity, requiring implicit learning of advantageous/disadvantageous decks through the processing of feedback (i.e., perception and evaluation of subtle emotional signals about the value and consequence of one's own previous decisions) that occurs over many trials.

Healthy individuals tend to choose cards predominantly from the advantageous decks after approximately 40 card choices (equalling two 20-trial task blocks). The IGT produces a total "net-score" (number of advantageous minus disadvantageous choices) that is reported usually along with net-scores for each block of 20 cards/trials.

Poor performance in the IGT can be found in patients with substance and behavioural addictions, obsessive-compulsive disorder, schizophrenia, anorexia nervosa, suicide attempters, and other individuals suffering from neuropsychiatric symptoms (see extensive review by (Dunn, Dalgleish, & Lawrence, 2006a). The IGT is a relatively complicated task and its high sensitivity to detecting decision making deficits is limited by its relatively low specificity for the neural processes underlying decision making deficits (Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007). The initial motivation for the development of the IGT came from patients with relatively focal orbitofrontal/ ventromedial prefrontal cortex (OFC/VMPFC) lesions. These patients demonstrated impaired psychosocial functions, but showed normal executive functions such as in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), a task that is thought to rely on DLPFC rather than VMPFC integrity (Lie, Specht, Marshall, & Fink, 2006; Lombardi et al., 1999). Patients with lesions to the

OFC/VMPFC were indeed severely impaired in the IGT (Bechara et al., 1994; Bechara, Damasio, Tranel, & Anderson, 1998; Bechara, Tranel, & Damasio, 2000; Manes et al., 2002).

Patients with lesions including limbic structures, primarily those with amygdala (AMG) damage, also perform worse than healthy individuals on the IGT (Bechara, Damasio, Damasio, & Lee, 1999; Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007). The AMG links emotional information with sensory features (e.g., via early sensory and association cortices) with current autonomic reactivity, in decision making situations, sensations resulting from one's choice. Thus, the AMG becomes involved in tasks like emotional conditioning, the IGT, where riskreward contingencies are encoded based on their ability to trigger an emotional response to wins or losses (LaBar, Gatenby, Gore, LeDoux, & Phelps, 1998). In the case of the IGT, AMG lesions result in depressed psychophysiological responding to the choice feedback (Bechara et al., 1999). Evidence from both focal OFC/VMPFC and AMG lesion patients, both of whom are impaired in the IGT, corroborates the importance of intact anticipatory and reward-related emotional processing in decision making in the IGT (e.g., Bechara, Damasio, & Damasio, 2003; Bechara, Damasio, Tranel, & Damasio, 1997, 2005; Brand, Franke-Sievert, Jacoby, Markowitsch, & Tuschen-Caffier, 2007). Further evidence comes from studies with the IGT that included a concurrent measurement of skin conductance responses (SCRs; a physiological indicator of emotional arousal). In such studies, healthy individuals display a temporary increase in SCR, a stress reaction, prior to choosing a card from the disadvantageous card decks (A, B) even after only 10 trials, i.e., long before they are consciously aware that these decks may be disadvantageous (Bechara et al., 1997). Patients with OFC/VMPFC dysfunction never develop this physiological reaction to reflect *anticipation* of impending punishment, while they do develop a normal SCR to the gain or loss experienced as a *consequence* of their choice (Bechara, Tranel, Damasio, & Damasio, 1996).

AMG lesion patients, like the OFC lesion patients, also experience reduced SCRs during the IGT; however, AMG lesion patients did not produce a change in SCR either before a decision *or* in response to gain or loss feedback (Bechara et al., 1999). Without the ability to effectively process the emotional aspects of feedback in the IGT, lesion patients, as well as many other neurological and psychiatric patient populations, perform poorly. Classical IGT results from patients with AMG and VMPFC lesions by Bechara, et al. (1999) are illustrated in **Figure II-2**.



Figure II-2. Anticipatory skin conductance responses (SCRs) (A) and reward/punishment SCRs (B) (μ S/sec), generated by normal controls, patients with amygdala lesions, or patients with ventromedial frontal lobe (VMF) lesions as a function of choice in the Iowa Gambling Task. Error bars indicate standard errors (Bechara et al., 1999).

In general, in contrast to emotional functions, the impact of executive functions on IGT performance is seen as rather minimal, and many neuropsychological patient studies found no correlations between IGT and tests of executive functions (see also reviews by Dunn et al., 2006a; Gleichgerrcht, Ibanez, Roca, Torralva, & Manes, 2010). However, while early task blocks (usually blocks 1 and 2; trials 20-40) may test true decision making under ambiguity, the later task blocks (blocks 3-5; trials 60-100) also assess decision making under risk. Thus, once contingencies between choices and feedback have been learned, the task is no longer just implicit, but risks associated with choosing each deck become, in principle, calculable. Thus, executive functions can also play a role in the IGT (Brand, Grabenhorst, Starcke, Vandekerckhove, & Markowitsch, 2007; Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007; Hinson, Jameson, & Whitney, 2002; Jameson, Hinson, & Whitney, 2004), but they do so mostly in the final task blocks (Brand et al., 2006). A recent study tested whether the IGT had convergent validity with tests of executive functions and if so, in what phase of the task (Gansler, Jerram, Vannorsdall, & Schretlen, 2011). While IGT involved attentional and novel problem solving abilities throughout the entire task more so than executive function, a stronger relationship between IGT and executive functions was observed when IGT trials after the first 40 trials were analysed. Finally, performance in the final trials of the IGT, as opposed to earlier trials, was more strongly correlated with performance in the Game of Dice Task (GDT), a task that measures decision making under risk (Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007). The GDT has been more consistently related to executive functions than the IGT and is the primary measure of interest in the current study.

2.1.2. Decisions under risk: Game of Dice Task (GDT)

The Game of Dice Task (GDT; Brand et al., 2002) is a computerized gambling task that assesses decision making under risk. The GDT provides explicit and stable probabilities regarding gains and losses. Therefore, unlike the IGT, in the GDT there is no requirement for the individual to implicitly detect and learn response contingencies. The goal of the GDT is to win as much money and to lose as little money as possible by predicting the outcome of a single, randomly-thrown die (see **Figure II-3**).



Figure II-3. Illustration of the Game of Dice Task (Brand et al., 2002).

An individual begins the task with a game money balance of \$1000. In a total of 18 rounds, they may choose to select a single number or a combination of two, three, or four numbers to bet on the outcome of a single die throw. The single die is thrown in each trial may match the bet the individual made. For example, if the individual bets on the combination of numbers 1, 2, and 3, and the subsequently die thrown equals '3', the individual would win \$200. If the die thrown equals '4', the individual would lose \$200. As illustrated in Figure II-3, the bets vary in their risk level and their associated fictitious wins or losses (1number bets: 1:6 chance of winning \$1000, and a 5:6 chance of losing \$1000; 2number bets: 2:6 chance of winning \$500, and a 4:6 chance of losing \$500; 3number bets: 3:6 chance of winning \$200, and a 3:6 chance of losing \$200; 4number bets: 4:6 chance of winning \$100, and a 2:6 chance of losing \$100). Thus, choices with a lower probability of winning (i.e., risky choices) are associated with potentially larger wins, as well as larger losses, whereas choices with a higher probability of winning (i.e., non-risky choices) are associated with smaller wins, as well as smaller losses. Importantly, the GDT overtly shows these contingencies throughout the entire task.

After each trial, visual and auditory feedback is provided regarding the outcome of the subject's selection. Visual feedback involves the following being displayed on the screen: the die number that was thrown, the amount of money won or lost (depending on whether or not the actual thrown die number is congruent with the selection made), the adjustment of the running balance, and a colored bar graph symbolically representing the change in capital. Auditory feedback is given after each trial outcome and consists of a cash-register-like sound for a win and a penalty-like sound for a loss in that trial. Participants complete the 18 trials of the GDT in approximately 5-10 minutes. The most common outcome measure of the GDT is a total net-score. In detail, safe or advantageous choices in the GDT are three- or four-number combinations, since their associated probability of winning is more or equal to 50%. Risky or disadvantageous choices in the GDT are single numbers or two-number combinations, since their associated probability of winning is less than 50%. The GDT net-score is created by subtracting the number of risky decisions from the number of safe decisions (the net-score has a maximum of 18 and a minimum of -18). Therefore, a higher net-score indicates better decision making performance in the GDT.

To date, the GDT has been used most often to study adult clinical samples, for example Korsakoff Syndrome (Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005), pathological gambling (Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005), Parkinson's disease (Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004), Alzheimer's disease (Delazer, Sinz, Zamarian, & Benke, 2007), bulimia nervosa (Brand, Franke-Sievert, et al., 2007), and binge eating disorder (Svaldi, Brand, & Tuschen-Caffier, 2010). The GDT detected impairment in all of those populations. The GDT has also been used in studies with healthy participants (e.g., Brand, 2008; Brand, Heinze, Labudda, & Markowitsch, 2008; Brand, Laier, Pawlikowski, & Markowitsch, 2009) to investigate involvement of cognitive and emotional aspects and the behavioral conditions that the GDT and decisions under risk operate with. In both clinical studies and studies in healthy controls, it has been found that performance on the GDT is strongly associated with executive functions. As such, Brand et al. (2005; 2006; 2007; 2008) showed across different patient populations that GDT performance was consistently correlated with performance in the Modified Card Sorting Test (MCST; Nelson,

1976) or the WCST (Bagneux, Bollon, & Dantzer, 2012; Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005). Additionally, a study by Brand and colleagues (2009) investigated the potential role of other cognitive functions, for example intelligence and calculative strategies (i.e., strategies that involve calculating winning probabilities), in moderating GDT performance. Data showed that participants with high intellectual abilities as well as those who use calculative decision strategies performed better in the GDT, independent of whether they received feedback for their choices. By contrast, individuals with lower intelligence and those who used non-calculative (intuitive) decision strategies performed worse in the GDT when they did not receive feedback than in situations when feedback was provided. That is, even though it is not essential to perform the task, the feedback component of the GDT shapes decisions but it does more so in individuals who do not have a high capacity to calculate probabilities.

As described above, while the VMPFC/OFC is more closely associated with feedback and reward/emotional processing (e.g., Bolla, Eldreth, Matochik, & Cadet, 2005; Kringelbach & Rolls, 2004; Rolls, 2000, 2004; Thiel et al., 2003), the DLPFC is a key region mediating executive functions involved in decision making (e.g., evaluating decision options, predicting future outcomes and probabilities, developing and maintaining decision goals; for a detailed review, see (Mansouri, Tanaka, & Buckley, 2009). As such, the DLPFC is important for categorizing alternatives regarding their risk and strategic aspects of decision making (e.g., goal definition in the long term), especially when the environment is stable, such as in the case of the GDT (e.g., Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2004; Krain, Wilson, Arbuckle, Castellanos, & Milham, 2006; Lie et al., 2006; Newman, Carpenter, Varma, & Just, 2003). Additionally, guiding attentional processes of behavioral relevance (Buckley et al., 2009; Kennerley & Walton, 2011; Mansouri, Buckley, & Tanaka, 2007) based on the representation of reward value (Kim, Hwang, & Lee, 2008; Roesch & Olson, 2003) in order to prioritize consequential information and streamline decision making also requires the DLPFC.

Furthermore, patients with Parkinson's disease (PD) are often used as a model of decision making deficits resulting from disruptions in fronto-striatal communication. Of note, connections between the DLPFC and the striatum (the "dorsolateral prefrontal-striatal loop") are affected early in the course of PD, while the limbic-orbitofrontal-striatal loop seems to be spared early on (Owen, 2004). In this context, Euteneuer et al.'s (2009) results are particularly interesting. In this study they assessed PD patients without dementia and healthy controls on both, the IGT and the GDT. Patients with PD were significantly impaired on the GDT but not the IGT. Furthermore, impairments in executive functions correlated positively with performance on the GDT only, and not the IGT. In light of these results, DLPFC dysfunction in earlier stage PD patients without dementia was assumed to underlie deficits in decision making under explicit rules (see also another study finding GDT impairments related to executive functions in PD patients (Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004). A complementary study by Labudda and others (2009) illustrates a possible double dissociation by finding medial temporal lobe epilepsy patients (i.e., with damage or dysfunction in the hippocampus and/or AMG) to be impaired in the IGT but not the GDT.

2.1.3. Similarities between IGT and GDT

Despite stronger associations between executive functions and decision making in the GDT compared to decision making in the IGT, the tasks share a similar feedback component. As outlined above, both tasks require perception, processing, and integration of reward/punishment signals. Not surprisingly then, a significant negative correlation between the number of risky decisions in the GDT and the frequency of using negative feedback following a risky decision (in order to shift to a non-risky decision in the next trial) was revealed (such as in patients with pathological gambling (Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005) or with Parkinson's disease (Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004). The additional benefit of feedback processing in GDT performance is also evident in healthy populations. In a study by Brand, et al. (2008), healthy participants were administered both the original version of the GDT as well as a version of the GDT without feedback (i.e., the outcome of the die was not revealed nor was any indication of a win or loss) and a brief neuropsychological battery to explore the importance of feedback in successful GDT performance. Results indicated that healthy participants performed well on both versions of the GDT (as indicated by positive net-scores); however, participants performed more advantageously in the original GDT with feedback than in the modified GDT without feedback. Although these results emphasize the role of feedback in the GDT, one has to keep in mind that the healthy participants were nevertheless able to perform advantageously without feedback. This implies that the information offered in the GDT from the outset of the task (amounts of gains, losses and their probabilities) is, in principle, sufficient to perform advantageously during the entire task, even without any trial-by-trial feedback. In both versions of the GDT, decision making correlated with executive functioning (Brand et al., 2008).

Further evidence that feedback in the GDT causes an emotional response comes from a study by Brand, Grabenhorst, Starcke, Vandekerckhove & Markowitsch (2007) that involved three patients with damage to the AMG (in the course of Urbach-Wiethe disease, a rare recessive genetic, primarily dermatological condition that also leads to relatively selective calcifications of the bilateral amygdala [Staut & Naidich, 1998]) who were administered both the IGT and the GDT to investigate the nature of their decision making deficits. In this study, all three patients with Urbach-Wiethe disease had deficits in the IGT and in the GDT. Patients with additional executive dysfunctions were particularly impaired in the GDT. Patients also showed lower anticipatory and feedbackrelated SCRs in both the IGT and GDT. Thus, deciding advantageously under risk in the GDT involves both the use of feedback from previous trials, similar to the IGT decisions under ambiguity, and in addition, executive functions. Finally, Wilbertz and others (2012) found in an fMRI study that patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder showed reduced VMPFC activity while processing (high or low) monetary reward cues. Patients were also impaired in the GDT administered outside the scanner. Most importantly, their VMPFC activity

reductions during the reward processing task were inversely related to GDT performance. These results underscore the importance of reward processing and the feedback component in the GDT.

Taken together, results indicate that the GDT strongly relies on executive functions and, although less pronounced than in the IGT, on the processing of emotional decision feedback (Brand, 2008).

2.2. Decision making in MS

There are no previous studies in MS patients with the GDT, and most studies have used the IGT. One recent study by Simioni et al. (2012) has used two experimental tasks measuring decision making under risk, the Wheel of Fortune Task (WOF; Camille et al., 2004) and the Cambridge Gambling Task (CGT; Rogers et al., 1999). **Table II-1** gives a summary of previous studies of decision making in MS. Each of these studies is described in more detail following the table.

Study	Participants	Task	EDSS	Disease Duration	Patients' decision making impairment	Correlation with EF	Correlation with other behavioural variables	Correlation with peripheral/brain variables
Kleeberg et al. (2004)	t 16 RRMS, 4 SPMS, 16 HC	IGT	Med. 2.0 (1.5-6.5)) Med. 8.58) yrs. (7 mth- 25 yrs)	IGT learning slope, especially in patients with EDSS > 2.	None	IGT learning slope was associated with education, EDSS, disease duration, anxiety, DEX, TMT-A	IGT learning slope was associated with reduced SCRs in patients
Nagy et al. (2006)	21 RRMS 30 HC	IGT; two versions	1.7 (0-3)	M: 3.1 yrs ± 1.1 yrs	IGT net-score in both task versions	None	No correlations with BADS	None assessed
Roca et al. (2008)	12 RRMS, 12 HC	IGT	0-1.5	M: 2.46 yrs (11 mth3 yrs)	IGT net-score only in the last task block	None	None assessed	IGT net-score was uncorrelated with brain white matter integrity (DTI)
Simioni et al. (2008)	109 RRMS, 56 CIS, 50 HC	IGT	1.74 (0-2.5)	M: 2.1 yrs (3 mth5 yrs)	IGT learning index slightly more impaired in patients with a recent MS relapse than in those without relapse	None	IGT learning index was associated with education, depression. In patients without MS relapse: IGT learning slope was correlated with DEX and personality change	None assessed
Simioni et al. (2009)	68 RRMS, 2 SPMS, 50 HC (subset of Simioni et al.; 2008)	IGT	Med. 2.0 (1.5- 3.5) Med. 4 yrs)(2.4- 8.5 yrs.	Follow-up to Simioni et al. (2008))without direct comparison to controls at time 2; IGT learning index decreased over time	None	Decrease in IGT learning index was correlated with quality of life, emotional well-being and IGT score at baseline (in Simioni et al., 2008)	None assessed
Simioni et al. (2012)	72 RRMS 38 HC	CGT WOF	1.9 (1.5-3.5)	M: 5.06 yrs 2 ± 3.3 yrs	WOF: less use of positive counterfactual information; more risk aversion; less reported negative emotions. CGT: Decision quality and deliberation time; no change in overall gains	None	CGT deliberation time was associated with PASAT 3"	Patients' post-decisional SCRs in WOF were not different from those of the controls

Table II-1. Summary of prior decision making studies in MS patients

CGT: Cambridge Gambling Task; CIS: clinically isolated syndrome; DEX: Dysexecutive Questionnaire; EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale; EF: Executive functions; HC: healthy controls; IGT: Iowa Gambling Task; M.: Mean; Med.: median; mth.: months; PASAT 3": Paced Auditory Serial Additions Test, 3 second version; RRMS: relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SCR: skin conductance response; SPMS: secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; TMT-A: Trail Making Test- version A; WOF: Wheel of Fortune Task; yrs, years

2.2.1. Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Annoni, van Melle, Bogousslavsky and Schluep (2004)

Kleeberg and others (2004) were the first to assess decision making in MS, using the IGT. While administering the IGT, patients' SCRs were recorded during the 5-second interval before selecting a card from a deck and during the 5-second interval when the outcome of the choice was displayed. Overall, the number of disadvantageous choices was not significantly higher in the MS patient group than in the comparison group, but the difference in learning slopes differed between groups (the comparison group learned to prefer the advantageous decks over the course of the IGT more quickly as compared to MS patients). In the final blocks of the task especially, patients demonstrated more impairment than the comparison group. MS patients were further subdivided based on disability (EDSS scores either smaller/equal to or larger than 2.0). Compared to controls, impairment in the learning process was more pronounced in MS patients with a higher EDSS score (> 2.0) and in those with longer disease duration. The temporal evolution of MS patients' choices showed that patients with an EDSS score greater than 2.0 demonstrated a delay in learning to avoid disadvantageous choices, whereas the lower EDSS score subgroup showed an inconsistent learning pattern characterized by an early, but non-systematic, decrease in disadvantageous choices. Interestingly, these two types of learning impairments in decision making were also associated with different patterns of emotional responsivity, as shown by the recorded SCRs throughout the IGT. The comparison group had an increase in amplitude for anticipatory SCRs preceding disadvantageous decks and an increase in SCRs following punishment as compared to patients. The SCRs in the patients with higher EDSS scores/longer disease duration were not only of smaller amplitude than those in the comparison group, but they also did not increase throughout the IGT, suggesting an inability to develop sufficient autonomic arousal in this task. Interestingly, patients with higher self-reported anxiety scores in the Hospital and Anxiety Depression Scale (HADS) learned faster than less anxious patients. The group with higher DEX self-rating scores (i.e., a higher selfreport score for dysexecutive symptoms such as, "I act without thinking, doing the

first thing that comes to mind" or "I have difficulty thinking ahead or planning for the future") showed significantly slower learning. There was no significant decrease in the number of disadvantageous choices made over time when comparing the groups with low and high scores in the BADS, indicating that objective measures of executive functions were not related to IGT performance. In summary, Kleeberg, et al.'s results demonstrated that IGT decision making can be impaired in MS, particularly in patients with a higher EDSS score. Although cognitive variables (i.e., BADS) did not seem to influence IGT performance strongly, self-reported neuropsychiatric symptoms as well as emotional reactivity (i.e., anxiety, DEX, SCRs) were associated with impaired learning in the IGT.

2.2.2. Nagy, Bencsik, Rajda, Benedek, Beniczky, Kéri, et al. (2006)

In this study, two versions of the IGT (classic and modified) and a standard neuropsychological battery (Lezak, 1995), including the WCST (Berg, E. A., 1948; Grant & Berg, 1948), Digit Spans (Wechsler, 1997), the SDMT (Smith, A., 1982) and Verbal Fluency (Borkowski, Benton, & Spreen, 1967), was administered to MS patients and controls. The classic version of the IGT has initial high gains for decks A and B (i.e., those two decks that lead to even larger losses later on, and are therefore disadvantageous) that investigate sensitivity to reward. That is, individuals are lured into a risky choice by large immediate gains even though there will be even larger future losses. The second IGT version was modified so that decision making dysfunctions are a result of the failure of high rewards to outweigh immediate punishments. In this version, advantageous decks are characterized by high immediate loss but higher future reward. If decision making dysfunctions are due to insensitivity to any long-term outcomes, regardless whether reward- or punishment-based, patients will show impairments in both versions of the IGT (Bechara et al., 2000). In this study, MS patients' decision making was impaired in both versions of the IGT. In both versions of the IGT, as the task progressed, patients' decision making impairments became increasingly apparent. The difference between patients and controls were most prominent in the later task blocks and could suggest a failure to develop a

consistent decision strategy and executive deficits. However, none of the cognitive tests, including tests of executive functions, predicted performance in either IGT version. Since patients were impaired in both IGT versions, the authors concluded that insensitivity to any long-term decision outcomes, and not necessarily rewards, contributed to MS patients' impaired decision making. These results here suggest that even relatively early-stage MS patients (EDSS: 0-3; disease duration: 3.1 yrs \pm 1.1 yrs) can have impaired IGT performance, however, they seem to be unrelated to other cognitive functions.

2.2.3. Roca, Torralva, Meli, Fiol, Calcagno, Carpintiero, et al. (2008)

This study assessed IGT decision making and other executive and cognitive functions along with diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) in a small group of 12 patients with early RRMS and mild disability (EDSS < 2) and healthy controls. DTI is used to reveal abnormalities in WM fiber structure and to provide models of brain WM connectivity (Hagmann et al., 2006). The standard cognitive battery in this study included many tests that largely assessed language and vocabulary, praxis, memory, executive functions, and general intelligence. Importantly, in addition to measuring executive functions with more traditional tests (WCST, TMT, Digit Span, Letters and Numbers subtest of the WAIS), a specific executive function battery consisting of tests that are more closely related to activities of daily life (and have proven to be sensitive to detect prefrontal cortex dysfunction) was also given (the PASAT; Gronwall, D. M., 1977), the Faux Pas Test (Thornton, Raz, & Tucke, 2002), the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test (Baron-Cohen, Jolliffe, Mortimore, & Robertson, 1997), the Hotel Task (Manly, Hawkins, Evans, Woldt, & Robertson, 2002), and the Multiple Errands Test (Knight, Alderman, & Burgess, 2002). The MS patients showed impairment in memory and in some of the tasks from the specific executive function battery, but not in classical executive tests. There were also slight differences between the two groups in the IGT, but these were confined to the final task block. Although MS patients displayed significant differences in some frontal white fiber bundles compared to controls, IGT performance did not correlate with these DTI

measures. Frontal WM changes did correlate with performance on some of the other tasks (the PASAT, Multiple Errands Test and one subtask of the Hotel Task), but none of the classical executive functions tests (e.g., the WCST). In summary, MS patients were impaired in the last IGT task blocks, but these deficits were neither related to any of the conventional neuropsychological tests nor to neurological markers showing fronto-subcortical dysfunction.

2.2.4. Simioni, Ruffieux, Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Annoni, & Schluep (2008)

To test whether impairment in decision making may serve as an early marker of cognitive-emotional deterioration in CIS/MS, Simioni, Ruffieux, Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Annoni, & Schluep (2008) investigated decision making impairment in a large sample of early-stage patients, including patients with CIS, see Table II-1 for details. In addition to the IGT, the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (Rey, 1941), the BADS and the TMT were administered. The investigators also assessed neuropsychiatric symptoms with the DEX, Iowa Scale of Personality Change (ISPC; Barrash, Anderson, Jones, Wefel, & Tranel, 1997), the Fatigue Assessment Instrument (FAI; Schwartz, Jandorf, & Krupp, 1993), HADS, London Handicap Scale (LHS; Harwood, Gompertz, & Ebrahim, 1994), the French version of the Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life Questionnaire (SEP-59; Vernay et al., 2000), and a semi-structured psychiatric interview using DSM-IV criteria in patients. While the IGT net-score was numerically greater in the control group than in the patient group, the difference was far from being statistically significant. Additionally, when the patient subgroups (definite MS and CIS) were separately compared with controls, IGT net-score was still not statistically significant between each subgroup and the controls. Patients' IGT performances during the final blocks of the IGT as well as their IGT "learning index" (calculated by subtracting the averaged net-score across the first two from the last three IGT blocks) were not different from controls. MS patients who experienced a relapse during the 15 months following their inclusion in the study and patients who did not experience a relapse (i.e., stable patients) were then examined. While the IGT net-score was not significantly different, relapsing

patients had a worse IGT learning index than stable patients. The IGT learning index was positively influenced by the educational level but negatively influenced by the co-occurrence of minor depression. None of the various measures of the IGT employed were correlated with any parameter of psychosocial or cognitive functioning. This study demonstrated that decision making is generally preserved in prodromal or early-stage MS patients compared to controls, but that low education, depression and disease relapses may have a detrimental effect on decision making even in early disease stages.

2.2.5. Simioni, Ruffieux, Kleeberg, Bruggimann, Du Pasquier, Annoni and Schleup (2009)

This was a longitudinal follow-up study on part of the sample from their Simioni et al. (2008) study. Retesting with a parallel version of the IGT took place after a minimal period of 2 years dated from baseline assessment and only with patients who had confirmed MS. Results showed that IGT performances in patients decreased over time, instead of improving with repeat exposure to the task. MS patients with deficits in the IGT were more likely to show a poorer perceived health status and emotional well-being; however, longitudinal IGT performance was not associated with more relapses and disability progression over the follow-up time and occurred independently of MS course and disease evolution. As with Simioni et al. (2008) study, IGT performance was not related to any other cognitive measures. The initial IGT score itself was the only predictor of follow-up IGT performance. The results of this study could not relate dysfunction in the IGT to executive deficits or to general cognitive impairment. In conclusion, in Simioni et al.'s studies, an emerging decline in IGT decision making abilities presented as an isolated deficit, even though it was apparent in the still relatively mildly disabled group of MS patients in their follow-up study in 2009.

2.2.6. Simioni, S., Schluep, M., Bault, N., Coricelli, G., Kleeberg, J., Du Pasquier, R. A., Gschwind, M., Vuilleumier, P. & Annoni, J. M. (2012)

Finally, an interesting recent study by Simioni and colleagues (2012) assessed decision making under risk using two experimental tasks in a sample of 70 RRMS patients. Since neither of these tasks has been described in this thesis so far, they are briefly outlined here. Both tasks are assumed to measure decision making under risk, since outcome probabilities and amounts of to-be-won or lost fictitious money or points are explicitly shown to the participant.

A) The Wheel of Fortune Task (WOF; Camille et al., 2004) measures emotional reactions underlying decision making under risk. For healthy controls, the WOF's advantageous decisions can be induced through prior experience of disappointment and regret (Camille et al., 2004). In this computerized task, participants are shown two wheels, each divided into two sectors associated with explicit amounts of money (e.g., -50\$, +50\$, -200\$, +200\$) and different outcome probabilities (0.8, 0.2, and 0.5). Participants are asked to select one of the two wheels, and within each a spinner then selects one of the two sectors. Feedback about money won or lost is then provided and subsequently, participants rate their feelings on a scale from very negative to very positive. In a "partial feedback" condition, the spinning arrow and the related outcome are only displayed for the selected wheel. Thus, the obtained outcome (if negative) can trigger disappointment when compared with a potentially more favorable (but not known) outcome. In contrast, in a "complete feedback" condition, outcomes are shown for both the selected and the non-selected wheels. These trials are thought to induce not only disappointment but also *regret* by showing the outcome that could have been obtained if participants had selected the other wheel (for example, when a participant lost \$200 and is shown that choosing another wheel could have resulted in a win of \$200). Thus, the WOF measures the impact of socalled counterfactual thinking (the mechanism that allows one to compare "what is" with "what might have been") on the decision process. Healthy individuals usually report emotional responses consistent with counterfactual thinking by

choosing to minimize future regret and learning from their emotional experience by becoming more risk averse over the course of the task. Patients with OFC lesions do not report regret or learn to anticipate negative consequences of their choices based on prior outcomes and emotional reactions (Camille et al., 2004). Dependent variables in the WOF are the use of counterfactual information to adjust future decisions, development of risk aversion over trials, and the reported post-decisional emotions (disappointment, regret). Of note, elements of this task are embedded into the GDT insofar as it provides only complete feedback by showing the result of the thrown die (counter one's own choice) explicitly in each trial.

B) The Cambridge Gambling Task (CGT; Rogers et al., 1999) is a computerized task where participants are presented with a row of ten red or blue boxes and are asked to bet on whether a token has been hidden under a red or a blue box. The proportion of boxes of each color changes in each trial. Healthy participants are expected to adjust their bet according to the relative proportion of red to blue boxes by betting on the correct colour and by betting fewer points if the odds of winning are lower (i.e., the winning probability is higher for betting on red boxes when more red than blue boxes are present). Of note, the task terminates if the participant runs out of points to bet and premature termination is the strongest indicator for dysfunctional decision making under risk in the CGT. Dependent variables in the CGT are trial number to termination and overall gains, decision quality (betting on the higher probability colour and adjusting the number of points betted) and decision deliberation time. Unlike in the GDT, participants do not need to generate long-term decision strategies in the CGT because decisions are based on winning probabilities associated with the specific box ratio in each trial. Similar to the GDT, winning probabilities and point/account balance are displayed explicitly throughout the task.

In Simioni et al. (2012), RRMS patients showed differences in both decision making tasks compared to controls. In the WOF, analyzing trial-by-trial contingencies between condition, choice, outcome and associated reported

emotion, the authors tested whether participants developed a preference for making risky or cautious decisions, made use of counterfactual information (in the complete feedback condition), and whether current negative emotions (disappointment in partial feedback trials and regret in complete feedback trials) influenced further decision making. Patients showed less use of positive counterfactual information and more risk aversion than controls. They also reported less negative emotions during the task than controls (both disappointment in partial feedback trials and regret in complete feedback trials). However, SCRs assessed during the WOF did not show significant postdecisional differences between patients and controls. In the CGT, the quality of patients' decisions (i.e., making adjustments to their decisions based on the displayed probabilities) was lowered and they deliberated longer to make decisions. Their overall number of trials played in the CGT before running out of points to bet was not lowered. Apart from a correlation between CGT deliberation time and attention/ information processing speed in the PASAT, none of the cognitive measures, including executive functions tests, were associated with performance in either of the two decision making tasks.

2.2.7. Decision making in MS: summary and integration

Of note, the majority of the above-mentioned studies used the IGT to assess decision making, but had different ways of reporting IGT performance, ranging from net-score (total or per IGT task block), learning index, learning slope, total errors. These inconsistencies make it difficult to compare and synthesize the results across multiple studies. Despite this, in summarizing all of the above IGT studies, deficits are present but seem minimal in MS (Kleeberg et al., 2004; Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008; Simioni et al., 2009). Although these decision making deficits can occur in MS patients with relatively short disease duration and mild neurological impairment (Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008) (but see Simioni et al., 2008), they become more pronounced in MS patients with higher disability (i.e., higher EDSS scores, disease duration, progressive MS subtype) (Kleeberg et al., 2004). Impairment in the IGT was

rather independent of other measures of neurological, cognitive or structural brain changes associated with the disease, but was sometimes correlated with behavioural or emotional changes (e.g., physiological responses to reward/punishment in form of SCRs; anxiety; self-reported dysexecutive functions [Kleeberg et al., 2004; Simioni et al., 2008]). Roca and others (2008) were the only study to incorporate brain imaging (DTI), but found IGT performance unrelated to fronto-subcortical WM integrity in MS patients. Although executive functions were assessed in all studies, none of them found correlations to any of the IGT performance measures. Impairments in decision making under risk in MS has only been tested in one study, showing changes in RRMS patients compared to controls (Simioni et al., 2012). The use of two experimental tasks here indicated slight modifications of decision making under risk in MS. In both tasks, patients were less able to select optimal choices based on explicit outcome probabilities, showed changes in overt emotional experiences associated with their choices, but had no changes in (covert) physiological responses. Overall, differences between patients and controls in the two tasks did not indicate global deterioration of decision making under risk, but slight alterations based on dysfunctional use of emotional information from trial-to-trial or mental slowing.

Taken together, MS-associated changes in emotional processing, but not cognitive dysfunctions dominated prior findings of decision making deficits in MS. The findings were derived almost exclusively with decision making tasks designed to assess primarily emotional aspects of decision making. The one study using the CGT, a task that comes closest to the GDT in assessing a more cognitive type of decision making, found an association with processing speed, although not with executive functions. Two studies pointed to more pronounced deficits in later IGT blocks in MS patients (Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008), and this may imply that MS patients are more impaired in decision making tasks relying more definitively on executive functions, such as the GDT. Brain substrates of potential decision making deficits in MS are largely unknown with only one study assessing WM integrity and finding no association with IGT deficits.

2.3. Decision making in neurodegenerative conditions

As outlined in **Section II-1.6.1**, MS is increasingly associated with both cortical and subcortical neurodegenerative processes (Batista et al., 2012; Benedict et al., 2013; Benedict et al., 2009; Bermel et al., 2003; Calabrese, M., Mattisi, et al., 2010; Cifelli et al., 2002; Gilmore et al., 2006; Houtchens et al., 2007; Prinster et al., 2006; Sepulcre et al., 2006; Vercellino et al., 2005) and these might even be of primary nature (Bakshi, Dmochowski, Shaikh, & Jacobs, 2001; De Stefano et al., 2003; Fisher et al., 2008; Horakova et al., 2009; Pirko, Lucchinetti, Sriram, & Bakshi, 2007; Sanfilipo, Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, & Bakshi, 2006; Vercellino et al., 2005). Neurodegenerative processes, especially GM atrophy, have a strong relationship to cognitive impairment in MS. Therefore, the following section briefly reviews existing evidence on decision making deficits in primary neurodegenerative conditions. A recent review article by Gleichgerrcht et al. (2010) was taken as the basis of this review, and complemented by more recent studies.

Decision making both under ambiguity and risk has been investigated in a variety of neurodegenerative populations. Depending on the condition, a particular pattern of neuropathological changes that lead to brain tissue loss can be anticipated. For example, degeneration in cortical brain areas is commonly found in frontotemporal dementia (FTD; superior medial and orbito-frontal lobes [Seltman & Matthews, 2012]) and Alzheimer's disease (AD; medial and lateral temporal lobes, frontal and parietal cortices [Wenk, 2003] and basal forebrain [Schliebs, 2005]), whereas subcortical degeneration is more characteristic of Parkinson's disease (PD; loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra/basal ganglia [Jankovic, 2005]) and Huntington's disease (HD; loss of spiny projection neurons in the neostriatum [Albin, Young, & Penney, 1989]). **Table II-2** provides a summary of decision making performance in FTD, AD, PD and HD samples, using the IGT and GDT, and the neuroanatomical correlates associated with decision making task performance.

Table II-2. Summary of main findings from IGT and GDT studies in patients with neurodegenerative disorders (see Gleichgerrcht et al., 2010).

Neurodegenerative Disease	e Study	Participants	Patients' decision making impairment	Correlations with EF	Correlations with other behavioral variables	Correlations with peripheral/brain variables
	Torralva et al. (2007)	20 FTD, 10 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	No correlations	No correlations
	Torralva et al. (2009)	35 FTD, 14 HC	IGT: Yes	Yes: impaired mental flexibility on WCST	No correlations	None assessed
Franketerra1	Manes et al. (2010)	1 FTD	IGT: Yes	No correlations	No correlations	Yes: MRI frontal lobe atrophy
Frontotemporal Dementia (FTD)	Bertoux et al. (2012)	20 FTD 20 AD 30 Old HC 16 Young HC	IGT: No	None assessed	No correlations	None assessed
	Poletti et al. (2013)	10 FTD	IGT: Yes	Yes: FBI for negative symptoms	Yes: Mind in the Eyes Test	None assessed
	Torralva et al. (2000)	25 AD, 20 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: impaired memory	None assessed
Alzheimer's Disease (AD)	Sinz et al. (2008)	22 AD, 22 HC	IGT: Yes	Yes: deficient inhibitory control subtest in FAB	No correlations	None assessed
	Bertoux et al. (2012)	20 FTD 20 AD 46 HC	IGT: No	None assessed	No correlations	None assessed
	Stout et al. (2001)	14 HD, 22 PD, 42 HC	IGT: HD more impaired than PD	No correlations	Yes: In the HD groups, MDRS conceptualization and memory	None assessed
	Czernecki et al. (2002)	23 PD, 28 HC	IGT: No	Yes: commission and omission scores in a stimulus-reward learning task	Yes: age and education	None assessed
	Thiel et al. (2003)	5 PD, 5 HC	IGT: No	No correlations	No correlations	Yes: decreased activity in fronto- subcortical loops
	Perretta et al. (2005)	16 early PD, 16 late PD, 19 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: BDI total score in early PD	None assessed
Parkinson's Disease (PD)	Mimura et al. (2006)	18 PD, 40 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: affective component of ToM	None assessed
	Pagonabarraga et al. (2007)	a35 PD, 31 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: inverse with memory and GCP	None assessed
	Kobayakawa et al. (2008)	34 PD, 22 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: the SDS score	Yes: decreased SCRs
	Ibarretxe- Bilbao et al. (2009)	24 early PD, 24 HC	IGT: Yes	No correlations	Yes: Ekman emotional face recognition and RDS	Yes: GM loss in the right amygdala and in the OFC
	Euteneuer et al. (2009)	21 PD, 23 HC	IGT; GDT: Yes in GDT	Yes: MCST and FAS with GDT	No correlations	Yes: impaired EDRs
	Delazer et al. (2007)	20 PD, 19 PDD, 20 HC	IGT: Yes in PD and PDD patients	Yes: TMT-A and B	No correlations	None assessed
	Poletti et al. (2010)	30 PD, 25 HC	IGT: No	No correlations	Yes: BIS-11 Self Control subscale	None assessed

Decision making paradigm: IGT

Neurodegenerative Disease	Study	Participants	Patients' decision making impairment	Correlations with EF	Correlations with other behavioral variables	Correlations with peripheral/brain variables
Alzheimer's Disease (AD)	Delazer et al (2007)	. 19 AD, 25 HC	GDT: No	Yes: TMT-A and B	Yes: age	None assessed
Parkinson's Disease (PD)	Brand et al. (2004)	20 PD, 20 HC	GDT: No	Yes: impaired mental flexibility and set-shifting on MCST	No correlations	None assessed
	Euteneuer et al. (2009)	21 PD, 23 HC	GDT; IGT: Yes in GDT	Yes: impaired MCST and FAS with GDT	No correlations	Yes: impaired EDRs
	Labudda et al. (2010)	10 PD, 12 HC	GDT (behavioral and fMRI version): Yes in behavioral	None assessed	None assessed	Yes: fMRI indicated reduced parietal activation in patients
	Rossi et al. (2010)	7 PD with PG, 13 PD	IGT, GDT: Yes in IGT; Patients with PG more impaired	No correlations	No correlations	None assessed

Decision making paradigm: GDT

AD, Alzheimer disease; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; BIS-11, Barratt Impulsiveness Scale; CGT, Cambridge Gambling Task; DBS-STN, deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus; EDRs, electrodermal responses; EMG, electromyography; EF, executive functions; FAB, Frontal Assessment Battery; FAS, Controlled Oral Word Association Test; FBI, Frontal Behavior Inventory; FTD, frontotemporal dementia; GDT, Game of Dice Task; GCP, global cognitive performance; HC, healthy controls; HD, Huntington disease; IGT, Iowa Gambling Task; MDRS, Mattis Dementia Rating Scale; MCST, Modified Card Sorting Test; OFC, orbitofrontal cortex; PG, pathological gambling; PD, Parkinson's disease; PDD, Parkinson's disease with dementia; RDS, reverse digit span; SDS, Zung's self-rating depression scale; SCR, skin conductance response; STN-DBS, Bilateral deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus; TOL, Tower of London; ToM, Theory of Mind; TMT, Trail Making Test; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test.

As shown in **Table II-2**, decision making is quite consistently impaired across neurodegenerative conditions. In IGT studies, results from FTD, HD and AD patients demonstrated decision making impairment that highlights the importance of the cortical and limbic structures in decision making under ambiguity. IGT deficits in PD patients appear to be dependent on prescribed dopaminergic medications that can contribute to dopaminergic overstimulation of the orbitofrontal-striatal circuits involved in reward-based behavior (Poletti et al., 2010). These findings emphasize the role of dopamine in mediating emotional and behavioral processes involved in decisions under ambiguity.

Decision making studies using the GDT, albeit few, reveal inconsistent findings for deficits in AD and PD samples. What seems to be common among all of these neurodegenerative populations is that executive functions are often compromised (Cummings, 1995; Cummings & Cole, 2002; Emre, 2003; Hodges & Miller, 2001; Neary et al., 1998; Rascovsky et al., 2007; Weintraub, Moberg, Culbertson, Duda, & Stern, 2004). However, despite the presence of executive dysfunctions across neurodegenerative samples, few correlations were found between executive functions and decision making under ambiguity in the IGT. In the GDT, correlations with executive functions were found in three out of the five studies. One study (2010) found no executive function impairment in a PD sample, and another study (Rossi et al., 2010) did find impairment, but neither explicitly tested relationships to GDT performance. The three studies where GDT deficits were related to executive dysfunctions (e.g., set-shifting difficulties in card sorting tests), may imply degenerative processes-related disruptions in basalganglia-prefrontal circuitry underlie these deficits. Based on the evidence of decision making impairment in FTD, AD, PD and HD, and the brain regions known to be vulnerable to neurodegeneration in these conditions, one can assume that both prefrontal cortical and subcortical brain regions are implicated in decision making under ambiguity (IGT) and risk (GDT).

3. Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: Based on the decision making impairments found in MS with tasks other than the GDT, MS patients will also be impaired in the GDT, and especially so, those in more advanced disease stages.

Hypothesis 2: The GDT has been found to covary more strongly with executive functions than the IGT in various patient populations as well as in healthy controls. Therefore, GDT deficits in MS will also covary with executive dysfunctions.

Hypothesis 3: MS is associated with widespread CNS pathology, including neurodegenerative changes. Given that decision making impairments, including those measured with the GDT, were previously reported in primary neurodegenerative conditions, MS-related brain atrophy will covary with GDT deficits.

III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Participants

A phone screen was conducted with MS patients and healthy control participants to ensure their eligibility. Patients were recruited through the Northern Alberta Multiple Sclerosis Patient Care and Research Clinic at the University of Alberta Hospital with the help of neurologists Drs. Kenneth Warren, Christopher Power, and Gregg Blevins, Dept. of Neurology, University of Alberta. Controls were recruited by print/online advertisements in Edmonton's Metro Newspaper and Edmonton's Kijiji Classifieds.

Exclusion criteria for both patients and control participants were:

- a) Present or past major neurological conditions (apart from MS for patients) including epilepsy, stroke/transient ischemic attack, Parkinson's disease, moderate to severe head trauma, dementia, encephalitis or meningitis.
- b) Present or prior major health conditions such as cancer (other than skin cancer), heart attack or surgery, an adverse reaction to general anaesthesia, liver or kidney disease, lupus, Type 1 Diabetes.
- c) MS patients on corticosteroids for the treatment of a MS relapse.
- d) Uncorrected vision or hearing problems.
- e) Primary psychiatric disorders with significant impact (e.g., hospitalization) such as psychosis/schizophrenia, major depression or anxiety disorders
- f) Present or past electroconvulsive therapy or neurosurgery.
- g) Significant alcohol/drug abuse within the past 5 years.
- b) Significant developmental disabilities such as a pervasive learning disability.
- i) Non-fluency in English.
- **j**) Inability to consent (i.e., individuals under legal guardianship).

Specific inclusion criteria for MS patients included:

a) An MRI-confirmed diagnosis for MS according to the revised McDonald criteria (see Appendix A for details).

- **b**) RR or SP subtype of MS (i.e., primary progressive MS patients were not included).
- c) EDSS score less than 7 (no pervasive motor difficulties).
- d) A recent clinical MRI scan.

Five MS patients were excluded post hoc from my study for the following reasons: EDSS score was higher than 6.5 (2 patients); neuromyelitis optica (1 patient); history of severe head trauma (1 patient); corticosteroid injection immediately preceding testing (1 patient).

The University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board approved the study and all participants provided written informed consent. Patient testing took place in a single individual test session at the Northern Alberta Multiple Sclerosis Patient Care and Research Clinic, University of Alberta. For controls, testing took place in a single individual test session in a testing room in the Research Transition Facility, University of Alberta. Patients and controls were compensated \$30 for expenses they incurred in the context of their participation.

Our final sample consisted of 32 MS patients and 20 healthy controls. Demographic characteristics of this sample are presented in **Table III-1**.

	Controls	Patients	Test	Significance
	(n=20)	(n=32)	statistic	
Females	12 (60%)	24 (75%)	$\chi^{2}[1]=1.30$	n.s.
Age (years)	48.20 ± 11.04	50.81 ± 9.48	t[50]= 0.90	n.s.
Education (years)	14.70 ± 2.11	13.64 ± 1.70	t[50]= -2.00	Ť
Premorbid IQ ^x	110.20 ± 11.71	105.16 ± 12.16	t[50]= -1.48	n.s.

Table III-1. *Demographic variables of the study sample.* Scores are presented as means (standard deviations) or frequency counts (percentages).

^x:Shipley Institutes of Living Scales, verbal subtest; premorbid IQ-calculation based on Zachary, R.A., and Gorsuch, R.L. (1985); n.s.: non-significant; $\dagger = p < .1$.

As can be seen from **Table III-1**, patients and controls were well-matched in age, gender and premorbid IQ. There was a non-significant trend towards higher education in controls compared to the patient subgroup.

I further split the patient group into degrees of disability according to the following system:

- 1. RR-1: Patients with RRMS and an EDSS score of less than 3.0, a score that indicates mild disability in 1 or minimal disability in 2 functional systems.
- RR-2: Patients with RRMS and an EDSS score of equal or greater than
 3.0, a score that indicates moderate disability in 1 or mild disability in 3 or
 4 functional systems.
- 3. SP: Patients with SPMS.

A summary of these subgroups' demographics and disease-related variables is presented in **Table III-2**.

Table III-2. Summary of controls and patient subgroups' demographic and diseaserelated variables. Scores are given as means and standard deviations or frequency counts and percentages.

	Controls	RR-1	RR-2	SP	Test	Significance
	(n=20)	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)	Statistic	
Females	12 (60)	11 (84.62)	6 (66.67)	7 (70)	$\chi^2(3)=2.28$	n.s.
Age (years)	48.20	52.00	46.77	52.89	F(3,48)= 2.53	n.s.
	± 11.04	± 9.76	± 10.73	± 7.53		
Education (years)	14.70	14.15	13.22	13.35	F(3,48)= 1.88	n.s.
	± 2.11	± 2.08	± 1.72	± 0.94		
Premorbid IQ ^x	110.20	110.85	101.17	101.35	F(3,48)= 2.53	Ť
	± 11.71	± 10.27	± 15.33	± 8.98		
Age at Onset (years)		34.12	35.06	34.30	F(2,29) = 0.03	n.s.
		± 9.17	± 9.71	± 11.22		
Disease duration		17.16	11.28	18.40	F(2,29)= 1.32	n.s.
(years)		± 12.76	± 7.48	± 8.40		
EDSS Score		1.58	4.11	5.2	F(2,29)= 28.40	**
		± 0.70	± 1.43	± 1.44		

^x: Shipley Institutes of Living Scales, verbal subtest, Premorbid IQ-calculation based on Zachary, R.A., and Gorsuch, R.L. (1985); RR-1: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS (Expanded Disability Status Scale) scores 0-2.5; RR-2: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS scores \geq 3; SP: Secondary Progressive MS patients; n.s.: non-significant; †: p <.1; *: p <.05; **: p <.001.

As can be seen from **Table III-2**, patient subgroups were largely wellmatched in demographic variables, although there was a trend towards higher premorbid IQ in controls and RR-1 compared to the RR-2 and SP patient subgroups. As intended, patient groups differed substantially in EDSS score.

The clinical MRI scans in my study had been acquired as part of the patients' ongoing treatment protocol. Therefore, it was difficult to ensure a close temporal proximity between the dates of testing and the scan dates in all cases. One patient (019) had a MRI scheduled following participation in this study but the appointment got cancelled, so no neuroimaging data is available for this individual. A summary of the MR data is presented in **Table III-3**.

Patient ID	Time between Scan and Test Date (weeks)	Location	Scan Thickness (mm)
001	125.57	С	5
002	8	А	5
003	8.57	А	5
005	11.43	А	5
006	184.5	А	5
008	55.14	А	5
010	3.14	D	3
011	5.29	А	5
012	68.71	В	5
013	36.71	В	5
014	3.86	В	5
015	48.43	А	5
016	15.86	А	5
017	146.14	А	5
018	29.43	А	5
019	-	-	-
020	58.43	А	5
022	10.86	А	5
023	111.86	А	5
024	11.14	А	5
025	143.14	E	5
026	67.14	А	5
027	6.14	А	5
029	12.57	А	5
030	10.57	А	5
032	10	А	5
033	3.29	А	5
035	43	В	5
036	113.57	А	5.5
037	112	А	5
038	33.14	А	5
039	33.57	А	5

 Table III-3. Details on magnetic resonance images obtained from patients

Mean= 42.51 (SD= 57.49)

A: University of Alberta Hospital; B: Royal Alexandra Hospital; C: Insight Medical Imaging, Meadowlark;

D: Medical Imaging Consultants, Century Park; E: Misericordia Hospital; SD: Standard deviation

The MR scans were acquired from five different scan sites across Edmonton on different models of conventional 1.5T MR scanners, usually with a scan thickness of 5 mm. The average time between the MR scan and the test date was 42.51 weeks (SD=57.49) or 10.62 months.

Participants were currently taking a variety of prescription medications for health conditions not part of the exclusion criteria, including high blood pressure, high cholesterol, heartburn and acid reflux, osteoarthritis and bone density, asthma, and gastrointestinal/urological concerns. Participants on the antidepressants bupropion, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) were permitted. Since it is common for MS patients (especially SPMS patients) to be prescribed psychotropic drugs for symptom management (i.e., insomnia, neuropathic pain), these patients could not be excluded from the study, even though these medications have the potential to impact cognition. Thus, some MS patients were on (low doses of) benzodiazepines and anticonvulsants. Current self-reported medications were obtained from all 32 MS patients. An overview on disease modifying (see **Table III-4**) and symptom management drugs prescribed to the MS patients (see **Table III-5**) is presented below.

MS Subtype	EDSS Score	ID	Interferon Beta- 1a or 1b	Glatiramer Acetate
RR-1	0.0	020	YES	-
RR-1	1.0	032	-	YES
RR-1	2.0	010	-	YES
RR-1	2.0	017	YES	-
RR-1	2.0	035	YES	-
RR-2	3.0	011	-	YES
RR-2	3.0	036	YES	-
RR-2	3.5	016	-	YES
RR-2	6.5	018	-	YES
	Total		4	5

Table III-4. MS disease-modifying treatment at the time of the study

RR-1: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS (Expanded Disability Status Scale) scores 0-2.5; RR-2: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS scores \geq 3.

In total, 9 RRMS patients (28.13%) were currently prescribed a diseasemodifying drug (i.e., Interferon Beta or Glatiramer Acetate), with no patients prescribed both Interferon Beta and Glatiramer Acetate simultaneously. No SPMS patients were prescribed any disease-modifying drugs; this is to be expected given that the indication for these medications is for patients with a relapsing, and nonprogressive, disease course.

MS Subtype	EDSS Score	ID	Pain	Sleep/ Anxiety	Depression	Muscle Spasticity
RR-1	0.0	020	-	-	Bupropion 300 mg ¹	Baclofen 20 mg ²
RR-1	2.0	005	-	Zopiclone unknown dose	Venlafaxine 75 mg ²	-
RR-1	2.0	006	-	-	Venlafaxine 75 mg ¹	-
RR-1	2.0	010	-	-	Venlafaxine 75 mg ¹	-
RR-1	2.0	017	-	Zopiclone 7.5 mg ¹	Venlafaxine 150 mg ¹	Baclofen 20 mg ²
RR-1	2.0	024	-	-	Paroxetine 20 mg ¹	-
RR-2	3.0	001	-	-	Fluvoxamine 50 mg ² , Bupropion 150 mg ¹	-
RR-2	6.5	018	Gabapentin 300 mg ³	-	-	Baclofen 20 mg^4
RR-2	6.5	030	-	-	-	Baclofen 20 mg ¹
SP	3.0	027	-	Zopiclone 10 mg ¹	-	Baclofen 10 mg ²
SP	3.0	029	-	-	-	Baclofen 10 mg ¹
SP	4.5	015	-	Clonazepam 1 mg ¹	Citalopram 60 mg ¹	-
SP	6.0	013	-	-	-	Baclofen 15 mg ¹
SP	6.0	023	-	-	Desvenlafaxine 100 mg ¹	-
SP	6.0	037	Gabapentin 40 mg ³	-	Paroxetine 20 mg ¹	Tizanidine 4 mg ¹
SP	6.5	002	-	Flurazepam 30 mg ¹	Trazodone 50 mg^1	Baclofen 20 mg^4
	Fotal		2	5	11	9

Table III-5. Type and dosage for medications prescribed for the management of MSpatients' symptoms

Twenty-one patients (65.63%) were taking at least one prescription medication for MS and/or neurological concerns. Ten patients (31.25%) were on

RR-1: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS (Expanded Disability Status Scale) scores 0-2.5; RR-2: Relapsing-remitting MS patients with EDSS scores \geq 3; SP: Secondary progressive MS patients; EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale; 1 = 1/day; 2 = 2/day; 3 = 3/day; 4 = 4/day

more than one medication. In total, two patients (6.25%) were on a medication for neuropathic pain, five patients (15.63%) were prescribed a medication for sleep and/or anxiety, twelve patients (34.38%) were prescribed antidepressants, and nine patients (28.13%) were on anti-spasticity or muscle relaxation medications.

2. Neuropsychological test battery

Neuropsychological tests and questionnaires were administered in a single test session. Apart from the GDT, tests were selected either based on their inclusion in neurocognitive screening batteries for MS (i.e., BRB-N and/or MACFIMS) (Gainotti, 2006; Ghaffar & Feinstein, 2007; Rao, 1990) or due to my goal of providing an assessment of executive functions that were assumed to play a role in GDT performance. Self-report questionnaires on mood, fatigue, perceived dysexecutive functions and perceived disability were administered to patients only. Tests were administered in a fixed order as shown in **Table III-6**.

Test	Administration Time (minutes)
Cognitive Tests	
Symbol-Digit Modalities Test	3
Verbal Selective Reminding Task (immediate recall)	12
Game of Dice Task	10
Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test- 3"	10
Nine-hole Pegboard	3
Tower of Hanoi	6
Verbal Selective Reminding Task (delayed recall)	2
BREAK	
Wisconsin Card Sorting Test- 64 card version	15
Digit Span (Forward & Backward)	6
Controlled Oral Word Association Test	4
Shipley Institute of Living Scales (vocabulary subtest)	11
Psychosocial Questionnaires	
Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale	6
Dysexecutive Questionnaire (self)	10
Fatigue Assessment Instrument	6
London Handicap Scale	5
Total Ac	Iministration Time- 106 minutes

Table III-6. Test sequence and estimated administration time

Total Administration Time= 106 minutes

General features of the test instruments are given in the following.
2.1. Game of Dice Task (GDT; Brand et al., 2002)

The main test of interest in this study was the computerized GDT, used to assess decision making under risk. The task has been described in detail in **Section II-2.1.2** in the introduction (see also **Figure II.3**). The main outcome measure is the GDT net-score (safe minus risky choices). In addition, I also calculated the number of times a participant switched between risky and safe choices (total number of shifts) as well as their tendency to perseverate on either safe or risky choices (details see **Section IV-4.5**).

2.2. Shipley Institute of Living Scales (SILS; Zachary, R., 1986)

The SILS is a paper-and-pencil test of vocabulary and verbal abstraction (the verbal abstraction portion was omitted here) that is highly correlated with scores from more comprehensive IQ testing (Zachary, R., 1986) such the fullscale IQ score derived from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised (WAIS-R; Wechsler, 1981). For the vocabulary portion, participants have to indicate which one of four provided responses is a synonym to a target word. The score is an estimate of a patient's premorbid intelligence, assuming that crystallized intelligence, largely based on premorbid education levels, is preserved despite the neurological condition or aging processes. The SILS/estimate of premorbid IQ is not found in either the BRB-N or MACFIMS battery, but has been included in several studies investigating cognitive performance in MS (for example, (Aupperle, Beatty, Shelton Fde, & Gontkovsky, 2002; Beatty et al., 1995; Smith, M. M. & Arnett, 2005).

2.3. Symbol-Digit Modalities Test (SDMT; Smith, A., 1982)

The SDMT is a measure of working memory and speed of information processing, visual tracking and motor coordination. Participants are required to substitute numbers for symbols according to a key provided on a response form. The score is the total number of correct items that a participant is able to record in 90 seconds. The SDMT is administered in both the BRB-N and the MACFIMS batteries. The SDMT is often considered to be the most sensitive measure to

cognitive impairment in MS (e.g., Strober et al., 2009), and is part of the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC; Fischer, Rudick, Cutter, & Reingold, 1999), a multidimensional clinical outcome measure that includes quantitative tests of leg, arm and cognitive function. Performance in this test has also been found to be correlated with global brain atrophy in MS patients (Benedict, Carone, et al., 2004; Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Christodoulou et al., 2003).

2.4. Verbal Selective Reminding Test (SRT), short form (Hannay & Levin, 1985)

The SRT is a measure of immediate and delayed verbal memory and new learning. The short form of this test provides 12 words across 6 trials that are selectively rehearsed by the participant until they are memorized. That is, only words not recalled on the immediately preceding trial are presented on the following trial as a reminder. After six of these trials and a delay of about 20-30 minutes, the participant is asked to recall all words, without being reminded of any of them again. Total correct recall across all immediate recall trials, continuous long term retrieval (words that were recalled without additional reminding), total number of extra-list intrusions, and total number of words recalled after the delay were analysed here. This test is also used in the BRB-N, and characterizes the memory impairment in MS patients well, especially the continuous long term retrieval score. The SRT has also revealed that defective retrieval, more so than encoding, may underlie MS patients' memory problems (Beatty et al., 1996).

2.5. Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT; Gronwall, D. & Sampson, 1974; Gronwall, D. M., 1977)

The PASAT assesses auditory information processing speed and flexibility as well as calculation ability. Participants hear a standardized recording of a series of single-digits at the rate of one number every 3 (or 2) seconds, and are required to add sequential pairs so that each digit is added to the digit immediately preceding it. The outcome score is the total number of correct responses. I only

used the 3-second version of the test in the current study. The PASAT is included in both the BRB-N and the MACFIMS batteries and was also found closely linked to measures of brain atrophy in MS patients (Lockwood, Linn, Szymanski, Coad, & Wack, 2004).

2.6. Nine-Hole Pegboard (Mathiowetz, Weber, Kashman, & Volland, 1985)

The nine-hole pegboard is a measure of finger dexterity and motor coordination. This is a timed task that requires the participant, with one hand, inserts nine pegs one at a time and as quickly as possible in the holes of the pegboard. Once all of the pegs are inserted, the participant then removes the pegs as quickly as possible one at a time. This test is first performed with the dominant hand followed by the non-dominant hand. The outcome score is the total time to complete the task (including both insertion and removal). Due to early administration errors in my study, I did not properly record removal times, and as a result, we only had insertion times for some patients. Therefore, I used insertion time here. This test is not included in either the BRB-N or MACFIMS battery; however, it is one of three tests used in the MSFC score (Fischer et al., 1999).

2.7. Tower of Hanoi (TOH; Goel & Grafman, 1995)

The TOH is a measure of planning, problem-solving, temporal ordering, and inhibition, all processes that are a part of executive functions. The task consists of three rods, and a number of disks (3, 4, or 5 disk trials that increase in difficulty) of different sizes that can slide onto any rod. The task starts with the disks stacked in ascending order of size on one rod, the smallest at the top, thus making a conical shape. The objective of the task is to move the entire stack of disks to another rod, obeying a few particular stacking rules (e.g., no larger disk can rest on a smaller disk). The completion time and the number of attempts to completion are recorded, and these are the scores that are produced across the 3 different trials. Although the TOH is not part of the BRB-N or MACFIMS battery, it is a measure of executive function that was shown to covary with the GDT in a

previous patient study (Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2004), and MS patients have been found to be impaired in the TOH (e.g., Arnett et al., 1997).

2.8. Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST; Berg, E. A., 1948; Grant & Berg, 1948), 64-card version (Kongs, Thompson, Iverson, & Heaton, 1993)

The WCST is a classic measure of executive functions, including strategic planning, set-shifting, mental flexibility, as well as inhibition. The participant is presented with four stimulus cards that display designs that differ in three features (i.e., color, shape and number). The participant is given a stack of additional cards and asked to match the next card of their deck to one of the stimulus cards based on one pre-determined feature. The participant is not told how to match the cards but only given feedback after each sort regarding whether their last match was correct or incorrect. During the course of the test, the matching rules change, unannounced to the participant. The most commonly used outcome scores of the WCST are the total number of correct matches and the number of matching errors, particularly, perseverative errors (i.e., persisting to match cards on a matching rule that is no longer valid, despite negative feedback). The WCST is not part of the BRB-N or MACFIMS battery; however, since it is a rather comprehensive measure of executive function, and has been correlated with the GDT in studies with other patient samples (Bagneux et al., 2012; Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005) as well as has shown MS-related impairment (e.g., Nagy et al., 2006), I included it here. For time-economical reasons. I chose the 64-card version.

2.9. Digit Spans (Wechsler, 1997)

The Digit Span Forward is a measure of short term memory. Participants listen to a sequence of digits and must immediately repeat them back. If they do this successfully for at least one of two different sequences of the same number of digits, they are given a one-digit longer sequence to repeat back. Digit Span Backward is a measure of working memory. Participants also listen to successively longer digit sequences; however, here their task is to recall the items

in reverse of the presented order. Outcome scores from both subtests are the number of correct trials. Digit spans are not part of the BRB-N or MACFIMS battery. The backward digit span was of specific interest in my study since it assesses working memory, i.e., an aspect of executive functions (e.g., Miyake et al., 2000).

2.10. Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT; Borkowski et al., 1967)

The COWAT is a measure of verbal or phonemic fluency and assesses word generation ability, executive functions, divergent thinking and speed of information processing. Participants are asked to name as many words as they can that begin with one of three stimulus letters (F, A, or S, given one at a time), within one minute. Participants are provided with various rules on the words they are permitted to recall (e.g., non-allowed words include capitalized words or names, words starting with the same word stems). Outcome scores are the total number of correct words generated, number of perseverations (word repeats) and the number of intrusions. Similar tests of verbal fluency as the COWAT are included in the BRB-N and MACFIMS battery.

2.11. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS; Zigmond & Snaith, 1983)

The HADS is a self-report screening tool that is often used to identify emotional distress in patients with physical conditions (Brennan, Worrall-Davies, McMillan, Gilbody, & House, 2010). In the HADS, participants read a statement that relates to behaviour common to either anxious or depressive mood and indicate the degree (on a scale of 0 to 3) that is a common experience for them. Outcome scores are one score for anxiety and one score for depression. The HADS was included to give an estimate of mood symptoms in the patients, as these are common concomitants of MS that may also influence decision making independently of MS. It should be noted that the HADS has been criticized since its factor structure does not clearly separate the two assumed underlying constructs, i.e., anxiety versus depression (e.g., Cosco, Doyle, Ward, & McGee, 2012). Thus, elevated HADS scores may indicate higher levels of emotional distress, subsuming depression-related and anxiety-related concerns.

2.12. Dysexecutive Questionnaire (DEX; Burgess, Alderman, Wilson, Evans, & Emslie, 1996)

The DEX is a self-report and informant measure of twenty common behavioral difficulties associated with executive dysfunction after frontal lobe damage. Although I initially intended to use both self-and informant-rated versions of the DEX, due to recruitment difficulties of informants, only the selfrated version could be included. Participants read statements that suggest executive dysfunction and indicate the degree that they experience these using a 5-point Likert scale. Bodenburg and Dopslaff (2008)'s norms were used to analyze the DEX. Using factor analytical approaches, the authors combined DEX items into four factors and one total score and then provide cut-off scores (for additional details on item-subscale relationships see (Bodenburg & Dopslaff, 2008). Factor (F)1 measures the perceived ability to initiate and sustain ("initiate/sustain") actions in a broad sense. F2 measures perceived impulse control and sequencing ("impulse control/sequencing") of information or actions. F3 measures the individual's psychophysical and mental excitability ("excitability"). F4 measures the perceived ability to incorporate social standards into interpersonal interactions ("social"). Outcome scores were the four factor scores as well as an overall DEX score.

2.13. Fatigue Assessment Instrument (FAI; Schwartz et al., 1993)

The FAI is a self-report measure that requires participants to read statements about fatigue and its symptoms. Using a 7-point Likert scale, they indicate the degree that they agree with the given statement. The FAI assesses several aspects of fatigue (F1: overall fatigue severity [severity], F2: situational triggering of fatigue [situation], F3: psychological consequences of fatigue [psychological], F4: likeliness of one's fatigue to respond to rest/sleep [sleep]). Outcome scores used here were totals in each of the four factor scores.

2.14. London Handicap Scale (LHS; Hardwood & Ebrahim, 1995)

The LHS is a self-report measure used to determine the effect of chronic disorders on a person's functional ability across six major domains of daily life. Participants complete the questionnaire using a 6-point interval scale indicating the severity of their impairment in each domain. Outcome scores comprise an overall score as well as sub-scores for each of the following domains: mobility (how one gets from one place to another, using any help, aid or means of transport), physical independence (looking after oneself with daily activities such as cooking, getting dressed, etc.), occupation (can relate to paid or unpaid work), social integration (getting on with people one would be around/meet in a normal day), orientation (awareness of one's surroundings), and economic self-sufficiency (affording the things one needs).

3. Linear measures of ventricular enlargement

Clinical MR images were analyzed with ClearCanvas Workstation Version 2.0. Radiologist Dr. Derek J. Emery (Neuroradiologist, Department of Diagnostic Imaging, University of Alberta) supervised the linear measurements on the MR scans. Linear measurements were performed on a single axial slice, specifically the most caudal axial T2-weighted slice where the frontal horns appeared to reach maximal width (Butzkueven et al., 2008). All measurements were performed with a digital ruler included in the software, adhering to the method outlined by Butzkeuven et al. (2008) (see **Figure III-1** for a typical image tracing):

- a) Frontal Horn Width (FHW): Defined as the maximal distance between the lateral borders of the frontal horns of the lateral ventricles.
- **b) Transverse Width (TW):** Defined as the minimum distance separating the inner tables of the skull at the level of the caudate nuclei.
- c) Intercaudate Distance (ICD): Defined as the minimum distance between the medial borders of the head of the caudate nuclei.
- d) Intercaudate Ratio (ICR): Calculated by dividing the ICD by TW.

e) Third Ventricle Width (TVW): Defined as the maximum distance between the lateral borders of the middle of the third ventricle where the ventricle's borders were nearest to parallel.



Figure III-1. Example of T2-weighted axial MR slice selected for measurements of the linear atrophy markers

Patients' MR scans were acquired from their clinical health records and I did not perform scans on the healthy controls within the study context. In order to nevertheless quantify patients' MR parameters, I analysed similar quality historical MR scans of patients who had presented for neurological examination (i.e., individuals with atypical/unusual headache whose MRI was ordered to rule out any structural abnormalities), but whose clinical MR was deemed normal by a radiologist. A total of 20 such control patient scans were acquired through Dr. Christopher Power and were analysed in the same way as the MS patients' scans. The 20 control patients were statistically matched to the MS patients with regard to sex distribution ($\chi 2[1]=1.14$, p > .1; MS-patients: N = 23/8 female/male; control patients: N = 12/8 female/male) and age (t[49] = 0.88, p > .1; MS-patients: Age= 50.5 ± 9.43 years; control patients: Age= 47.8 ± 12.08 years).

Each of the measurements (FHW, ICD, ICR, and TVW) were taken three times for each MS patient and control patient, and the mean of these three measures was used. The intra-class coefficients for each of the measures were above .9, indicating high intra-rater reliability. In addition, a second rater applied the same measures on all scans. Inter-rater reliability on the averaged measures showed similarly high intra-class coefficients (FHW= .89; ICD= .98; ICR= .98; TVW= .97).

4. Composite scores of cognitive performance

To minimize false positive results (Type I errors), performance in the relatively large number of cognitive tests and scores within each test was combined and summarized in composite scores of cognitive performance. There are several approaches to calculate such composite scores, among them datadriven approaches (e.g., Principal Component Analysis, Exploratory Factor Analysis, Confirmatory Factor Analysis [Bartholomew, Steele, Galbraith, & Moustaki, 2008], Item Response Theory [Embretson & Reise, 2000]) are preferable. However, due to the limited sample size, data-driven approaches used for the generation of composite scores were not feasible here. Instead, I selected tests and scores within each test representative of the assessed cognitive domains, based on theoretical considerations (see below for more details). Of note, I acknowledge that such approach does not account for the potential (overt or latent) overlap of test scores between cognitive domains (e.g., components of executive functions exerting their influence on memory performance). To account for such potential overlap, a global cognitive functioning score was devised.

Four composite scores were calculated: Speed of Information Processing (SOIP), Memory (MEM), Executive Functions (EF), Global Cognitive Functioning (Global: A combination of SOIP, MEM, EF). In order to generate the composite scores, control participants' performance in each test score was first assigned to the respective domain. Controls' performance was then used to transform the patients' performance into z-scores relative using the formula:

zP = (meanC - meanP) / standard deviationC

where C denotes controls and P denotes patients. The direction of the subtraction was reversed in cases where higher scores indicate worse performance

(e.g., response times, error scores). Thus, a higher z-score in each of the composites always indicated better performance. The number of individual tests (and test scores per test) within each composite score could not be equated since assessment of executive functions was over-represented in my battery. The following variables were included in my composite scores:

Speed of Information Processing (SOIP)

- a) Symbol-Digit Modalities Test (SDMT); total correct
- b) Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT); total correct
- c) Pegboard Total Insertion Time; average of dominant and non-dominant hand insertion time
- d) Digit Span Forward (DSF); total correct

Memory (MEM)

- a) Selective Reminding Test (SRT); immediate recall
- **b**) SRT; consistent long-term retrieval (words recalled throughout the task without prompting between trials)
- c) SRT; delayed recall

Executive Functions (EF)

- a) SRT; total number of intrusions
- b) Wisconsin Card Sorting Test 64-card version (WCST); total number of correct sorts
- c) WCST; total number of perseverative errors
- **d**) Verbal Fluency Test (COWAT); total number of correct words across all three task blocks F, A, and S
- e) Tower of Hanoi (TOH); time to complete task blocks
- f) Digit Span Backward (DSB); total correct

The "global" cognitive function score was derived by averaging the three composite scores listed above.

As mentioned, my test battery had a relative preponderance of tests selected to assess aspects of executive functions. This was because I expected relationships between GDT performance and executive functions specifically, but not, for example, long-term memory functions (Labudda et al., 2009). Thus, the MEM composite score has to be interpreted cautiously, since it is derived from three variables of a single test, the SRT, assessing verbal long-term memory. Performance in one aspect of the SRT substantially influences performance in other SRT scores, and hence MEM scores might be inflated. Nevertheless, to retain some specificity while controlling the number of comparisons, I calculated and report domain-specific composite scores. The inclusion of tests and test variables in each of the composite scores was driven by theoretical considerations that are outlined below.

SOIP: Both, SDMT and PASAT are highly sensitive to deficits in information processing speed/attention and are considered core tests to assess these domains in MS (Iverson, Lovell, & Collins, 2005; Lezak, 1994; Ponsford & Kinsella, 1992). These tests can be used interchangeably in the assessment of processing speed deficits in MS patients (Drake et al., 2010). Including pegboard insertion time into the SOIP composite score was since both motor and cognitive slowing can point to underlying WM changes, e.g., in normal aging (Sanchez et al., 2008). Performance in the DSF reflects attention and passive maintenance of information in short-term memory (Wechsler, 1997) and may be specifically related to cognitive slowing in MS (Beatty et al., 1995).

MEM: I assessed memory performance with a single test, the SRT. The SRT has been extensively studied in MS and is included in MS-specific neuropsychological batteries (such as the BRB-N [Rao, 1990]). Although many scores can be obtained from the SRT, I included overall performance in immediate recall across all six trials, consistent long-term retrieval (recall of words without further prompting between trials) and delayed recall. Consistent long-term retrieval has been found to be particularly useful in memory assessment in MS (e.g., Rao et al., 1991).

EF: 'Executive functions' is an umbrella term to describe a variety of control and monitoring functions assumed to be associated with dorsal and lateral PFC regions (Shallice & Burgess, 1991; Stuss & Alexander, 2000). One influential theoretical model of executive functions by Miyake et al. (2000) is based on factor analytical considerations and the extraction of latent constructs across classic executive function tests. This model proposes a division of executive functions into three components: 'Inhibition', 'shifting', and 'updating'. However, a lack of differentiation between such subcomponents, i.e., a one-factorial nature of executive functions, has also been supported (e.g., in aging: (Salthouse, Atkinson, & Berish, 2003). Such one-factorial organization of executive functions seems especially likely in conditions of impairment, e.g., patients with frontal lobe lesions (Roca et al., 2010) or aging-related cognitive decline (de Frias, Dixon, & Strauss, 2009). My goal with the calculation of composite scores was to reduce the number of variables in my analyses. Therefore, I decided to combine critical test scores into one, rather than three different, composite scores of executive functions, acknowledging that my battery spanned all three potential components. With this is mind, intrusions in the SRT were included in this EF composite score since intrusions in verbal list learning paradigms may indicate deficits in 'inhibition' (e.g., Chan, A. S. et al., 2009; Mahone, Koth, Cutting, Singer, & Denckla, 2001). Furthermore, performance in the TOH was included. The TOH was part of Miyake et al.'s (2000) derivation of the 'inhibition' component of executive functions. The conventional calculation of performance in the TOH summarizes the number of moves required for successful completion of all trials (i.e., task versions using three, four, five disks [Goel & Grafman, 1995]). However, half of the patients and 25% of the controls did not successfully complete the five disks trial. Therefore, their scores would have had to be omitted in calculating the total number of moves across all trials. As an alternative, I used the time required for the completion (attempt) across all trials, and in the event of failed trials, I replaced missing values by the maximum time allotted per trial (300 seconds). This allowed retaining information about TOH performance across all three trials in all participants. The WCST is considered a hallmark measure of

executive functions and WCST perseverative errors in particular are considered the most sensitive measure of the shifting/switching component of executive functions (Greve, Stickle, Love, Bianchini, & Stanford, 2005; Miyake et al., 2000). Verbal fluency, although also a measure of lexical and language abilities, is another prominent measure of executive function. Phonemic verbal fluency (as assessed with the COWAT) is assumed to tap into the 'shifting' component of executive functions (Miyake et al., 2000). Several fluency tasks are included in the Delis Kaplan Executive Function System (Delis, Kaplan, & Kramer, 2001; Delis, Kramer, Kaplan, & Holdnack, 2004). Phonemic verbal fluency is impaired in patients with focal frontal lobe lesions and this association may even supersede that between the WCST and frontal brain damage (Henry, J. D. & Crawford, 2004). Finally, DSB was included in the executive function composite score and assesses working memory or the 'updating' component of executive functions (Miyake et al., 2000). Working memory functions are subserved by DLPFC regions in humans (Callicott et al., 1999; Owen et al., 1999) and animals (Castner, Goldman-Rakic, & Williams, 2004; Petrides, 1995, 2005) and are impaired after lesions in those areas (D'Esposito & Postle, 1999; Muller, Machado, & Knight, 2002; Petrides, 1995).

Since the MS patients' cognitive performance here is compared to that of study controls', the controls' neuropsychological performance based on published norms was assessed to ensure the control group performed normally. Using standardized norms for each test, **Appendix B** shows that the controls' had mean z-scores ranging from -.74 to .47, with the mean scores of most tests being close to 0, indicating average neuropsychological performance.

5. Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 15.0. All variables were first tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test (K-S test). Nonparametric equivalents were used instead of parametric tests for variables that were non-normally distributed (e.g., U-test instead of t-Test).

Two separate sets of analyses are presented to compare patients with controls. First, I report performance in all MS-patients contrasted against controls. Differences were assessed with t-tests (or U-tests). In the case of unequal group variances, as indicated by Levene's test, the unequal variance t-test correcting degrees of freedom, was applied (incorporated in SPSS). Relationships were tested with Pearson correlations or Spearman rank correlations, if indicated.

Secondly, I divided patients into subgroups according to their disability status (as described in Participants Section III-1: RR-1, RR-2, SP) and report subgroups' performance levels against those of controls. Differences between controls and each of these subgroups were assessed with one-way ANOVA (or Kruskal-Wallis tests, where indicated). Significant omnibus effects were followed up by post-hoc tests comparing each patient subgroup against controls (but not against each other), controlling for multiple comparisons (Dunnett t-tests). For all ANOVAs, in case of variance inhomogeneity as indicated by Levene's test, the Welch test was applied to correct F-ratios and degrees of freedom. In this case, manual U-tests were used to compare controls to each subgroup of patients, Bonferroni-correcting the alpha level (e.g., in case of three comparisons such as controls vs. RR-1, controls vs. RR-2, controls vs. SP: alpha = .05 / 3 = .0167). The core analyses involving differences in GDT performance among subgroups were complemented by moderated regression analyses to test potential influences of group-differences in demographics (i.e., premorbid IQ or years of education) on GDT performance. Relationships between variables within subgroups were tested with Spearman rank correlations, this is preferable in small samples (Gautheir, 2001). Relationships between brain atrophy measures and cognitive variables were assessed with partial correlations controlling for age and gender. A p-value of p < .05 was the significance threshold for all statistical analyses, unless otherwise stated.

IV. RESULTS

1. Performance in individual neuropsychological tests

Table IV-1 provides an overview of patients' and controls' scores in the individual neuropsychological test variables that were later included in the cognitive composite scores.

Composite	Test/test variable	Controls	Patients	Test
Score		(n=20)	(n=32)	Statistic
	SDMT	52.30	44.29	t[49]= -2.60*
SOIP		(12.34)	(9.63)	
	PASAT 3"	48.80	43.44	t[50]= -1.74
		(10.44)	(11.06)	
	Pegboard (Dominant/Non-	27.40	33.95	t[46.86]= -3.24*
	dominant hand)	(4.56)	(9.87)	
	DSF	11.10	9.94	t[50]= -2.19*
		(1.92)	(1.83)	
	SRT Total Recall	53.65	39.09	t[49.99]= -5.02**
		(6.85)	(10.96)	
MENT	SRT Consistent Long Term	36.85	18.00	t[50]= -2.96*
NIENI	Retrieval	(13.14)	(13.24)	
	SRT Delayed Recall	8.10	5.53	t[50]= -3.58**
		(2.43)	(2.55)	
	SRT Intrusions	Md.=0.00	Md.=1.00	U=230.00
		Rg.= 0-12	Rg.= 0-6	
	TOH (Time)	317.25	384.81	t[49]= -1.74
		(139.78)	(132.47)	
	WCST Total Correct	50.65	47.13	t[48.29]= -2.18*
TT		(3.88)	(7.71)	
EF	WCST Perseverative Errors	6.45	8.44	t[48.51]= 1.46
		(2.11)	(5.65)	
	COWAT	46.50	36.69	t[50]= -3.55**
		(10.59)	(9.10)	
	DSB	7.65	6.22	t[50]= -2.60*
		(1.79)	(2.01)	

Table IV-1. *MS patients' neuropsychological test results and comparison with controls.* Scores are presented as means (standard deviations) or medians (range).

SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, SDMT: Symbol-Digit Modalities Test, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test 3" version, Pegboard: Nine-Hole Pegboard Test, DSF: Digit Span Forward, SRT: Selective Reminding Test, COWAT: verbal fluency test, DSB: Digit Span Backward, TOH: Tower of Hanoi, WCST: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (64-card version), Md.: median, Rg.: range; *: p < .05, **: p < .01.

As can be seen in **Table IV-1**, patients had impaired performance as compared to controls in several measures of attention, and executive functions, and most pronounced deficits were found in memory as assessed with the SRT. **Table IV-2** provides an overview of patients subgroups' and controls' scores in the individual neuropsychological test variables.

Composite Score	Test/ test variable	Controls (n=20)	RR-1 (n=13)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)	Test statistic
	SDMT	52.30 (12.34)	48.31 (8.87)	40.00* ¹ (9.24)	42.50 (9.71)	F[3,47]= 3.47*
	PASAT 3"	48.80 (10.44)	48.54 (5.38)	34.67* ¹ (12.49)	44.70 (11.31)	F[3,48]= 4.65*
SOIP	Pegboard (Dominant & Non-dominant hand)	27.40 (4.56)	32.25 (9.29)	32.80 (5.48)	37.19* ¹ (13.30)	F[3,48]= 3.35*
	DSF	11.10 (1.92)	10.38 (1.98)	10.00 (1.50)	9.30 (1.89)	F[3,48]= 2.24
	SRT Total Recall	53.65 (6.85)	42.08* ² (11.62)	39.11* ² (12.43)	35.20* ² (8.15)	$F[3,20.16] = 14.31^{**2}$
MEM	SRT Consistent Long Term Retrieval	36.85 (13.14)	21.00* ² (14.50)	19.11 (16.44)	13.10* ² (6.49)	F[3,22.46]= 13.85** ²
	SRT Delayed Recall	8.10 (2.43)	6.46 (2.50)	5.11* ² (2.89)	4.70^{*^2} (2.11)	$F[3,22.09] = 5.67^{*2}$
	SRT Intrusions	Md.= 0 (Rg.=0-12)	Md.= 1 (Rg.=0-3)	Md.=0 (Rg.=0-4)	Md.=1 (Rg.=0-6)	$\chi^{2}[3] = 5.26$
	TOH (Time)	317.25 (139.78)	417.67 (118.32)	390.67 (179.25)	340.11 (95.56)	F[3,47]= 1.61
	WCST Total Correct	50.65 (47.13)	48.92 (8.35)	44.11 (8.42)	47.50 (5.89)	$F[3,19.04] = 2.07^2$
EF	WCST Perseverative Errors	6.45 (2.11)	7.85 (5.06)	8.44 (4.10)	6.90 (2.92)	F[3,48]= 0.83
	COWAT	46.50 (10.59)	38.15 (10.37)	36.33* ¹ (9.14)	35.10* ¹ (7.84)	F[3,48]= 4.28*
	DSB	7.65 (1.79)	6.77 (1.79)	5.78 (2.82)	5.90* ² (1.37)	$F[3,21.83] = 3.14^{*2}$

Table IV-2. *Patient subgroups' neuropsychological test results and comparison with controls.* Scores are means (standard deviations) or medians (range).

¹: Post-hoc tests were Dunnett t-tests against controls; ²:Variance inhomogeneity indicated by Levene's test: Welch adjustment of F-ratio and degrees of freedom, post-hoc tests were Bonferroni-corrected U-tests against controls; SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, SDMT: Symbol-Digit Modalities Test, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test 3'' version, Pegboard: Nine-Hole Pegboard Test, DSF: Digit Span Forward, SRT: Selective Reminding Test, COWAT: verbal fluency test, DSB: Digit Span Backward, TOH: Tower of Hanoi, WCST: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (64-card version), Md: median, Rg: Range *: p < .05, **: p < .01. Significant differences in the RR-1 subgroup were confined to memory in the SRT. Moreover, the SRT generally showed most pronounced impairment spanning all subgroups. The RR-2 and SP subgroups underperformed compared to controls in several tests of information processing speed and executive functions. Of note, the RR-2 subgroup was the only subgroup with impairment in the cognitive processing speed tasks (SDMT, PASAT 3''), while SP patients showed motor-slowing in the Nine-hole Pegboard. With regard to single executive function tests, neither the WCST nor the TOH were statistically impaired across subgroups, but both the RR-2 and SP subgroups were impaired in verbal fluency (COWAT) and the SP subgroup also showed impairment in working memory (DBS).

2. Performance in cognitive composite scores

 Table IV-3 provides all MS patients' performance in the composite scores,

 indicating significant differences to controls.

	Mean z-scores	Test	
	(n=32)	statistic	
SOIP	-0.81 (0.81)	t[50]= -3.58**	
MEM	-1.54 (1.16)	t[50]= -5.02**	
EF	-0.63 (0.69)	t[50]= -3.41*	
Global	-0.93 (0.63)	t[50]= -5.12**	

Table IV-3. *MS patients' performance in composite scores of cognitive functions.* Scores are mean z-scores (standard deviations), based on study controls' means.

SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, Global: global cognitive functioning, *: p < .05, **: p < .01.

As can be seen in **Table IV-3**, patients underperformed significantly in all four composite scores, ranging from .6 standard deviations to 1.5 standard deviations below the controls' means. Other than Global performance, the MEM composite was the most affected in my sample. The EF composite was least affected among all patients.

 Table IV-4 displays the same composite scores across MS patient

 subgroups, again indicating significant differences to controls.

	RR-1	RR-2	SP	Test
	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)	statistic
SOIP	-0.45 (0.60)	-1.04 (0.61)**	-1.07 (1.07)**	F[3,48]= 6.12*
MEM	-1.19 (1.23)**	-1.57 (1.36)**	-1.97 (0.76)**	F[3,48]= 9.59**
EF	-0.53 (0.85)	-0.85 (0.71)**	-0.58 (0.39)	F[3,48]=4.30*
Global	-0.61 (0.65)**	-1.11 (0.71)**	-1.18 (0.35)**	F[3.48]= 11.46**

Table IV-4. *Patient subgroups' performance in composite scores.* Scores are mean z-scores (standard deviations), standardized to study controls' means.

SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, Global: global cognitive functioning, *: p < .05, **: p < .01 in post-hoc Dunnett's t-tests comparing each subgroup to controls.

There were between-subgroup differences in all four cognitive domains, with the greatest differences in overall functioning (Global) and MEM and the least in EF. While the RR-1 group was only impaired in the Global cognitive composite score, the RR-2 subgroup was impaired in all domains. SP patients were impaired in all domains except EF. Taken together, MS patients were impaired across domains of cognitive functions, with most pronounced problems in the memory domain, followed by problems in information processing speed. Executive functions were only mildly impaired. The RR-1 subgroup showed the least impairment. The RR-2 subgroup showed most deficits, and were the only subgroup with notable executive function deficits. It should be noted that even though not all domains were impaired equally, all three patient subgroups numerically underperformed compared to controls. That is, even the least impaired RR-1 subgroup did show significant impairment when all scores were summarized in the Global cognitive composite score.

Clinically, neuropsychological test scores that are greater than or equal to two standard deviations below scores of controls indicate significant impairment. The proportion of individuals in each patient subgroup performing less than or equal to two standard deviations below the controls in each of the 4 composite scores can be seen in **Appendix C.**

3. Performance in psychosocial questionnaires

Several self-report psychosocial questionnaires were administered only to the MS patients. Since the controls were not administered these questionnaires, the MS patients' results in the psychosocial variables are reported in comparison to normative scores from test manuals or norm studies.

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale: In the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS; Zigmond & Snaith, [1983]), a self-report questionnaire that assesses current anxiety and depression symptoms, patients were mostly unaffected 9see **Table IV-5**). The only slight elevation was seen in the RR-2 subgroup reporting mild levels of increased anxiety.

Table IV-5. *Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) results in all MS patients and in patient subgroups.* Scores are means (standard deviations). The verbal descriptor of anxiety/depression severity is based on cut-off criteria from the test manual (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983).

	MS patients	RR-1	RR-2	SP
	(n=32)	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)
Anviety	7.31 (3.69)	6.69 (3.75)	8.22 (3.83)	7.30 (3.71)
Anxiety	Normal	normal	mild	normal
Donnogion	5.03 (3.30)	4.38 (3.64)	6.56 (3.24)	4.50 (2.68)
Depression	Normal	normal	normal	normal

Fatigue Assessment Inventory: The Fatigue Assessment Inventory (FAI) assesses several aspects of fatigue with 4 factors (F1: overall fatigue severity ["severity"], F2: situational triggering of fatigue ["situation"], F3: psychological consequences of fatigue ["psychological"], F4: likeliness of one's fatigue to respond to rest/sleep ["sleep"]). Schwartz and colleagues (1993) provide normative scores of 37 healthy controls, and these were used as a reference here for the patients' selfreported symptoms (see **Table IV-6**).

	MS patients (n=32)	RR-1 (n=13)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)
F1: Severity	2.42	2.32	2.53	2.46
	(0.86)	(0.93)	(1.07)	(0.61)
F2: Situation	0.84	0.7	0.7	1.14
	(0.54)	(0.39)	(0.62)	(0.57)
F3: Psychological	0.57	0.45	0.74	0.58
	(0.79)	(1.01)	(0.75)	(0.47)
F4: Sleep	0.18	0.17	0.05	0.41
	(1.27)	(0.97)	(1.58)	(1.41)

Table IV-6. *Fatigue Assessment Inventory (FAI) results in all MS patients and patient subgroups.* Scores are mean z-scores (standard deviations) based on norms of 37 healthy controls reported in Schwartz et al. (1993).

As can be seen in **Table IV-6**, the MS patients scored more than two standard deviations higher than healthy controls in the first factor, indicating substantial overall fatigue severity across all subgroups. Other aspects of fatigue were only slightly elevated, ranging between 0.05 and 1.14 standard deviations above controls' means. It should be noted that FAI-items summarized in factors F2-F4 represent situational, psychological, and sleep-related qualifiers of the experience of fatigue. As such, controls in the norm sample endorsed these items to a higher degree than the judgements they made about the overall severity of their fatigue. As a consequence, the patients' scores were comparable to controls among F2-F4, while being elevated in F1. Notably, the patients showed a similar increase in F1 as did MS patients reported in Schwartz et al. (1993).

Dysexecutive Questionnaire: Bodenburg and Dopslaff (2008)'s norms were used to analyze the Dysexecutive Questionnaire (DEX; self-version). Factor (F)1 measures the perceived ability to initiate and sustain ("initiate/sustain") actions in a broad sense. F2 measures perceived impulse control and sequencing ("impulse control/sequencing") of information or actions. F3 measures the individual's psychophysical and mental excitability ("excitability"). F4 measures the perceived ability to incorporate social standards into interpersonal interactions ("social"). Results are displayed in **Table IV-7**.

	MS patients (n=32)	RR-1 (n=13)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)
F1: Initiate/sustain	8.00 (4.37)	7.46 (4.82)	9.78 (4.63)	7.10 (3.35)
	mild	mild	moderate	mild
F2: Impulse control/sequencing	6.00 (2.92)	5.69 (3.54)	7.22 (2.59)	5.30 (2.11)
	moderate	moderate	moderate	mild
F3: Excitability	3.78 (2.89)	3.31 (2.25)	3.67 (2.78)	4.50 (3.78)
	moderate	mild	moderate	moderate
F4: Social	2.56 (1.98)	2.00 (2.08)	3.11 (2.09)	2.80 (1.75)
	moderate	mild	mild	mild
DEX total score	20.34 (10.28)	18.46 (11.70)	23.78 (9.96)	19.70 (8.71)
	mild	mild	moderate	mild

Table IV-7. Dysexecutive Questionnaire (DEX) results in all MS patients and patient subgroups. Scores are means (standard deviations). The verbal descriptor is based on cut-off scores from Bodenburg and Dopslaff (2008).

According to Bodenburg and Dopslaff's (2008) cut-off scores, the MS patients reported experiencing mild to moderate executive dysfunctions. Of note, the RR-2 subgroup reported moderate levels of dysexecutive functions in three of the four factors, while the other subgroups each reported impairments only in one of the four factors. The RR-2 subgroup was also the only subgroup that selfreported moderate levels of dysexecutive functions in the entire scale. This pattern matches well with my observation that the RR-2 subgroup also showed most pronounced impairment in objective assessments of executive functions (cf. Tables IV-2 and IV-4). Of note, the DEX is best used in conjunction with a collateral assessment from a caregiver or friend. These 'other' ratings can be used to contrast the patient's self-ratings, and to illustrate a possible lack of insight as part of a dysexecutive syndrome. Although I originally intended to collect such 'other'-rated questionnaires, only a small number of patients provided contact information of a relative or friend and/or the relative or friend did not provide the ratings I requested. Due to these difficulties with recruitment, I do not report on the only partially collected 'other'-rated version of the DEX here.

London Handicap Scale: For the London Handicap Scale (LHS), used to assess perceived handicap in multiple domains of daily life, Harwood and colleagues (1994) provide cut-off scores indicating levels of disability in domains mobility, physical independence, occupation, social integration, orientation, and economic self-sufficiency. In addition, these subscale scores can be transformed into one total score, ranging between 0 and 1, with 1 reflecting no perceived handicap and 0 reflecting most severe perceived handicap. The total score is reported here, showing that the MS patients perceived themselves as being more functional than disabled (see **Table IV-8**).

Table IV-8. London Handicap Scale (LHS) results in all MS patients and in patient subgroups. Scores are means (standard deviations) of the LHS total score, calculated based on Harwood and colleagues (1994).

	MS patients	RR-1	RR-2	SP	
	(n=32)	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)	
LHS Total	0.69 (0.17)	0.73 (0.21)	0.63 (0.15)	0.69 (0.14)	

Interestingly, LHS handicap severity did not covary with disability (EDSS) in my sample (correlation: r[30]= -.175, p > .1) and as can be seen in **Figure IV-1**, several SP patients reported rather minimal handicap in the LHS. The reason for the lack of an association between LHS and EDSS in patients is difficult to determine. Possible reasons could comprise lack of patients' insight into their own functional disability or, in contrast, effective coping abilities of patients may allow them to manage the effects of their disease relatively well. Clarification of such reasons should be sought in future studies.



Figure IV-1. *Distribution of handicap scores across patient subgroups in the London Handicap Scale (LHS).*

4. Game of Dice Task (GDT)

4.1. GDT net-score

I first investigated whether the GDT net-score differed between patients and controls. As outlined previously, the GDT net-score is calculated by subtracting the risky decisions (1- or 2-number choices) from the safe decisions (3- or 4- number choices). Thus, GDT net-scores can range from -18 to 18, with a higher net-score indicating more safe decisions were made. Since GDT net-scores were normally distributed in patients and controls, I compared the mean GDT net-score between controls (n=20) and MS patients (n=32) using a t-test. MS patients (M= 6.81, SD= 10.85) scored lower than controls (M= 12.50, SD= 7.59), and this difference was statistically significant (t[50]= -2.05, p= .046).



Figure IV-2. *Mean differences in GDT net-score between controls and MS patients.* * p < .05, error bars are standard errors of the mean.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to test between-group difference in GDT net-score between controls and MS patient subgroups (RR-1: M= 13.69, SD= 5.82; RR-2: M= 0.22, SD= 11.77 and SP: M= 3.80, SD= 10.73). Although GDT net-scores within each of the subgroups did not violate the normal distribution, I observed variance inhomogeneity across groups according to Levene's test (W[3,48]= 0.036). The Welch-test to adjust the omnibus F-effect showed significant differences in GDT net-scores among subgroups: Welch F[3, 20.527] = 4.87, p= .010. Manual post-hoc U-tests comparing each patient subgroup with the controls and adjusting for the number of comparisons (i.e.,

alpha=0.017), showed lower performance in RR-2 (U= 34.5, Z= -2.66, p= .008) and SP (U= 38.5, Z= -2.74, p= .006), but not in RR-1 (U= 127, Z= 0.114, p= .91) compared to controls. These results are illustrated in **Figure IV-3**.



Figure IV-3. Mean differences in GDT net-score between controls and MS patient subgroups. * p < .05, post-hoc U-tests against controls. Error bars are standard errors of the mean.

To further illustrate this effect, I also conducted a Pearson correlation between the GDT net-score and EDSS scores (i.e., reflected in the subgroupings). I observed a significant negative correlation, r[30]=-0.59, p<0.001, illustrated in **Figure IV-4**.



Figure IV-4. Correlation between EDSS score and GDT net-score (r[30] = -0.59, p < 0.001).

As can be seen in the scatter plot, the lower range of GDT net-scores was primarily made up of patients with higher EDSS scores, i.e., patients from the RR-2 and SP subgroups.

4.2. GDT: Effects of pre-morbid intelligence and years of education

Notably, the two groups with higher EDSS scores (RR-2 and SP) also had lower levels of estimated premorbid intelligence and years of education (although both differences were non-significant) and were outperformed in the GDT by the two groups with higher premorbid IQ and education (Controls and RR-1) (cf. Table IV-10 and Table IV-11). I therefore wondered whether the RR-2 and SP subgroups' relative reduction in GDT performance might have been confounded by these marginal differences in the demographic variables. Note that these kinds of sampling issues are sometimes attempted to control for through analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), including variables of no interest (i.e., such as premorbid IQ/intelligence, whatever you choose or education in this case) as covariates. However, this is not a recommended practice as outlined in Miller and Chapman (2001), since, among other assumptions, ANCOVA requires the covariates and dependent variables to be correlated and the regression slopes to be homogeneous in each group. As outlined in Miller and Chapman (2001), there is no standard way to adjust such sampling biases. Moderated regression analyses, that do not impose these specific restrictions on predictors, are sometimes proposed to remedy these issues (Cohen, Cohen, Aitken, & West, 2003). I conducted two such moderated regressions to assess whether the GDT net-score differences between the subgroups were moderated by premorbid IQ or education.

The dependent variable in both analyses was the GDT net-score, the (categorical) predictor variable was subgroup, and the (continuous) moderator variable was "premorbid IQ" or "education" (years of education). I did not include both moderators together in one analysis due to problems with multicollinearity using the inter-correlated predictors premorbid IQ and education (e.g., the variance inflation factor [VIF] in a preliminary regression model including both premorbid IQ and education as moderators was VIF=5.15 for

premorbid IQ and VIF= 3.97 for years of education). **Table IV-9** shows the zeroorder correlations between the GDT net-score, subgroup (coded as controls= 1, RR-1= 2, RR-2= 3, SP= 4) and premorbid IQ.

	GDT net-score	Subgroup (1=controls, 2= RR-1, 3= RR-2, 4= SP)
GDT net-score	1	-0.43**
Estimated premorbid IQ	0.019	-0.32*
E.C. 1	(1, 1, 1, 1, 7 , 1,, 7	

Table IV-9. Correlations between GDT net-score, subgroup, and premorbid IQ

Estimated premorbid IQ based on Shipley (Zachary, R., 1986),* p < .05, ** p <0.01

As expected, the GDT net-score and premorbid IQ were negatively correlated with increasing subgroup scores. However, GDT net-score was not correlated with premorbid IQ.

To prepare predictors for the moderated regressions, I first recoded subgroups into three dummy variables, using controls as the reference group, reflecting my main contrast of interest. These dummy-variables are hereafter named "d-RR-1", "d-RR-2", and "d-SP". The first dummy variable d-RR-1 was coded so that patients from the RR-1 subgroup received the code '1', and all other participants received a code of '0'; d-RR-2 coded patients from the RR-2 subgroup as '1' and all others as '0'; d-SP coded SP subgroup patients as '1' and all others as '0' (hence, controls were treated as the reference group and represented by a code of '0' in all three dummy variables). I then mean-centered "premorbid IQ" and "education" by subtracting the sample's mean from each participants' individual score. To build interaction terms, mean-centered premorbid IQ and mean-centered education were multiplied with the three dummy-coded variables depicting the subgroups.

All regressions were conducted in three consecutive steps. In step one, I included the moderator variable (premorbid IQ or education). In step two, the three dummy coded variables representing contrasts of the patient subgroups against controls were included. In the final step, I included the interaction terms. **Table IV-10** shows the results of three regression models including premorbid IQ, subgroup and their interactions.

Table IV-10. *Three regression models predicting GDT net-scores by premorbid IQ and subgroup.* Model 1 includes premorbid IQ only, model 2 includes premorbid IQ and subgroup, and model 3 includes premorbid IQ, subgroup, and the premorbid IQ x subgroup interaction terms.

Model	R	R Square	F Change	df1	df2	Significant F-change
1	.02(a)	.00	.02	1	50	p= .89
2	.57(b)	.33	7.6	3	47	p<.001
3	.65 (c)	.42	2.41	3	44	p= .08

(a) Predictors: Constant, premorbid IQ

(b) Predictors: Constant, premorbid IQ, RR-1, RR-2, SP

(c) Predictors: Constant, premorbid IQ, RR-1, RR-2, SP, RR-1 x PREMORBID IQ, RR-2 x PREMORBID

IQ, SP x premorbid IQ

df1: degrees of freedom; df2: error degrees of freedom

As can be seen in **Table IV-10**, a significant increase in variance explanation emerged in model 2, i.e., when including premorbid IQ with the subgroup variables. A total of 57% of the variance in GDT net-scores was explained by including the subgroups as predictors in addition to premorbid IQ, compared to 2% when only including premorbid IQ as in model 1. The inclusion of the interaction terms (model 3) did not significantly increase the amount of variance explanation. **Table IV-11** shows all three models' omnibus effects, and each models' predictors with their significance.

-	-								
Model	df1	df2	F	Sig.	Predictors	В	beta	t	Sig.
1	1	50	0.02	.89					
					premorbid IQ	0.02	.02	.14	.89
2	4	47	5.70	<.001**					
					premorbid IQ	-0.17	20	-1.58	.12
					RR-1	1.30	.06	.43	.67
					RR-2	-13.8	53	-3.86	<.001**
					SP	-10.19	40	-2.95	.005**
3	7	44	4.59	<.001**					
					premorbid IQ				
					RR-1	0.15	10	02	26
					RR-2	0.13	.10	.92	.30
					SP	2.49	.11	.81	.43
					Int.: premorbid IO x	-14.43	55	-4.1	< .001**
					RR-1	-11.16	44	-3.04	.004**
					Int.: premorbid IO x	-0.37	20	-1.32	.19
					RR-2	-0.59	38	-2.37	.022*
					Int.: premorbid IO x	-0.66	29	-1.91	.06
					SP				

Table IV-11. *Predictors of the three regression models including premorbid IQ, subgroup and their interactions*

df1: degrees of freedom; df2: error degrees of freedom; Sig.: Significance; Int.: interaction; **: p < .01; *: p < .05

As can be seen in **Table IV-11**, both models 2 and 3 showed significant omnibus effects. Mirroring the ANOVA results (see **Figure IV-3**), RR-2 and SP, contrasted to controls, both (negatively) predicted GDT net-scores in model 2. Interestingly, model 3 found a significant interaction between premorbid IQ and subgroup RR-2 in predicting GDT net-scores, i.e., a moderating effect of premorbid IQ on GDT in this subgroup. To illustrate this interaction, participants were divided into two premorbid IQ groups based on median split (median premorbid IQ= 107.5).



Figure IV-5. *GDT-net-scores in each subgroup separated by low and high premorbid IQ (median split).* Error bars are standard errors of the mean.

Of note, in all three patient subgroups, individuals with premorbid IQ lower than the median premorbid IQ of 107.5 performed *better* on the GDT than those with a higher premorbid IQ, with most pronounced differences in the RR-2 subgroup. Thus, most importantly, since there were pre-existing marginal differences in premorbid IQ (i.e., higher premorbid IQ in controls/RR-1 patients than in RR-2/SP patients cannot explain lowered GDT performance in RR-2 and SP). Based on the significant interaction term in model 3, if anything, RR-2 patients' lower premorbid IQ scores were related to increased GDT performance in this subgroup. Taken together, I found minimal evidence for differential moderation of GDT scores by premorbid IQ within each of the subgroups. Their pre-existing marginal differences in premorbid IQ even favoured low-premorbid IQ RR-2 patients with regard to GDT performance. Therefore, I considered the marginal premorbid IQ-differences as unproblematic with regard to interpreting subgroup differences in the GDT net-score and retain my original interpretation: GDT was impaired in RR-2 and SP patients, irrespective of their marginally lowered premorbid IQ compared to controls.

Analogous regressions were performed using years of education as a moderator. **Table IV-12** shows the results of three regression models including education, subgroup and the interaction terms.

Table IV-12. *Three regression models predicting GDT net-scores by years of education and subgroup.* Model 1 includes education only, model 2 includes education and subgroup, and model 3 includes education, subgroup, and the education by subgroup interaction terms.

Model	R	R Square	F Change	df1	df2	Significant F-change
1	.08 (a)	.006	.32	1	50	p= .57
2	.55 (b)	.30	6.49	3	47	p<.001
3	.63 (c)	.39	2.33	3	44	p= .09

(a) Predictors: Constant, education

(b) Predictors: Constant, education, RR-1, RR-2, SP

(c) Predictors: Constant, education, RR-1, RR-2, SP, RR-1 x education, RR-2 x education, SP x education

df1: degrees of freedom; df2: error degrees of freedom

Similar to the regression models including PREMORBID IQ as a moderator, a significant increase in variance explanation emerged only in model 2, i.e., when including the dummy-coded subgroup variables along with years of education. A total of 55% of the variance in GDT net-scores was explained by including the subgroups as predictors in addition to education, compared to 8% when only including education. Again, the inclusion of the interaction terms slightly increased the amount of variance explanation, but this increase in variance explanation was not significant (63% of the variance in GDT net-scores was explained by model 3). **Table IV-13** shows all three models' omnibus effects, and each models' predictors with their significance.

Model	df1	df2	F	Sig.	Predictors	В	beta	t	Sig.
1	1	50	0.32	.57					
					education	0.42	0.08	.57	.57
2	4	47	4.97	.002**					
					education	-0.45	09	66	.51
					RR-1	0.95	.04	.301	.77
					RR-2	-12.94	49	-3.54	<.001**
					SP	-9.31	37	-2.65	.011*
3	7	44	4.09	.002**					
					education	-0.53	10	-0.58	.56
					RR-1	0.74	.03	0.24	.81
					RR-2	-16.08	61	-4.33	<.001**
					SP	-7.34	29	-1.88	.07
					Int.: education x RR-1	1.48	.15	0.99	.33
					Int.: education x RR-2	-3.65	27	-1.86	.07
					Int.: education x SP	2.99	.14	0.96	.34

Table IV-13. *Predictors of the three regression models including years of education, subgroup and their interactions.*

df1: degrees of freedom; df2: error degrees of freedom; Sig.: Significance; Int.: interaction; **: p < .01; *: p < .05

In this set of analyses, again models 2 and 3 showed significant omnibus effects. In model 2, RR-2 and SP, contrasted to controls, both (negatively) predicted GDT net-scores, similar to the analyses including PREMORBID IQ as moderator. That is, even when education was included in model 2 in a first step, subgroups RR-2 and SP showed significantly lower GDT net-scores than controls. Of note, in model 3, the reduction in GDT net-score in the SP subgroup became only a trend difference after accounting for education. The included interaction terms however, also did not significantly predict GDT net-scores. Taken together, GDT was impaired in RR-2, irrespective of their marginally lower level of education compared to controls. SP patients were only marginally impaired in the GDT when education was controlled for.

4.3. GDT performance across risk-levels

The pattern of responding in the GDT was further analyzed by inspecting the frequency of choices from each risk level across patients and controls. For this purpose, two repeated measures ANOVA were conducted with within-subject factor risk-level (1-number, 2-number, 3-number and 4-number choices) and between subject factor group (controls, all MS patients) or subgroup (controls,

RR-1, RR-2, SP), respectively. It should be noted that these models are undetermined when assessing main effects of risk level, since choices from each risk level are mutually exclusive. Thus, the main purpose of these analyses was to show potential interaction effects between group/subgroup and frequencies of choices from each of the four risk levels. The first ANOVA using group (controls vs. all MS patients) as a between-subjects factor did not show a significant interaction between risk-level and group (F[3, 150] = 1.65, p > .1). However, the second ANOVA using subgroups as a between-subjects factor showed a significant interaction between subgroup and risk level (F[5.76, 92.14, Greenhouse-Geisser corrected]= 3.29, p < .01). This interaction is illustrated in **Figure IV-6**.



Figure IV-6. *Frequency of decisions across the four GDT risk levels.* Risk level 1=1-number choices, 2= 2-number choices, 3=3-number choices, 4=4-number choices. *: p < .05, t-test against controls, Bonferroni-corrected.

Inspecting **Figure IV-6**, differences between controls and RR-2 as well as SP patients were suspected, paralleling my findings with the GDT net-score. Since Dunnett t-tests were not feasible due to the undetermined main effects of risk-level, I conducted post-hoc t-tests contrasting controls against the RR-2 and the SP patient subgroup, manually correcting for the number of comparisons (eight comparisons were conducted, and therefore, alpha = .05 / 8 = 0.00625). RR-2 patients (t[27]= 3.25, p= .003) and SP patients (t[28]= 2.39, p= .024)

endorsed more 2-number choices than controls (RR-2: M= 6.78, SD= 4.76; SP: M= 4.9, SD= 3.1, controls: M=2.15, SD= 2.89). SP patients also endorsed fewer 4-number choices (SP: M= 4.8, SD= 4.8) than controls (M= 9.5, SD= 5.52; t[28]= 2.29, p= .03). Of these differences, only the RR-2 patients' increase of 2-number choices remained significant after Bonferroni-correction.

4.4. Shifting between risk levels in the GDT

One additional aspect of GDT performance patterns, shifting between risk levels, was evaluated based on a previous GDT finding in early AD patients (Delazer et al., 2007). Despite obtaining similar net-scores as controls, early AD patients made more frequent shifts between risky and safe decisions, pointing to less consistent responding and a more random choice strategy. Thus, I tested whether patients and controls in my study differed in their total number of trial-to-trial shifts between safe and risky choices. For this purpose, I calculated between-trial choice contingencies so that each choice that was followed by a different risk-level choice was counted as a shift. For example, a choice pattern of 4-2-2-1-3-4 contains two shifts (4-2[shift]-2-1-3[shift]-4). The total number of shifts was calculated over all 17 trials following trial 1. As before, analyses were carried out first comparing controls with all MS patients, and then comparing controls with each patient subgroup.

Controls and all MS patients did not significantly differ in their total number of shifts between risky and safe choices (controls: M=2.55, SD = 3.19; MS patients: M=4.06, SD=3.37; t[50]=1.61, p=.14). Comparing controls and patient subgroups with one-way ANOVA, I observed a significant between-group difference (F[3,48]= 3.55, p < .05). Post-hoc Dunnett t-tests showed that the RR-1 subgroup did not differ significantly from controls in their number of shifts (mean difference= -0.24, SE=1.11, p > .05). The RR-2 subgroup (mean difference= 2.01, SE= 1.25) had more shifts than controls, but this difference was not significantly more shifts than controls (p= .023, see **Figure IV-7**).

This finding may imply a particularly erratic choice strategy in SP patients. In turn, the previously observed decrement in GDT performance in RR-2 patients cannot be solely attributed to random shifting of choices. One could speculate that RR-2 patients persisted or persevered in making risky choices rather than shifted randomly between risk levels.



Figure IV-7. *Total number of shifts between risky (1- and 2-number choices) and safe choices (3- and 4-number choices) in the GDT.* * p < .05, post-hoc Dunnett t-tests against controls. Error bars are standard errors of the mean.

4.5. Perseverations on choosing the same risk levels in the GDT

To follow up on the findings in with the GDT shift scores (see **Section IV-4.6.**), I then tested whether the number of perseverations on safe or risky choices differed significantly between groups. For this purpose, I calculated trial-by-trial choice contingencies in that each choice that was followed by the same risk-level choice was counted as either a 'safe perseveration' or a 'risky perseveration'. For example, a choice pattern of 4-2-2-1-3-4 contains two risky perseverations (2-2 [risky perseveration]-1 [risky perseveration]) and one safe perseveration (3-4). The total number of such safe and risky perseverations was calculated over all 17 trials following trial 1. Furthermore, to control for the total number of safe or risky choices made during the task, the total number of perseverations was divided by the number of safe and risky choices. Thus, the maximum percentage of risky or safe perseverations could be 94.4% (17 out of 18 safe or risky choices). Risky perseverations were non-normally distributed in controls and safe perseverations were marginally non-normal (Kolmogorov-Smirnoff Z= 1.27, p= .08). For consistency, descriptive statistics of safe/risky perseverations for controls and patients, as well as patient subgroups are shown as medians and ranges in **Table IV-14**.

	Controls	MS patients	RR-1	RR-2	SP		
	(n=20)	(n=32)	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)		
Safe perseverations	92.51%	77.5%	88.24%	58.33%	72.38%		
	(29-94%)	(0-94%)	(60-94%)	(0-94%)	(0-88%)		
Risky perseverations	0%	16.67%	0%	50%	8.3%		
	(0-86%)	(0-94%)	(0-63%)	(0-94%)	(0-92%)		

Table IV-14. *Percentage of GDT safe and risky choice perseverations out of the total number of safe/risky choices.* Scores are medians and ranges.

As can be seen in **Table IV-14**, controls made almost entirely safe perseverations, i.e., of all safe choices they made, 92.51% were safe choices followed by another safe choice. RR-2 patients followed a safe choice with another safe choice in only 58.33% of trials. In addition, of all risky choices the RR-2 patients made, half were risky perseverations.

To formally test the two perseveration scores, I first compared controls and all patients using non-parametric U-tests for both comparisons, Bonferronicorrecting by two (i.e., the two compared scores: alpha = .05/2 = 0.025). As can be seen in **Table IV-15**, controls showed significantly more safe perseverations than all patients. The number of risky perseverations was not different. A Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA comparing controls and patient subgroups showed significant omnibus effects for both scores (safe perseverations: χ^2 [3]= 15.61, p< .001; risky perseverations: χ^2 [3]= 9.88, p< .02). Post-hoc U-tests compared both scores in each subgroup with controls, Bonferroni-correcting for all conducted comparisons (i.e., two scores and three groups, equalling six comparisons total; alpha = .05/6 = .0083). Results of these post-hoc tests are also shown in **Table IV-15**.

	MS patients (n=32)	RR-1 (n=13)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)
Safe perseverations	U= 198.5	U= 128	U= 38.5	U= 32
	Z= -2.31	Z= -0.76	Z= -2.47	Z=-3.02
	p= .02*	p= .94	p= .014	p=.002*
Risky perseverations	U=243.5	U= 130	U= 34	U= 79.5
	Z= -1.583	Z= 0	Z= -2.85	Z=-1.04
	p=.11	p= 1	p=.004*	p= .3

Table IV-15. Safe and risky choice perseverations in the GDT

*: p < .05, Bonferroni-corrected

As suspected based on results using the shift scores, RR-2 patients perseverated significantly more on risky choices than controls (whose median risky perseveration score was zero). In addition, SP patients did not show more risky perseverations than controls, but perseverated significantly less on safe choices. This is partly mirrored in my previous finding of increased shifting in (only) the SP patients compared to controls.

5. GDT correlations with neuropsychological measures

Apart from the already reported correlation between GDT net-score and EDSS (see **Figure IV-4**), risky and safe perseverations in the GDT were also correlated with EDSS (risky perseverations: rho [30] = .45, p < .05; safe perseverations: rho [30] = -.67, p < .001), indicating more risky perseverations and fewer safe perseverations in the GDT with increasing MS-related disability. None of the demographics (age, sex, premorbid IQ, years of education [tested with Pearson correlations]) or disease-related variables (duration of MS, age at onset of MS, tested with partial correlations controlling for age) were correlated with the GDT net-score, number of shifts, and risky or safe perseverations in either controls or MS-patients.

Next, correlations between the GDT net-score, GDT total number of shifts and cognitive composite scores were investigated¹. Pearson correlations were used to test relationships within larger samples (controls, all MS patients) and

¹ Note that I also tested relationships between cognition and GDT risky/safe perseverations. These were all non-significant and are not further reported here.

Spearman rank correlations were used to test relationships within the smaller sized patient subgroups. Results are shown in **Table IV-16**.

	Controls (n=20)	All MS patients (n=32)	RR-1 (n=13)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)	
SOIP	15 /05	.41*/02	.13 / .09	.01 /50	.39 / .37	
MEM	.25 /17	06 /31	53 / .43	.05 /77*	.17 /23	
EF	.18 /22	.22 /08	.27 /39	.64†/30	.06 / .44	
Global	.17/18	.25 /20	.19 /01	.13 /72*	.33 / .47	

Table IV-16. Correlations between GDT net-score /total number of shifts and the cognitive composite scores. Pearson r was used in controls and all patients; Spearman rho was used within patient subgroups.

SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, Global: global cognitive functioning, * p < .05, †: p < .1

As can be seen in **Table IV-16**, there was a significant positive correlation (r[30]= 0.41, p < .05) between the information processing speed (SOIP) composite score and the GDT net-score in all MS patients. In controls, none of the composite scores significantly correlated with GDT net-score. In patient subgroups, GDT net-score did not significantly correlate with any of the composite scores. It should not noted that, within the RR-2 subgroup only, the GDT net-score had a trend correlation (rho[7] = .64, p=.06) with the EF composite. Also, in this group only, the total number of shifts was significantly negatively correlated with MEM and Global composite scores. Taken together, I could not observe strong relationships between executive (dys-)functions and impairment in the GDT in all patients or patient subgroups, as suggested in hypothesis 2. Instead, GDT net-score covaried with information processing speed. The shift score was largely unrelated to cognition, except within the RR-2 group. In this subgroup, overall cognitive performance (especially memory) was inversely related to shifting in the GDT.

Nevertheless, I had strong reasons to hypothesize a positive correlation between executive functions and GDT at least in some patients. These are summarized in the following: a) A large body of previous research linked executive functions to GDT performance, both in healthy controls and in various
patient populations, b) there was a trend correlation between GDT net-score and EF within the RR-2 group, c) the RR-2 group was the only one of the subgroups that showed significant reductions in the EF composite score compared to controls, and d) the RR-2 group reported most dysexecutive functions in the DEX questionnaire. I therefore selectively followed up on the trend correlation between EF and GDT net-score in RR-2 patients only. For this purpose, I separated the six measures contributing to the EF composite score and tested which one of them was correlated most to the GDT net-score. Note that time/error scores were inverted, so that all correlations in **Table IV-17** are positively keyed. The alphalevel for these correlations was adjusted by a factor of 6 (alpha =.05 / 6 = .0083) to account for the number of comparisons. The results of these correlations are shown in **Table IV-17**.

Table IV-17. Correlations between GDT net-score and single measures within the EF composite score in RR-2 patients only. Scores are Spearman rank correlations.

Test score	Correlation with GDT net-score
SRT Intrusions	.15
TOH (Time)	34
WCST Total Correct	. 82*
WCST Perseverative Errors	.24
COWAT	.35
DSB	.59

*: p < .05, Bonferroni-corrected. SRT: selective reminding test, TOH: tower of Hanoi, WCST: Wisconsin card sorting test (64-card version), COWAT: verbal fluency test, DSB: digit span backward.

As can be seen from the table, all tests except the time to complete the Tower of Hanoi² correlated positively with the GDT net-score, but only the WCST total number of correct sorts showed a significant correlation. This correlation is illustrated in **Figure IV-8**.

²Since not all patients completed all 3 trials in the TOH (i.e., 3-disk, 4-disk and 5-disk version), the number of trials to complete the full task could not be calculated. The proportion of patients who did not successfully complete all versions in the RR-1 subgroup was 38.5% (n=5), 44.4% (n=4) for the RR-2 subgroup and 70% (n=7) for the SP subgroup; therefore, data from these patients would have had to be excluded in my more conventional TOH analyses. As a way to preserve as much data as possible, the maximum amount of time allotted to complete each trial (300 sec) was included in these instances where no data was available. The inclusion of such artificial TOH time scores may have led to a bias in the EF composite score. A new EF composite score was recalculated with the removal of the TOH average time. The recalculated EF composite score produced similar results as the original EF composite score in all my analyses, with the only notable change that the SP group was now impaired in the new EF composite score. I decided to continue to include the (estimated) TOH time in the EF composite score to retain some representation of all executive function tests that were administered my in this study.



Figure IV-8. Rank correlation between GDT net-score and correct sorts in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST 64-card version) in RR-2 patients

Taken together, I observed some evidence of a relationship between GDT performance and executive functions as measured with the WCST in the RR-2 subgroup, addressing hypothesis 2.

Finally, within all MS patients or patient subgroups, none of the psychosocial questionnaire measures were significantly correlated with GDT net-score, apart from one trend correlation with DEX factor 1("Ability to sustain and initiate actions") in the RR-2 subgroup (rho[7]= .62, p = 0.07). Also in the RR-2 group only, the GDT shift score was significantly related to perceived handicap in the LHS questionnaire (rho[7] = -.73, p= .025). This finding implies that RR-2 patients with more perceived handicap (closer to scoring '0' in the LHS) made more shifts in the GDT.

6. Atrophy measures

In the following section, the four linear measures of brain atrophic changes and ventricular width (Frontal horn width= FHW; Intercaudate distance= ICD; Third ventricle width= TVW; Intercaudate Ratio= ICR) are described. Note that imaging data of one patient from the RR-1 subgroup was not available. **Table IV-18** illustrates comparisons between MS patients' linear atrophy measures and

those acquired from control patients' MR scans. Of note, TVW was non-normally distributed in control patients and could not be remedied by log-transformation; therefore, non-parametric U-test was used to compare TVW between MS patients and control patients.

	Control patients (n=20)	All MS patients (n=31)	Test statistic	
FHW	3.18 (0.38)	3.26 (0.28)	T[49]= 0.4	
ICD	1.04 (0.24)	1.22 (0.27)	T[49]= 2.48*	
ICR	0.09 (0.02)	0.11 (0.02)	T[49]= 2.83**	
TVW	Md.: 0.17	Md.: 0.23	U= 198.5	
	(Rg.: 0.11- 0.7)	(Rg.: 0.1- 1.0)	Z= -2.31*	

Table IV-18. Linear atrophy measures in MS patients and control patients. Scores are means (standard deviations) or median (ranges) in centimetres

*: p < .05; **: p < .01; FHW: Frontal Horn Width; ICD: Intercaudate distance; ICR: Intercaudate ratio; Md.: Median; Rg.: Range; TVW: Third ventricle width.

As can be seen in **Table IV-18**, all MS-patients as a group had significantly larger ICD, ICR and TVW than control patients. In addition, I also compared MS-patient subgroups' atrophy measures to those of the control patients. These comparisons are shown in **Table IV-19**.

	Control patients (n=20)	RR-1 (n=12)	RR-2 (n=9)	SP (n=10)	Test statistic
FHW	3.18	3.33	3.16	3.28	F[3,47]= 0.73
	(0.38)	(0.32)	(0.31)	(0.19)	
ICD	1.04	1.17	1.25	1.26	F[3,47]=2.33†
	(0.24)	(0.25)	(0.33)	(0.25)	
ICR	0.09	0.10	0.11*1	0.11^{*1}	F[3,47]= 3.67*
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.02)	
TVW	Md.: 0.17	Md.: 0.20	Md.: 0.25	Md.: 0.23	χ^2 [3]= 5.79
	(Rg.: 0.11- 0.7)	(Rg.: 0.1- 1.0)	(Rg.: 0.13- 0.84)	(Rg.: 0.14- 0.92)	

Table IV-19. Linear atrophy measures in MS patient subgroups and control patients.

 Scores are means (standard deviations) or median (ranges) in centimetres

¹: Post-hoc tests were Dunnett t-tests against control patients; *: p < .05; $\dagger = p < .1$; FHW: Frontal Horn Width; ICD: Intercaudate distance; ICR: Intercaudate ratio; TVW: Third ventricle width.

As can be seen in **Table IV-19**, MS-patient subgroups statistically differed from control patients in the ICR measure and showed a trend difference in ICD. Both RR-2 and SP patients had significantly larger ICRs than control patients. TVW was not significantly different across subgroups (p= .12).

Taken together, these results corroborate the usefulness of these linear atrophy measures to delineate differences between MS patients and non-MS individuals. There seemed to have been a particular sensitivity of measures approximating basal ganglia atrophy (ICR/ICD) here, and less pronouncedly so, thalamic atrophy (TVW). Frontal horn width was insensitive to MS-status or MSsubgroup.

6.1. Correlations between atrophy measures and disease-related parameters

To further validate these scores' utility, I conducted partial correlations controlling for age and sex between the atrophy measures and the disease-related parameters disease duration, age at MS onset, and EDSS. Age was controlled to account for the patients' middle-age range (mean = 50.81 years of age), i.e., an age when brain changes can be observed even in healthy aging individuals (e.g., Raz & Lindenberger, 2010; Salonen, Autti, Raininko, Ylikoski, & Erkinjuntti, 1997). Sex was controlled to account for smaller brain sizes in females than males. To retain statistical power with reduced degrees of freedom due to partial correlations, and given that (some) of the measures were sensitive to MS subgroup status, MS patients were collapsed into one group and no further analyses per MS-patient subgroup were conducted. Since TVW was normally distributed in MS patients, Pearson partial correlations are presented in Table IV-20.

Table IV-20. *Partial correlations in MS patients, controlling for age and sex, between the linear brain atrophy measures and disease parameters*

	FHW	ICD	ICR	TVW
Age at onset of MS	18	21	22	32†
MS duration	.24	.30	.31	.38*
EDSS	10	.24	.36†	.20

p < .05; p < .1; FHW: Frontal Horn Width; ICD: Intercaudate distance; ICR: Intercaudate ratio; TVW: Third ventricle width; EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale

Controlling for age and sex, a longer MS duration was significantly correlated with increased TVW. A similar trend was found for a younger age at onset of MS. EDSS showed a trend correlation (p=.057) with the size of the ICR. Thus, the partial correlations further support that the linear atrophy measures are tracking brain changes associated with progression and severity of MS. Next, I present correlations between atrophy and cognition in MS patients.

6.2. Correlations between atrophy measures, cognition, and GDT

I tested whether the four linear atrophy measures were correlated with MS patients' (n=31) performance on the four cognitive composite scores as well as the GDT measures net-score and total number of shifts, again controlling for age and sex. Results of these partial correlations are given in **Table IV-21**.

	FHW	ICD	ICR	TVW	
SOIP	.02	51**	57**	54**	
MEM	.12	01	07	12	
EF	.16	05	10	.06	
Global	.16	21	29	21	
GDT net-score	.18	39*	48*	47*	
GDT shifts	18	21	14	05	

Table IV-21. Partial correlations, controlling for age and sex, between the linear brain atrophy measures and cognitive composite scores, GDT net-score and GDT number of shifts in MS patients

** p < .01* p < .05; FHW: Frontal Horn Width; ICD: Intercaudate distance; ICR: Intercaudate ratio; TVW: Third ventricle width; SOIP: Speed of Information Processing composite score; MEM: memory composite score; EF: Executive function composite score; Global: Global cognitive composite score

Controlling for the effects of age and sex, ICD, ICR and TVW were significantly negatively correlated with the SOIP composite score. GDT net-score and atrophy measures showed similar, but weaker relationships. Of note, the GDT shift score was unrelated to any of the atrophy measures and neither of the GDT scores or cognitive composite scores correlated with FHW. Note that partial correlations between GDT net-score and atrophy, controlling for SOIP in addition to age and sex, reduced but did not eliminate some of the previously significant partial correlations (ICD $r_{part} = -.24$, p>.1; ICR $r_{part} = -.34$, p= .08; TVW $r_{part} = -.33$, p= .09). That is, even though much of the atrophy-GDT relationships were likely mediated through elements of processing speed inherent in the GDT performance in the MS patients here, other aspects of the GDT may also have covaried with atrophy, albeit to a lesser extent.

V. DISCUSSION

Our study is the first to investigate decision making abilities in MS patients using the Game of Dice Task (GDT) as a measure of decision making under risk. GDT performance has been associated with executive dysfunctions in populations other than MS. I found impairment in GDT performance in 32 MS patients compared to 20 healthy controls. Deficits were confined to two subgroups of patients with more advanced disability and either RR (N=9, RR-2-group) or SP (N=10, SP group) MS subtype. Conversely, a subgroup of mildly disabled and largely cognitively intact patients with RRMS (N=13, RR-1 group) was unimpaired in decision making. Only the subgroup of moderately impaired RR-2 patients showed the expected relationship between decision making and executive functions, while decision making in the entire patient group was correlated with information processing speed. Brain atrophy was studied with four linear measurements on patients' clinical MR images and was compared with those from control patient MR images. Atrophy measures in the vicinity of the basal ganglia and thalamus (ICD, ICR, TVW) significantly differed between MS and control patients. These measures also showed negative correlations with processing speed, but none of the other cognitive composite scores. GDT performance showed the same pattern, although in a weaker form.

Thus, decision making with explicit rules as assessed with the GDT is impaired in MS patients, but only in more disabled patients. Deficits in information processing speed more consistently characterised patients' decision making impairment than executive dysfunctions. Problems with decision making and information processing speed shared increased ICD, ICR and TVW as neurological markers. In the following I will discuss these findings in more detail.

1. Impairment in the Game of Dice Task in MS

In agreement with my first hypothesis, I found decision making under risk in the GDT impaired in my sample of MS patients. This deficit was correlated with MS-related disability (EDSS). Indeed, *only* patients with more advanced disease stages (RRMS with an EDSS score of 3.0 and above; SP patients) showed

the impairment, while patients with less disability did not (RRMS with an EDSS score lower than 3.0).

1.1. Comparison with previous IGT findings in MS

Five out of six published studies investigating decision making in MS patients have used the IGT, a task designed to assess decision making under ambiguity. In four of the five IGT studies, MS patients demonstrated some form of impairment compared to controls either as slower acquisition of decision contingencies (learning slope: [Kleeberg et al., 2004]; learning index: [Simioni et al., 2008; Simioni et al., 2009]), reduced net-scores in the entire task [Nagy et al., 2006] or in the last task block [Roca et al., 2008]). Four of these studies involved relatively homogeneous groups of mild and/or early stage MS patients (EDSS: 0-3.5, disease duration: 2-4 years) and only included the RRMS subtype (Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008; Simioni et al., 2009), mainly to explore whether IGT decision making deficits could serve as an early disease (or cognitive/emotional) marker. As a result, correlations between IGT and EDSS were either not explored (Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008) or not found (Simioni et al., 2008; Simioni et al., 2009).

Although Simioni et al. (2008) did not find CIS and very early-stage MS patients impaired in the IGT (EDSS: 1.74, disease duration: 2.1 years), both Nagy (2006) and Roca (2008) reported reduced IGT net-scores in patients with mild (EDSS: 1.7; [Nagy et al., 2006] and 0 - 1.5 [Roca et al., 2008], respectively) and slightly longer lasting, but still early-stage MS (disease duration: 3.1 years; [Nagy et al., 2006] and 2.5 years [Roca et al., 2008], respectively). Both studies found IGT net-score reductions predominantly (Nagy et al., 2006) or exclusively (Roca et al., 2008) in the last task blocks. In the last blocks of the IGT, the decision contingencies should have been acquired and are likely explicitly known by the participant. Hence, the last IGT task blocks also measure cognitive/executive aspects of decision making and are therefore most similar to tasks of decision making under risk. As such, Brand et al. (2007) showed in healthy controls that performance in the GDT is correlated with executive functions and with

performance in the last IGT blocks only. Thus, given Nagy et al.'s (2006) and Roca et al.'s (2008) results with early-stage MS, it may seem surprising that my RR-1 MS patients were entirely unimpaired in the GDT.

Note that my RR-1 group had a similarly low EDSS score (mean EDSS=1.58) compared to all three of these studies' samples. However, their disease duration was decidedly longer with an average of 17.16 years (\pm 12.76 years). In line with their intact GDT performance, my RR-1 group was also largely cognitively unimpaired otherwise. Thus, my RR-1 group may have consisted of a group of patients with a benign form of MS. The exact criteria for such "benign MS" are still debated, but many studies have reported the existence of a group of MS patients with a relatively favourable disease progression (few relapses, minor motor and cognitive problems over many years with little signs of deterioration) (Ramsaransing & De Keyser, 2006). Calabrese and others (2013) recently performed a direct comparison of MRI pathology of "early-stage mild RRMS patients" with so-called "benign MS patients" (low EDSS but long disease duration) in a longitudinal design. They found that benign MS patients had substantially lower cortical lesion volumes and less cortical thinning than earlystage RRMS patients. The progression of either cortical pathology was also less pronounced in benign MS. Thus, the extent of MS-related cortical pathology might play a role in the development of benign (less impaired) forms of MS. However, there are also many reports regarding the existence of subtle cognitive/behavioural problems as well as neuropathology even in "benign MS" (Amato, Portaccio, et al., 2008; Amato et al., 2006; Bester et al., 2013; Mesaros et al., 2009; Rovaris, M., Riccitelli, et al., 2008; Sayao, Bueno, Devonshire, & Tremlett, 2011) and I do need to emphasize that the RR-1 group was largely, but not entirely cognitively intact. Therefore, my RR-1 group was likely composed of both early-stage mild RRMS as well as benign, long-term MS patients and is not directly comparable to the three early-stage RRMS samples reported in Nagy et al. (2006), Roca et al. (2008), and Simioni et al. (2008). It should also be noted here that even though the positive findings in Nagy and Roca in early stage/mildly disabled RRMS patients may suggest that subtle changes in emotional reactivity

early on in MS perhaps induce problems with (emotional forms of) decision making, the IGT has been quite vehemently criticized for its low specificity (Brand, Recknor, et al., 2007; Clark, L., Manes, Antoun, Sahakian, & Robbins, 2003; Fellows & Farah, 2005; Manes et al., 2002). That is, healthy controls can show reductions in the IGT due to a number of non-pathological factors including a lack of motivation to perform the task, non-pathological impulsivity (or other personality traits), and a preference to avoid frequent losses instead of optimizing the choice strategy to maximize long-term outcomes (and, as intended, to learn choosing decks C and D over A and B) (Buelow & Suhr, 2009; Dunn, Dalgleish, & Lawrence, 2006b; Fernie & Tunney, 2006; Lin, C. H., Chiu, Lee, & Hsieh, 2007; Lin, C. H., Song, Lin, & Chiu, 2012; Maia & McClelland, 2004). Thus, impairment in the IGT, although observed in many neurological and psychiatric conditions, cannot unequivocally be interpreted as pathological. This in turn implies that reported IGT deficits in some studies with relatively early-stage MS patients (Nagy et al., 2006; Roca et al., 2008) may not be due to MS per se, but could also be caused by non-pathological factors such as depression (Simioni et al., 2008), for example, or the ones listed above. This possibility seems even more likely considering the general lack of correlations between IGT performance and other types of cognitive deficits as well as brain correlates and will be further discussed below.

The IGT study by Kleeberg et al. (2004) used a sample most similar to the current, with both RR and SP subtypes, a wide range of disease duration (0.6-25 years) and EDSS scores up to 6.5. They also stratified patients into low (\leq 2) and high (>2) EDSS groups, similar to my approach (\leq 2.5 for low EDSS and >2.5 for high EDSS groups here). In their study, IGT was correlated with EDSS, and high EDSS scorers were more profoundly impaired in the IGT, and this directly mirrors my findings with the GDT.

1.2. Comparison with Simioni et al. (2012)

A single recent study by Simioni and others (2012) investigated decision making under risk in MS patients using two other paradigms, the CGT and the

WOF task. This study found slight impairments in both tasks, again in relatively mild RRMS (mean EDSS= 1.9, disease duration: 5.06 ± 3.3 yrs). As described in more detail in the introduction, the main variables of interest in the WOF task are decision strategy changes due to the induction of emotional states of disappointment or regret, and the development of risk aversion based on past feedback. The MS patients in Simioni et al. (2012) failed to modulate their choices in anticipation of disappointment, reported less negative affect after decisions inducing disappointment or regret, but showed intact physiological responses to those trials and developed an even stronger risk aversion than controls. Thus, subtle changes in the subjective judgment and anticipation of emotional states induced slight alterations in these patients' choice behaviour. Of note, patients did not show exaggerated risk taking in the form of reduced risk aversion in their choices, something that has been reported in patients with OFC damage (Camille et al., 2004), but rather showed an *exaggerated* risk aversion. The WOF task focuses on assessing the anticipated emotions resulting from current decision outcomes on future choices and therefore is quite different from the GDT, although the WOF also provides explicit decision rules (and hence measures decision making under risk). Thus, I cannot know for certain what types of emotions were elicited by the choice outcomes in the GDT in the patients. Conceptually, the GDT provides a 'complete information' situation: Participants are given information about the actual outcomes of each die roll in every trial. To further stay within the WOF framework, such situations could potentially induce regret ("what could have been if I had made a different choice..."), an emotion that may have been blunted also in RR-2 and SP MS patients here, although this remains speculative.

The CGT is more closely aligned with the GDT and also assesses decision making under risk. The main differences between the CGT and the GDT are the CGT's timed outcome variable 'decision deliberation time' (versus the untimed GDT version here). Furthermore, participants do not need to generate long-term decision strategies in the CGT since decisions are based on winning probabilities that change in each trial. The most definitive marker of decision making

impairment in the CGT is a decrease in the number of trials before reaching bankruptcy, i.e., the time when the point capital given in the beginning of the task is spent due to disadvantageous decisions. Simioni and colleagues' patients had longer deliberation times as well as fewer choices of the most favourable odds (similar to the four-number choices in the GDT). However, their overall performance was not lowered nor did they terminate the task earlier. Thus, even though Simioni and others' findings showed that there might be slight alterations in mild RRMS patients' perceptions of emotional states in the context of feedback after decisions in the WOF, these were unaccompanied by changes in physiological responses and did not cause excessive risk taking. Slowing of decision times in the CGT was not accompanied by deterioration of decision performance per se either. My sample had higher levels of disability (all MS patients' mean EDSS= 3.4 ± 1.98), decidedly longer disease duration (15.89 \pm 10.33 years) and EDSS was substantially correlated with GDT performance. Thus, taking Simioni and colleagues' results together with mine, I would argue that mild forms of MS are indeed not substantially affected in decision making under risk.

1.3. Influence of education and premorbid IQ on GDT performance

One potentially protective factor with regard to cognitive functions in the course of neurodegenerative processes is premorbid intelligence/education level ("cognitive reserve capacity") (Stern, 2002). In brief, the term "cognitive reserve" refers to situations when pre-morbidly acquired alternate cognitive strategies or other cognitive resources allow an individual to maintain high performance levels and resilience to neuropathological damage. Thus, in individuals with a high cognitive reserve, the ability to optimize or maximize performance through differential recruitment of alternative brain networks or cognitive strategies is maintained. Premorbid education levels or premorbid IQ estimates are often used to approximate a measure of such cognitive reserve. The RR-1 group had about ten more premorbid IQ points than the other two patient groups and was also educated about a year longer, even though these differences did not reach

significance. Thus, a higher "cognitive reserve" could reasonably be assumed to have driven the non-significant GDT findings in this subgroup.

However, I found no correlations between education/ premorbid IQ and GDT performance in any of the subgroups. Additionally, results from moderated regression analyses demonstrated that even when I accounted for the possible influences of premorbid IQ, the RR-2 and SP subgroups still differed significantly from controls in their GDT net-scores, and the RR-1 subgroup was still not different. Of note here, if anything, the RR-2 subgroup showed a reverse relationship between GDT performance and premorbid IQ in that RR-2 patients with a higher premorbid IQ performed worse than those with a lower premorbid IQ. With regard to education, I did find that the results from the SP group were influenced slightly by their lower education, insofar as their reductions in GDT net-scores became a trend effect after controlling for levels of education. However, GDT performance in the RR-1 group was not influenced by education levels.

Studies using the GDT to investigate decision making in other populations, such as Korsakoff Syndrome (Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005), mild AD (Delazer et al., 2007), binge eating disorder (Svaldi et al., 2010) and ADHD (Matthies, Philipsen, & Svaldi, 2012), have found the GDT to be uncorrelated with levels of education and many GDT studies have also found no significant correlations between the net-score and intelligence (Brand, Franke-Sievert, et al., 2007; Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005; Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004). Two studies (Brand et al., 2008 & 2009) pointed to relationships between premorbid IQ estimates and GDT measures other than the net-score. Of note, a subtest from a German intelligence test battery ("LPS-4" from the Leistungsprüfsystem; Horn et al. (1983) has been used as an premorbid IQestimate in many of the studies by Brand's group. The LPS-4 measures logical thinking/problem solving ability and requires subjects to identify a rule in a series of digits and letters and to indicate the one that violates the rule (e.g., 111-8643-B-920-386-189, where 'B' would be the only letter and correct answer). As such, the LPS-4 measures fluid rather than crystallized/premorbid intelligence as was

assessed in the current study with the verbal subtest of the SILS. Fluid intelligence is highly correlated with age, executive functions, processing speed, and other timed tasks, while crystallized intelligence relies on (life-time) accumulated knowledge and long-term memory (Cattell, 1963). Brand et al. (2008) found that healthy participants' ability to benefit from feedback in the GDT was moderated by fluid intelligence. Similarly, Brand et al. (2009) found a negative relationship between choosing the riskiest (1-number) option in the GDT and fluid intelligence in healthy participants. Although I did not test for all of these relationships, neither net-score, number of shifts, or safe/risky perseverations were correlated with premorbid IQ within controls, all MSpatients, or patient subgroups here, likely because my premorbid IQ measure focused on crystallized (i.e., premorbid) rather than fluid intelligence. It should be noted here that relationships between GDT and age have also been found previously. The largest-scale GDT study in healthy participants across age ranges (N= 538, 18-80 years of age [Brand & Schiebener, 2013]) documented that increasing age will lead to reductions in GDT performance, but only in individuals with lower fluid intelligence levels and in those with lower executive functions. I did not find relationships between GDT and age in my sample, perhaps due to my relatively narrow age range.

An interesting finding bearing some relevance to the somewhat counterintuitive influence of premorbid IQ on GDT performance in the RR-2 group comes from Evans and others (2004). They reported an inverse relationship between education levels and performance in the IGT. In this study, healthy participants with a tertiary education level were outperformed by individuals who had a high-school education and a 14-point lower premorbid IQ in the National Adult Reading Test. However, their sample was quite small, young (<25 years of age), and female only, therefore complicating the interpretation of this finding. Furthermore, there has also been evidence to the contrary, indicating weak but *positive* relationships between education/ premorbid IQ levels and IGT performance (Davis et al.). As the RR-2 sample itself was already quite small with only 9 patients, comparison of high- and low- premorbid IQ RR-2 patients

was not pursued further here. Instead, the main reason for the moderated regression analyses was to show that GDT net-scores remained lowered in RR-2 and SP subgroups, when accounting for their marginally lower education and premorbid IQ levels; this was the case for the RR-2 group, and largely also for the SP group.

1.4. Patterns of GDT impairment in RR-2 and SP patients

Although both RR-2 and SP subgroups demonstrated GDT deficits with regard to overall net-scores (qualified by education levels in SPMS patients), their trial-by-trial performance patterns differed. Compared to controls, the RR-2 subgroup perseverated substantially more on risky choices, whereas the SP subgroup made more frequent shifts between risky and safe decisions.

Shifting decisions between risk levels has been studied in other populations with the GDT. For example, early AD patients (Delazer et al., 2007) with similar net-scores to those of healthy controls were found to make more frequent shifts between risky and safe choices, suggesting that they might be impaired in the development of a consistent decision strategy and more randomness in their choices. I found a similar pattern in the SP group, who showed significantly more shifting between choices, and their safe choices were followed less often by another safe choice, indicating a more random choice behaviour in this subgroup than in the other groups. As the number of shifts in this subgroup was not correlated with other disease-related parameters or cognitive dysfunctions, it is not clear what caused the randomness in their choices. My finding that education did influence GDT net-scores in SP patients only, one may speculate that SP patients perhaps could have optimized their erratic choice strategy with more explicit explanation of the GDT choice probabilities and/or being offered additional trials in the task.

Interestingly, RR-2 patients did not exhibit significantly higher rates of shifting, but instead they perseverated more on risky choices. In fact, RR-2 patients were the only group showing an increased frequency in choosing 2-number combinations, i.e., the second riskiest choice. Previous studies with the

GDT often selectively analyzed 1-number (riskiest) choice frequencies in various patient groups (e.g., Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005; Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004; Brand, Roth-Bauer, et al., 2008; Brand & Schiebener, 2013; Svaldi et al., 2010). Choosing a single number in this task implies a fundamental misunderstanding of the probabilities and a willingness to risk the highest amount of money in the decision trial. I could not find such exaggerated endorsement of single number choices here, but instead increased 2-number combination choices in the RR-2 group. Together with their increased perseveration on risky choices (i.e., 1- and 2-number choices collapsed), the RR-2 group may have misinterpreted 2-number combinations as non-risky choices and therefore had continued to endorse these throughout the task. Again this remains speculative.

2. Correlations with GDT performance

GDT performance was related to information processing speed (SOIP composite score), and not executive functions, in my entire patient sample. However, GDT performance was marginally related to the EF composite score in the RR-2 subgroup only, a relationship that was mainly due to a significant correlation between GDT net-score and WCST performance in the RR-2 group only. Thus, I only found marginal evidence for my hypothesis that deficits in the GDT are related to executive dysfunctions in MS patients. Deficits in information processing speed may seem to play a more dominant role in decision making under risk across subtypes and severity of MS.

2.1. Decision making under risk and speed of information processing

Although models of decision making usually emphasize the role of higherorder executive functions in decision making and decision making under risk in particular (see next section), there are findings that point to a role of more basic speed of information in decision making. For example, a study by Henninger et al. (2010) investigated the relationship between decision making under risk and changes in cognition in *healthy* aging. While older adults made more risky (low-

odds) choices in the CGT than younger adults, this reduction was explained by age-related decrements in processing speed (and memory). Results from one study with MS patients demonstrated that choice deliberation times in the CGT were negatively correlated with a test of processing speed and attention (the PASAT) (Simioni et al., 2012). Jones and others (2011) found in an fMRI study that probing a sense of urgency in a betting game by presenting a ticking clock next to the gamble, evoked recruitment of striatal and insular responses (see also (Mather & Lighthall, 2012), linked to increased selection and behavioural execution of reward-related actions and increased affective processing, respectively, in decisions (i.e., bets) made under time pressure. A large body of research has shown that time-pressure can bias deciders towards riskier choices (e.g., Ahituv, Igbaria, & Sella, 1998; Payne, Bettman, & Luce, 1996; Young, Goodie, Hall, & Wu, 2012) although such effects are qualified by the decision making situation and/or cognitive style of the decision maker (e.g., whether or not the subject is considered to default to making decisions based on objective analysis or intuition [Allinson & Kolcz, 1996; Sarmany-Schuller, 2010]). In neuropsychological contexts, the role of processing speed in decision making under risk has been less often studied than that of executive functions (see below). However, processing speed impairments are usually considered as the primary cognitive deficit in MS (e.g., DeLuca, Chelune, Tulsky, Lengenfelder, & Chiaravalloti, 2004; Demaree, DeLuca, Gaudino, & Diamond, 1999; Denney, Lynch, Parmenter, & Horne, 2004; Diamond, Johnson, Kaufman, & Graves, 2008). Thus, even though the GDT unlike the CGT is *not* a timed task, one could argue that MS-typical decrements in processing speed may have contributed to my findings. In fact, as an alternative to the perspective that processing speed is a distinct and separate hallmark cognitive impairment in MS patients (Archibald et al., 2004; Deloire et al., 2005; Randolph et al., 2005; Rao, 1986), it has been argued that deficits in speed of information processing may be a domain-general deficit that underlies other cognitive impairments in MS patients, including executive dysfunctions and extending even to untimed tasks (De Sonneville et al., 2002; Denney, Hughes, Owens, & Lynch, 2012; Drew, Starkey, & Isler, 2009;

Macniven et al., 2008; Mohr & Cox, 2001). For example, Drew and others (2009) showed that basal processing speed deficits are substantially related to executive functions in MS patients in the D-KEFS battery, especially in but not limited to timed tests with high attentional demands (e.g., switch tasks). Planning aspects in some types of executive function tasks (e.g., Tower of London) have also been found influenced by MS patients' processing speed deficits (Denney et al., 2012). Of note, in some such tests, MS patients may perform as well as healthy controls if they are given enough time to plan their strategy (Denney et al., 2012; Owens, Denney, & Lynch, 2013). Even though the GDT was not administered under any time restriction, some features of the task may induce time pressure and prompt a decision. For example, the GDT presents each trial with a video of a hand shaking the cup with the die and a rattling noise that accompanies this video. While the video is played in a loop until a decision is made, the sound subsides within less than 10 seconds. Thus, the auditory feedback could be interpreted as a prompt to make a decision at the time the sound ends. Therefore, one could speculate that the MS patients, as a whole, perhaps required more time to adequately plan their next decision, and were therefore urged into premature and more risky decisions than the controls. Unfortunately, the GDT version I used did not record decision deliberation times³, but I would expect an even more pronounced difference between patients and controls in such measure.

2.2. Decision making under risk and executive functions

The GDT usually covaries more strongly with the level of executive functions rather than information processing speed (e.g., Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005; Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004). It has been proposed that disturbances in fronto-striatal signalling, especially between striatal and DLPFC regions (Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004) and extensive structural

³ This is mainly for historical reasons. The task was first used in severely compromised patients with alcoholic Korsakoff Syndrome (Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005), who were not able to operate the computer keyboard reliably. Therefore, the experimenters operated the GDT instead of the patients in this study, and the design of the GDT was kept this way in the following years. Newer versions of the task (2011and following) include recordings of reaction times.

damage to the PFC (Euteneuer et al., 2009) may underlie deficits in decision making under risk. In addition, even in healthy participants, non-advantageous decisions under risk in the GDT are related to relatively low performance on tests of executive functions (Brand, Laier, et al., 2009; Schiebener, Zamarian, Delazer, & Brand, 2011). Thus, the trend correlation between EF and the GDT in the RR-2 subgroup was in accordance with these assumptions. The association between GDT and EF in the RR-2 subgroup could be largely attributed to performance in one task score, correct sorts in the WCST. My findings here are nicely mirrored by multiple other studies that have demonstrated that GDT net-score correlates with performance in the MCST (Nelson, 1976) or the WCST (Bagneux et al., 2012; Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005), and implies the involvement of specific executive functions such as categorization and setshifting in the GDT (e.g., Brand, Fujiwara, et al., 2005; Brand, Kalbe, et al., 2005; Brand, Labudda, et al., 2004). Since some of the other measures in my EF composite measure (TOH) correlated (non-significantly) with the GDT net-score in the reverse direction, the emergence of a significant relationship between the tests in the overall EF composite score and the GDT was likely stunted. Thus, measurement issues with the composite scores may have played a role in the precision in my ability to derive a reliable executive function (EF) composite (the inclusion of such artificial TOH time scores to account for patients who did not complete all 3 trials of the task). As mentioned in the Methods section (Section **III-4**), theoretical rather than statistical considerations were employed to group my test scores into composite measures due to the limited sample size. While several timed tasks were grouped into the SOIP, resulting perhaps in a more homogeneous composite score, executive function tests were likely more heterogeneous. It remains possible that a further subdivision of the EF composite into subcomponents would have been more appropriate, although such approach would have imposed reductions in power due to a higher number of corrections for multiple comparisons. In summary, despite my expectation of a correlation between the GDT and executive functions in my sample, based on the relatively higher homogeneity of tests included in the SOIP composite score as well as the

prominence of processing speed deficits in MS in general, processing speed may have been the better indicator of decision making under risk in my sample.

Of note, the marginal correlation between EFs and the GDT in the RR-2 subgroup was also reflected by a subjective measure of executive deficits. This subgroup personally endorsed higher levels of executive dysfunction ("initiate/sustain" factor in the DEX questionnaire). The relationship between the GDT and patients' self-report of their difficulties for "initiating and sustaining actions in the widest sense" (Bodenburg & Dopslaff, 2008, p. 76) in the DEX demonstrates that my MS-patients with objectively impaired executive functions (i.e., the RR-2) demonstrated insight into their executive problems. Other studies have found a relationship between decision making and DEX scores such that MS patients with DEX scores higher than the sample's median showed significantly slower learning (Kleeberg et al., 2004) and riskier decision making in the IGT (Simioni et al., 2008). More broadly, a study by Lima et al. (2007) found that MS patients with higher DEX scores were significantly more cognitively impaired. However, two other studies have found that DEX ratings did not significantly correlate with cognitive performance (Chan, R. C., 2001; Smith, M. M. & Arnett, 2010). These findings indicate that although MS patients may not be considered accurate estimators of all aspects of their cognitive, emotional and behavioural competencies (especially when validated against more objective measures), a subgroup of patients (RR-2 patients) may be experiencing executive deficits and were able to appropriately report them.

Interestingly, in all MS patients, none of my self-report psychosocial questionnaires were related to GDT performance. However, it is worth noting that my patient sample did not report any particularly increased psychosocial symptoms in the first place (other than fatigue, a neuropsychiatric symptom is commonly more severe in this patient population). Nonetheless, the lack of a correlation may indicate that the decision making deficits here were somewhat distinct from mood, fatigue, and perceived physical and cognitive handicap. This may again speak to the greater role of cognition, compared to the influence of emotional aspects, in decision making under risk.

2.3. A role of sample characteristics and disease course?

Compared to the RR-1 and the SP patient subgroups, the RR-2 subgroup was most impaired in the GDT and across all of the composite scores. What could be distinguishing characteristics of the RR-2 patients compared to the RR-1 and SP subgroups? As already argued above, some of the RR-1 patients may be considered to have had a benign subtype of MS, and the SP patients were already in a stable state of disease progression without experiencing any remissions. In this regard, a decision making under ambiguity study by Simioni et al. (2008) found a distinct difference within RRMS patients in executive functions: RRMS patients without recent (>15 months) relapses had higher executive function scores than patients with recent relapses. Although I did not measure relapses in my study, it is possible that the RR-1 subgroup (given their relatively minimal neurological disability, EDSS ≤ 2.5) was somewhat stable in terms of disease progression (i.e., considered to have benign MS), whereas the RR-2 subgroup could be considered less stable (i.e., perhaps experiencing more attacks or episodes) that could have contributed to greater neurological disability and may eventually result in these RR-2 patients' transitioning into a SP subtype. The conversion from a RR to a SP subtype is marked by an increase in cognitive impairment (Benedict, Carone, et al., 2004; Filippi et al., 1994), accompanied with accelerated degeneration of the cerebral GM (Fisher et al., 2008). Perhaps the apparent increase in cognitive dysfunction as well as decision making impairment in the RR-2's may reflect a currently less stable disease state than in both RR-1 and SP patients here.

3. Decision making and MS-related brain atrophy

In accordance with my third hypothesis, GDT performance significantly correlated with linear measurements of brain atrophy in MS patients, indexed by ICD, ICR and TVW. The same measures were also associated with my processing speed.

I calculated four linear atrophy measures including FHW, ICD, ICR and TVW. Such measures have been in use for decades (e.g., Butzkueven et al., 2008;

Caon et al., 2003; Fox, N. C. & Freeborough, 1997; Frisoni et al., 1996; Gomori, Steiner, Melamed, & Cooper, 1984; Scheltens et al., 1992; Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007; Turner et al., 2001) in a variety of neurodegenerative conditions. There is growing importance of assessing neurodegeneration/brain atrophy in addition to focal lesions or total lesion load in MS (see Section II-1.6.1), as well as wide availability of clinical MR scans in MS patients (i.e., scans acquired without specialized MR sequences used in more targeted MR research in MS). Thus, the utility of applying simple linear measures on standard MRs to approximate measures of brain atrophy should not be underestimated (Martola et al., 2008; Nakamura & Fisher, 2009), even though more sophisticated neuroimaging approaches certainly allow further insight into brain structure-function relationships in MS. Two-dimensional measures of brain atrophy are associated with volumetric (3D) measures of whole brain atrophy (Sharma et al., 2004) and can be sensitive to disease progression as well as clinical status (Bermel et al., 2002; Caon et al., 2003; Simon et al., 1999). The TVW and ICR in particular are often associated with cognitive impairment, even when controlling for wholebrain atrophy and lesion load (Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Bermel et al., 2002).

3.1. Neural substrates of decision making in MS

Prior to my study, Roca et al. (2008) had been the only study to investigate any neural substrates of decision making in MS patients. Roca et al. used DTI and a decision making under ambiguity task (the IGT) in a sample of 12 RRMS patients with mild disability (EDSS \leq 1.5) and disease duration (\leq 3 years). Roca and others tested patients' fractional anisotropy (FA) and apparent diffusion coefficients (ADC) in orbitofrontal, fronto-lateral, frontomedial and gyrus cinguli WM, compared to a sample of healthy controls. They did not find significant relationships between the integrity of patients' frontal lobe WM tracts and decision making performance in their small sample. Although one could expect correlations between IGT performance and particularly orbitofrontal WM based on prior IGT findings with VMPFC/OFC lesion patients (Bechara et al., 2000),

MS-patients' decision making impairment emerged in the final block of the task only and not the entire task. That is, those segments of the IGT thought to reflect cognitive/executive aspects of decision making were impaired in this sample, whereas task segments that rely more on feedback-related (VMPFC/OFCdependent) processes, were not (cf. Bechara, 2004; Bechara et al., 2005). In accordance with this finding then, OFC WM diffusivity was not significantly altered in patients (and neither was diffusivity in the cingulate gyrus). Instead, fronto-lateral (and less so, fronto-medial) WM integrity, even though uncorrelated with IGT performance, showed marked decrease in patients. Fronto-lateral WM integrity was further correlated with processing speed and a number of executive functions. Thus, although Roca and others' findings remain elusive with regard to neural substrates of decision making impairment in MS, one could expect that executive rather than emotional deficits were driving patients' deficits in the IGT in their sample. Even though there were no correlations between decision making and any of the DTI measures, finding relationships between processing speed and lateral frontal WM integrity implies a possible disturbance of subcortical-lateral frontal signalling in MS that may also have contributed to the select deficits in later IGT blocks in their sample.

Labudda et al. (2008) showed that an adaptation of the GDT for the use in functional MR imaging was associated with BOLD responses in DLPFC (rather than VMPFC/OFC), along with activations of the posterior parietal and anterior cingulate cortex in healthy elderly individuals. Such activation pattern is in general accordance to findings of associations between GDT and executive functions. Of note, the fMRI adaptation in this study removed the feedback component of the GDT so that neural substrates of choice strategy based on explicitly provided probabilities alone could be investigated. In addition to the DLPFC activation that may have been particularly critical for the executive function component in their study, observing parietal activation could point to an extended network of brain regions involved in decision making with explicit rules, including the fronto-parietal attention network involved in directing attention toward relevant information during other goal-related decision making

processes (Chelazzi, Perlato, Santandrea, & Della Libera, 2013; Kastner & Ungerleider, 2000). Interestingly, a follow-up study with the same modified GDT (a version of the GDT without feedback) in cognitively-intact PD patients found reductions in BOLD responses in patients only in parietal cortical regions (Labudda et al., 2010). Pathology in subcortical (nigra-striatal) structures is a core feature of PD (Stoessl, 2012), but engagement of activity in such regions was deliberately avoided by omitting the reward-related aspects of the task, regions that would presumably involve subcortical reward-circuitry. The remaining activity differences between PD patients and controls in Labudda et al. (2010) were confined to the parietal portions of the fronto-parietal attention network, areas found to be involved in this GDT variant in controls (Labudda et al., (2008).

That is, similar to my results, the sensitivity of some aspects of the GDT to processing speed/attention, in addition to executive functions, seems mirrored by these previous findings. Of note, the fronto-parietal attention network also incorporates subcortical brain regions (i.e., the thalamus, basal ganglia) (Stoessl, 2012) that are implicated in a variety of neurodegenerative disorders including MS (Faivre et al., 2012; Mesaros et al., 2008; Morgen et al., 2007; Sperling et al., 2001). The caudate nucleus specifically might be responsible for coordinating sensorimotor information, such as initiating and selecting an appropriate response (Grahn, Parkinson, & Owen, 2008). Grahn et al. (2008) also propose that the caudate nucleus, based on an assessment of action-outcomes, may contribute to goal-directed behaviour through the instigation of action sequences to meet the larger goal of a given activity or task. The caudate also seems to be involved in the reinforcement of an action (Grahn et al., 2008). The thalamus is involved in integrating both sensory and motor inputs from numerous cortical areas and then selectively gating and disinhibiting processes in the prefrontal cortex (Narayanan, 2003). Perhaps atrophy of these subcortical regions (indexed by enlarged ICD, ICR and TVW) might have led to a disruption of the subcortico-fronto-parietal attention network involved in explicit decision making. Additionally controlling for the contribution of processing speed in the atrophy-GDT correlations rendered these correlations insignificant or trend effects. That is, much of the GDT-atrophy

correlations were driven by processing speed. However, trend effects were still present (between ICR [p<0.08]/TVW [p<0.09] and GDT). Thus, aspects of the GDT other than processing speed/attention-related aspects (e.g., reward –related elements), still presented here and a larger sample size may well have rendered these trends significant.

Taken together, the observed correlations between GDT and processing speed deficits on the one hand, as well as shared correlations of both GDT and processing speed with ICD, ICR and TVW on the other, could indicate dysfunction in thalamo-cortical and attention network areas underlying decision making under risk in my the MS patients here. Elements specific to the GDT and not subsumed under processing speed/attention were likely present, but their precise cortical/subcortical representation remains to be tested further in MS.

3.2. Ventricular enlargement and cognition in MS

Linear measurements of ventricular enlargement can accompany disease severity/progression in MS patients (e.g., Bermel et al., 2002; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Caon et al., 2003; Martola et al., 2008; Simon et al., 1999) and can also serve as indicators of cognitive dysfunction (e.g., Beatty & Goodkin, 1990; Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Berg, D. et al., 2000; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Martola et al., 2008; Simon et al., 1999). In my study, among four linear measures, ICD, ICR and TVW significantly correlated with the speed of information processing composite score in MS patients. Both ICD and ICR (also known as the "bicaudate ratio [BCR]") were related to information processing speed in previous studies (e.g., Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Bermel et al., 2002). Other studies have also found TVW and cognition to be highly related in MS patients (Benedict, Bruce, et al., 2006; Benedict, Weinstock-Guttman, et al., 2004; Sanchez et al., 2008; Tiemann et al., 2009). For example, TVW has been shown to be a strong indicator of intellectual and memory dysfunction (Rao et al., 1985). We did not find correlations between memory and any of the atrophy measures; perhaps due to our linear measures not being sensitive to the neural correlates of memory.

More similar to my results, thalamic atrophy has been related to impaired processing speed/working memory in MS patients (Houtchens et al., 2007). Since the thalamus is in close proximity to the third ventricle (e.g., Benedict, Carone, et al., 2004; Houtchens et al., 2007), therefore, my finding of a correlation between TVW and reduced processing speed is reassuring. Notably, standard neuropsychological tests are more sensitive to GM than WM changes. However, information processing speed requires integration of information between GM regions along WM tracts (Penke et al., 2012). Further study of WM-specific changes in MS and their correlations with processing speed deficits is therefore worthwhile pursuing.

FHW did not significantly correlate with decision making or any of my cognitive scores. The FHW is an anatomically large, complex and irregularly shaped structure, and therefore, it may be particularly sensitive to the effects of inter-individual variability rather than the effects of disease progression alone. Previous MS studies have also found FHW insensitive to disease progression and associated dysfunctions, especially in comparison to the usefulness of TVW (Berg, D. et al., 2000; Butzkueven et al., 2008; Simon et al., 1999). Although I had hypothesized that executive functions would be related to GDT performance, I did not see robust correlations with my EF composite score and GDT in my entire sample. Thus, given the lack of a correlation between the GDT and EF across all patients, it was not surprising that FHW did not emerge as the most relevant indicator of decision making in my sample. Additionally, FHW was also not significantly related to disease-related variables.

There was a marginal correlation between EDSS and ICR. ICR has been reported to be a sensitive indicator of MS disease progression as well as severity of associated disability (EDSS) (cf. Rao et al., 1985). For example, Caon and others (2003) found strong correlations between ICR and EDSS in a larger sample (n= 190) of MS patients. Butzkueven et al. (2008) found moderate correlations between the EDSS and the ICD (as a reminder, the ICD measure is represented in the ICR measure) in their RRMS patient sample, a correlation that was maintained over the course of 4 years and as the patients' disease and disability

continued to worsen. I also found a significant correlation between TVW and disease duration. A study by Wzylezinska et al. (2003) found that thalamic volume was negatively correlated with disease duration in RRMS patients. Interestingly, ICR was marginally related to EDSS, while TVW was marginally related to age of disease onset and significantly related to disease duration. These differences might suggest that ICR and TVW are differentially sensitive to distinct and separate aspects of disease progression/status. The predominance of motor components in the EDSS may have increased correlations between linear measures that provide a better estimate of basal ganglia-associated atrophy (i.e., neurological and motor deficits), than the thalamus-associated (TVW) measure.

It should be mentioned that I controlled for sex and age and in my correlations involving the linear measures (Raz & Lindenberger, 2010; Salonen et al., 1997). Age was controlled for since volume reductions in the whole or specific parts of the brain are a part of normal aging (e.g., Ge et al., 2001), and to disentangle the confounding effects of age and disease duration. Normal age-related thalamic reductions (Sullivan, Rosenbloom, Serventi, & Pfefferbaum, 2004), for example, are associated with cognitive slowing (Van Der Werf et al., 2001). Additionally, I controlled for sex to account for possible differences in skull sizes between males and females (Jensen & Johnson, 1994). ⁴

Finally, I should note that ICD was marginally different and ICR was significantly different between the patient subgroups. Therefore, the ICR was useful to distinguish subgroups here. Although a few studies found a lack of sensitivity of linear atrophy measures to MS *subtype* (RRMS, SPMS and PPMS) and disease progression/disability (Fox, N. C. et al., 2000; Kalkers et al., 2002; Martola et al., 2008), Benedict et al. (2006) found that central atrophy was greater in RR patients, and significantly greater still in SP MS patients, as compared to healthy controls. In an effort to preserve statistical power in the partial

⁴ Of note, the ICR takes skull size into account by adjusting the ICD by the transverse width of the brain. Partial correlations involving the ICR might therefore have been over-corrected. Recalculating all partial correlations between ICR, disease parameters, and cognition (including GDT) as simple Pearson correlations (not correcting for age or sex) gave very similar or stronger results. For consistency with the other atrophy measures, partial correlations are reported here.

correlations between atrophy measures and disease parameters/cognition had to include the entire patient sample here. Future studies with larger sample sizes in patient subgroups should be conducted to delineate whether there might be a differential sensitivity for certain atrophy measures to covary with disease parameters/ cognition in specific MS subtypes.

4. Study limitations

There are a few limitations to my study. One limitation was my small sample size, especially for my patient subgroup analyses (i.e., when I compared the controls with RR-1, RR-2 and SP separately). These analyses were conceived of after I had started collecting data, and therefore in future studies should be accommodated in advance to ensure equal distribution of participants across groups and larger subgroups overall. I should mention here though that apart from Simioni et al.'s studies (2008: n=165; follow-up study of a sub-sample of the same patients in 2009: n= 70; 2012: 2012: n=72, with an undeclared relationship to their prior samples), my overall sample size with 32 patients was larger than samples in other decision making studies in MS.

As previously mentioned, the generation of composite scores of neuropsychological performance was driven by theoretical considerations, since my healthy control sample was not sufficiently large to accommodate more sophisticated statistical approaches (such as principal component or factor analyses). Such derivation of composite scores does involve some subjective assignment by the researchers and can be biased. For example, there can be shared functional involvement of tests across composite scores although each test is only counted towards one composite score. A lack of involvement of theoretically meaningful tests within certain composite scores can also occur (e.g., as was found for the TOH time-to-completion variable within the EF composite score), as well as an overrepresentation of certain tests within composite scores (e.g., the SRT being the only memory measure). Again, a larger sample, including a higher number of healthy controls could overcome some such limitations, in addition to a more comprehensive cognitive battery spanning additional cognitive domains (e.g., visual memory).

It should also be mentioned explicitly here that the GDT is a laboratory test of decision making abilities; the test is not necessarily reflective of the "riskiness" of a participant's decisions on a daily basis, and cannot be generalized to assume an individual will always perform in this manner when making all decisions. Factors like experience, emotional state, external factors, incentives, available feedback, etc., in addition to one's cognitive abilities, will influence decision making in the real world (and many of these variables are controlled or reduced in a test setting such as here).

With regard to an unexplored factor that may have influenced cognitive performance in my study, patients' medications should be considered. The majority of CNS-active drugs are known to have an effect on cognition, but it is difficult to determine *additional* cognitive dysfunctions caused by medications in individuals who already experience some cognitive impairment (i.e., MS patients) (see Oken et al., 2006) for a study of the effects of CNS-active medications on cognition in MS patients). As described in the Participants Section III-1 (see also **Table III-5**), I had originally intended to exclude psychotropic drugs (e.g., benzodiazepines and anticonvulsants). During recruitment, I had to broaden this exclusion criterion, due to the clinical reality that very few patients in more advanced disease stages (i.e., SPMS patients) are free of any such medications. Since type/dosage of medications and MS severity/subtype are usually confounded, I abstained from further analysis of cognitive performance as a function of medication here. Even if I had attempted such breakdown, the extent that a given medication had potentially influenced cognitive performance would still be obscure, since I would have had no baseline measure (without medication). Instead I provided a detailed, qualitative overview on patients' current medications (see Table III-5).

A few limitations with regard to the structural MR measures should be mentioned. First, images were obtained for MS patients and control patients, but

not for healthy controls. Although I was able to compare the linear measurements between two groups in order to establish evidence of the effect of MS-related pathology on ventricular enlargement, I could not analyze the relationship between cognition and brain atrophy in any sample other than my MS patients. Also, a closer matching between scan acquisition and test date for my MS patients would be desirable (our acquisition time ranged from 3 weeks to 31 months; mean=42.51 weeks). Moreover, given that I used clinical MR scans, the scan protocols as well as scanner hardware differed across patients, and this could introduce noise into my linear measures (although most were standard clinical scans with 5 mm slice thickness acquired with a 1.5 Tesla magnetic field strength). Scheduling a more standardized MR session closer to the test session would increase my methodological precision in this regard. Finally, the use of a manual procedure to obtain the linear measurements can reduce the reproducibility of the measures, even if, as here, intra-rater reliability may be high and average scores across multiple measurement time points are used. Additional application of automated (rather than manual) segmentation procedures are of particular value to avoid issues with reliability, although these methods are associated with other problems (e.g., tissue misclassification issues in the presence of MS-specific lesions) (cf. Bermel & Bakshi, 2006).

5. Future directions

There are a few future directions that I can suggest based on my results and previous results from other studies. I observed most pronounced deficits in the RR-2 group and suggested that this might have been related to the fact of impending conversion to the SP disease course. Thus, a longitudinal follow-up of my MS patients' decision making abilities would be worthwhile. Since only one longitudinal study about MS patients' decision making abilities has been conducted, using the IGT (Simioni et al., 2009), a longitudinal MS-study on decision making under risk, ideally including measures of neurodegenerative changes, would be a valuable addition to the existing literature. A more sophisticated assessment of MS-related brain changes as they relate to decision

making deficits would also be most valuable, considering the relatively coarse measure of atrophy I used here.

No decision making study thus far has currently recruited PPMS patients, likely because only about 10-15% of all MS patients are of the PP subtype. Including PPMS patients, to a RR and SP patient sample, would allow me to test differences in decision making across the three subtypes, types that differ with regard to epidemiology, disease outcome/prognosis, MRI and neuropathological findings, as well as clinical outcomes (Lucchinetti et al., 2000; Thompson et al., 1991; Thompson et al., 1997). The precise differences in cognitive impairment between PPMS and SPMS patients are debated. Both may be equally cognitively impaired and more substantially so than RRMS patients (Potagas et al., 2008; Ukkonen, Vahvelainen, Hamalainen, Dastidar, & Elovaara, 2009). However, as the process of conversion from RR to SPMS involves both negative effects of repeat relapses in addition to steady disease progression/ neurodegeneration (Bramow et al., 2010), SPMS patients may show even more pronounced cognitive impairment than PPMS. A possible differentiating finding within cognitive deficits across the two progressive MS subtypes refers to the preferential involvement of the spinal cord and subcortical brain areas in PPMS, and this may account for an even greater impairment in motor and information processing speed in PPMS than in SPMS (Huijbregts et al., 2004) (but see Denney, Sworowski, & Lynch, 2005). As the GDT was related to speed of information processing in my sample, patients with PPMS patients might be particularly vulnerable also to GDT deficits, but this remains to be tested.

Additionally, future studies could assess and compare both decision making under risk and decision making under ambiguity in MS patients by including the GDT and the IGT. Administering the IGT and GDT together could disentangle the extent that emotional and/or cognitive aspects of decision making are implicated in MS and how these relate to one another. An interesting addition would also be a GDT version without the feedback component. Both IGT and GDT contain emotional and cognitive elements of decision making. The GDT allows cognitive development of decision strategies based on explicit rules, but

this process is supplemented by the display of rewarding or punishing feedback. In comparison, the IGT does not provide rules but only feedback instead. However, once decision rules are acquired, IGT performance relies on cognitive/executive functions. Thus, eliminating the feedback component from the GDT, as was done in other non-MS studies (Brand, 2008; Brand, Laier, et al., 2009; Brand, Pawlikowski, et al., 2009), isolates processes of decision making that are based on executive/cognitive functions alone. Including such a version of the GDT, ideally along with the IGT and the conventional GDT, would increase the level of precision in assessing mechanisms of decision making deficits across different subtypes of MS, (un-) related to disability, cognitive impairment, neuropsychiatric changes, as well as brain changes. To give a simplistic example, if cognitive dysfunctions dominate risky decision making, one would expect that MS patients are most impaired in both versions of the GDT, especially the GDT without feedback, but less so in the IGT. However, if emotional dysfunctions dominate decision making, strongest impairment should emerge in the IGT, followed by standard GDT, and least impairment in the GDT without feedback.

6. Conclusions

MS has a heterogeneous pathology, with approximately 50% patients experiencing cognitive deficits (Arnett & Strober, 2011). Cognitive deficits have been reported across all disease stages and subtypes. Decision making, an important part of daily living that may affect the quality of life of MS patients, has never been studied in this population using the GDT, a task that measures decision making under risk. This type of decision making has been more definitively related to cognitive/executive dysfunctions in other patient samples, compared to the more commonly studied decision making under ambiguity, assessed with the IGT. I found GDT decision making impairments in a sample of MS patients, composed of both the RR and SP subtype, with a wide range of neurological disability and long disease duration. Decision making performance was related to neurological disability and disease severity (i.e., EDSS). Specifically, compared to controls, GDT impairment was confined to the two

more disabled MS patient subgroups RR-2 and SP, while the relatively more cognitively and neurologically-preserved patients from the RR-1 subgroup were unimpaired. Unlike other studies that have found the GDT to be related to other cognitive/executive measures, only the RR-2 patients showed a trend correlation between decision making and executive functions, while decision making in the entire patient group correlated with processing speed. MS patients' and control patients' brain atrophy was studied with linear measurements of ventricular enlargement on clinical MRI images. Central atrophy measures (ICD/ICR) differentiated the groups, and ICD, ICR and TVW showed significant correlations with processing speed in MS patients. The same measures were also correlated with GDT performance. Given that the GDT requires a subject to integrate, plan and execute a series of decisions based on explicit rules and probabilities for how to achieve a desired outcome, the decision making process may depend on both subcortical and cortical structures as well as the WM pathways of corticosubcortico-frontal and parietal networks. Therefore, in my MS patient sample, advantageous decision making may be related to multiple brain areas, with a particular emphasis on subcortical structures neighbouring the basal ganglia (i.e., caudate regions) and the third ventricle (i.e., thalamic regions). Since MS patients' speed of processing deficits and neurodegeneration were both related to impaired decision making, the GDT may be considered an indicator of two hallmark consequences of MS pathology.

By examining the qualitative differences in decision making impairments associated with different MS patient subtypes and levels of disability, I have gained valuable information regarding the underlying neural basis of decision making and the involvement of cognitive aspects. These results could guide the development of specific treatment options, such as training of functions like behaviour planning, monitoring, and use of performance feedback to incite greater independence, autonomy, safety and quality of life for MS patients.

REFERENCES

- Achiron, A., & Barak, Y. (2003). Cognitive impairment in probable multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 74(4), 443-446.
- Ahituv, N., Igbaria, M., & Sella, A. (1998). The effects of time pressure and completeness of information on decision making. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 15(2), 153-172.
- Albin, R.L., Young, A.B., & Penney, J.B. (1989). The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *12*(10), 366-375.
- Allinson, N.M., & Kolcz, A. (1996). N-tuple Regression Network. Neural Networks, 9(5), 855-869.
- Alonso, A., & Hernan, M.A. (2008). Temporal trends in the incidence of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Neurology*, 71(2), 129-135.
- Amato, M.P., Bartolozzi, M.L., Zipoli, V., Portaccio, E., Mortilla, M., Guidi, L., et al. (2004). Neocortical volume decrease in relapsing-remitting MS patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 63(1), 89-93.
- Amato, M.P., & De Stefano, N. (2007). Longitudinal follow-up of "benign" multiple sclerosis at 20 years. *Neurology*, 69(9), 938; author reply 938-939.
- Amato, M.P., Ponziani, G., Rossi, F., Liedl, C.L., Stefanile, C., & Rossi, L. (2001). Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: the impact of depression, fatigue and disability. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 7(5), 340-344.
- Amato, M.P., Portaccio, E., Goretti, B., Zipoli, V., Battaglini, M., Bartolozzi, M.L., et al. (2007). Association of neocortical volume changes with cognitive deterioration in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Archives* of Neurology, 64(8), 1157-1161.
- Amato, M.P., Portaccio, E., Goretti, B., Zipoli, V., Hakiki, B., Giannini, M., et al. (2010). Cognitive impairment in early stages of multiple sclerosis. *Neurological Sciences*, 31(Suppl 2):S2, 11-4.
- Amato, M.P., Portaccio, E., Stromillo, M.L., Goretti, B., Zipoli, V., Siracusa, G., et al. (2008). Cognitive assessment and quantitative magnetic resonance metrics can help to identify benign multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 71(9), 632-638.
- Amato, M.P., Zipoli, V., Goretti, B., Portaccio, E., De Caro, M.F., Ricchiuti, L., et al. (2006). Benign multiple sclerosis: cognitive, psychological and social aspects in a clinical cohort. *Journal of Neurology*, 253(8), 1054-1059.
- Amato, M.P., Zipoli, V., & Portaccio, E. (2008). Cognitive changes in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 8(10), 1585-1596.
- Archibald, C.J., Wei, X., Scott, J.N., Wallace, C.J., Zhang, Y., Metz, L.M., et al. (2004). Posterior fossa lesion volume and slowed information processing in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 127(Pt 7), 1526-1534.
- Arnett, P.A., Barwick, F.H., & Beeney, J.E. (2008). Depression in multiple sclerosis: review and theoretical proposal. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(5), 691-724.

- Arnett, P.A., Rao, S.M., Bernardin, L., Grafman, J., Yetkin, F.Z., & Lobeck, L. (1994). Relationship between frontal lobe lesions and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test performance in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 44(3 Pt 1), 420-425.
- Arnett, P.A., Rao, S.M., Grafman, J., Bernardin, L., Luchetta, T., Binder, J.R., et al. (1997). Executive functions in multiple sclerosis: an analysis of temporal ordering, semantic encoding, and planning abilities. *Neuropsychology*, 11(4), 535-544.
- Arnett, P.A., & Strober, L.B. (2011). Cognitive and neurobehavioral features in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 11(3), 411-424.
- Ascherio, A., & Munger, K.L. (2007). Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part I: the role of infection. *Annals of Neurology*, 61(4), 288-299.
- Aupperle, R.L., Beatty, W.W., Shelton Fde, N., & Gontkovsky, S.T. (2002). Three screening batteries to detect cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 8(5), 382-389.
- Bagnato, F., Salman, Z., Kane, R., Auh, S., Cantor, F.K., Ehrmantraut, M., et al. (2010). T1 cortical hypointensities and their association with cognitive disability in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 16(10), 1203-1212.
- Bagneux, V., Bollon, T., & Dantzer, C. (2012). Do (un)certainty appraisal tendencies reverse the influence of emotions on risk taking in sequential tasks? *Cognition & Emotion*, 26(3), 568-576.
- Bakshi, R., Benedict, R.H., Bermel, R.A., & Jacobs, L. (2001). Regional brain atrophy is associated with physical disability in multiple sclerosis: semiquantitative magnetic resonance imaging and relationship to clinical findings. *Journal of Neuroimaging*, *11*(2), 129-136.
- Bakshi, R., Dmochowski, J., Shaikh, Z.A., & Jacobs, L. (2001). Gray matter T2 hypointensity is related to plaques and atrophy in the brains of multiple sclerosis patients. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *185*(1), 19-26.
- Banati, M., Sandor, J., Mike, A., Illes, E., Bors, L., Feldmann, A., et al. (2010). Social cognition and Theory of Mind in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology*, 17(3), 426-433.
- Barkhof, F. (2002). The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, *15*(3), 239-245.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Jolliffe, T., Mortimore, C., & Robertson, M. (1997). Another advanced test of theory of mind: evidence from very high functioning adults with autism or asperger syndrome. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 38*(7), 813-822.
- Barrash, J., Anderson, S.W., Jones, R.D., Wefel, J.S., & Tranel, D. (1997). Iowa scales of personality change: reliability and validity. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *3*, 27-28.
- Bartholomew, D.J., Steele, F., Galbraith, J., & Moustaki, I. (2008). Analysis of Multivariate Social Science Data. Statistics in the Social and Behavioral Sciences Series (2nd ed.): Taylor & Francis.
- Batista, S., Zivadinov, R., Hoogs, M., Bergsland, N., Heininen-Brown, M., Dwyer, M., et al. (2012). Basal ganglia, thalamus and neocortical atrophy

predicting slowed cognitive processing in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 259(1), 139-146.

- Beatty, W.W., & Goodkin, D.E. (1990). Screening for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. An evaluation of the Mini-Mental State Examination. *Archives of Neurology*, 47(3), 297-301.
- Beatty, W.W., Goodkin, D.E., Hertsgaard, D., & Monson, N. (1990). Clinical and demographic predictors of cognitive performance in multiple sclerosis. Do diagnostic type, disease duration, and disability matter? *Archives of Neurology*, 47(3), 305-308.
- Beatty, W.W., Paul, R.H., Wilbanks, S.L., Hames, K.A., Blanco, C.R., & Goodkin, D.E. (1995). Identifying multiple sclerosis patients with mild or global cognitive impairment using the Screening Examination for Cognitive Impairment (SEFCI). *Neurology*, 45(4), 718-723.
- Beatty, W.W., Wilbanks, S.L., Blanco, C.R., Hames, K.A., Tivis, R., & Paul, R.H. (1996). Memory disturbance in multiple sclerosis: reconsideration of patterns of performance on the selective reminding test. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 18(1), 56-62.
- Bechara, A. (2004). The role of emotion in decision-making: evidence from neurological patients with orbitofrontal damage. *Brain and Cognition*, 55(1), 30-40.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, A.R., Damasio, H., & Anderson, S.W. (1994). Insensitivity to future consequences following damage to human prefrontal cortex. *Cognition*, *50*(1-3), 7-15.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., & Damasio, A.R. (2003). Role of the amygdala in decision-making. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 985, 356-369.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Damasio, A.R., & Lee, G.P. (1999). Different contributions of the human amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex to decision-making. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(13), 5473-5481.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., & Anderson, S.W. (1998). Dissociation of working memory from decision making within the human prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 428-437.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., & Damasio, A.R. (1997). Deciding advantageously before knowing the advantageous strategy. *Science*, 275(5304), 1293-1295.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., & Damasio, A.R. (2005). The Iowa Gambling Task and the somatic marker hypothesis: some questions and answers. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, 9(4), 159-162; discussion 162-154.
- Bechara, A., Tranel, D., & Damasio, H. (2000). Characterization of the decisionmaking deficit of patients with ventromedial prefrontal cortex lesions. *Brain*, 123(Pt 11), 2189-2202.
- Bechara, A., Tranel, D., Damasio, H., & Damasio, A.R. (1996). Failure to respond autonomically to anticipated future outcomes following damage to prefrontal cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 6(2), 215-225.
- Bendfeldt, K., Hofstetter, L., Kuster, P., Traud, S., Mueller-Lenke, N., Naegelin, Y., et al. (2012). Longitudinal gray matter changes in multiple sclerosis-
differential scanner and overall disease-related effects. *Human Brain Mapping*, *33*(5), 1225-1245.

- Benedict, R.H., Bruce, J.M., Dwyer, M.G., Abdelrahman, N., Hussein, S., Weinstock-Guttman, B., et al. (2006). Neocortical atrophy, third ventricular width, and cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 63(9), 1301-1306.
- Benedict, R.H., Carone, D.A., & Bakshi, R. (2004). Correlating brain atrophy with cognitive dysfunction, mood disturbances, and personality disorder in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroimaging*, 14(3 Suppl), 36S-45S.
- Benedict, R.H., Cookfair, D., Gavett, R., Gunther, M., Munschauer, F., Garg, N., et al. (2006). Validity of the minimal assessment of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis (MACFIMS). *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 12(4), 549-558.
- Benedict, R.H., Fischer, J.S., Archibald, C.J., Arnett, P.A., Beatty, W.W., Bobholz, J., et al. (2002). Minimal neuropsychological assessment of MS patients: a consensus approach. *Clinical Neuropsychology*, 16(3), 381-397.
- Benedict, R.H., Hulst, H.E., Bergsland, N., Schoonheim, M.M., Dwyer, M.G., Weinstock-Guttman, B., et al. (2013). Clinical significance of atrophy and white matter mean diffusivity within the thalamus of multiple sclerosis patients. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1177/1352458513478675
- Benedict, R.H., Ramasamy, D., Munschauer, F., Weinstock-Guttman, B., & Zivadinov, R. (2009). Memory impairment in multiple sclerosis: correlation with deep grey matter and mesial temporal atrophy. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 80(2), 201-206.
- Benedict, R.H., Wahlig, E., Bakshi, R., Fishman, I., Munschauer, F., Zivadinov, R., et al. (2005). Predicting quality of life in multiple sclerosis: accounting for physical disability, fatigue, cognition, mood disorder, personality, and behavior change. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 231(1-2), 29-34.
- Benedict, R.H., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Fishman, I., Sharma, J., Tjoa, C.W., & Bakshi, R. (2004). Prediction of neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis: comparison of conventional magnetic resonance imaging measures of atrophy and lesion burden. *Archives of Neurology*, 61(2), 226-230.
- Benedict, R.H., & Zivadinov, R. (2006). Predicting neuropsychological abnormalities in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 245(1-2), 67-72.
- Benedict, R.H., Zivadinov, R., Carone, D.A., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Gaines, J., Maggiore, C., et al. (2005). Regional lobar atrophy predicts memory impairment in multiple sclerosis. *AJNR. American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 26(7), 1824-1831.
- Berg, D., Maurer, M., Warmuth-Metz, M., Rieckmann, P., & Becker, G. (2000). The correlation between ventricular diameter measured by transcranial sonography and clinical disability and cognitive dysfunction in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 57(9), 1289-1292.

- Berg, E.A. (1948). A simple objective technique for measuring flexibility in thinking. *Journal of General Psychology*, *39*, 15-22.
- Bermel, R.A., & Bakshi, R. (2006). The measurement and clinical relevance of brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurology*, *5*(2), 158-170.
- Bermel, R.A., Bakshi, R., Tjoa, C.W., Puli, S.R., & Jacobs, L. (2002). Bicaudate ratio as a magnetic resonance imaging marker of brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, *59*(2), 275-280.
- Bermel, R.A., Innus, M.D., Tjoa, C.W., & Bakshi, R. (2003). Selective caudate atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a 3D MRI parcellation study. *Neuroreport*, 14(3), 335-339.
- Bertoux, M., Funkiewiez, A., O'Callaghan, C., Dubois, B., & Hornberger, M. (2012). Sensitivity and specificity of ventromedial prefrontal cortex tests in behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia. *Alzheimers & Dementia*, pii: *S1552-5260*(12), 02499-0245. Advance publication. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.09.010.
- Bester, M., Lazar, M., Petracca, M., Babb, J.S., Herbert, J., Grossman, R.I., et al. (2013). Tract-specific white matter correlates of fatigue and cognitive impairment in benign multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 330(1-2), 61-66.
- Bo, L., Geurts, J.J., van der Valk, P., Polman, C., & Barkhof, F. (2007). Lack of correlation between cortical demyelination and white matter pathologic changes in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, *64*(1), 76-80.
- Bodenburg, S., & Dopslaff, N. (2008). The Dysexecutive Questionnaire advanced: item and test score characteristics, 4-factor solution, and severity classification. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 196(1), 75-78.
- Bolla, K.I., Eldreth, D.A., Matochik, J.A., & Cadet, J.L. (2005). Neural substrates of faulty decision-making in abstinent marijuana users. *Neuroimage*, 26(2), 480-492.
- Bonati, U., Fisniku, L.K., Altmann, D.R., Yiannakas, M.C., Furby, J., Thompson, A.J., et al. (2011). Cervical cord and brain grey matter atrophy independently associate with long-term MS disability. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 82(4), 471-472.
- Borkowski, J.G., Benton, A.L., & Spreen, O. (1967). Word fluency and brain damage. *Neuropsychologia*, 5(2), 135-140.
- Bramow, S., Frischer, J.M., Lassmann, H., Koch-Henriksen, N., Lucchinetti, C.F., Sorensen, P.S., et al. (2010). Demyelination versus remyelination in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain, 133*(10), 2983-2998.
- Brand, M. (2008). Does the feedback from previous trials influence current decisions? A study on the role of feedback processing in making decisions under explicit risk conditions. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 2(2), 431-443.
- Brand, M., Franke-Sievert, C., Jacoby, G.E., Markowitsch, H.J., & Tuschen-Caffier, B. (2007). Neuropsychological correlates of decision making in patients with bulimia nervosa. *Neuropsychology*, 21(6), 742-750.
- Brand, M., Fujiwara, E., Borsutzky, S., Kalbe, E., Kessler, J., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2005). Decision-making deficits of Korsakoff patients in a new

gambling task with explicit rules: associations with executive functions. *Neuropsychology*, *19*(3), 267-277.

- Brand, M., Grabenhorst, F., Starcke, K., Vandekerckhove, M.M., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2007). Role of the amygdala in decisions under ambiguity and decisions under risk: evidence from patients with Urbach-Wiethe disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(6), 1305-1317.
- Brand, M., Greco, R., Schuster, A., Kalbe, E., Fujiwara, E., Markowitsch, H.J., et al. (2002). The game of dice a new test for the assessment of risktaking behavior. *Neurorehabilitation & Neural Repair*, *16*, 142-143.
- Brand, M., Heinze, K., Labudda, K., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2008). The role of strategies in deciding advantageously in ambiguous and risky situations. *Cognitive Processing*, 9(3), 159-173.
- Brand, M., Kalbe, E., Kracht, L.W., Riebel, U., Munch, J., Kessler, J., et al. (2004). Organic and psychogenic factors leading to executive dysfunctions in a patient suffering from surgery of a colloid cyst of the Foramen of Monro. *Neurocase*, 10(6), 420-425.
- Brand, M., Kalbe, E., Labudda, K., Fujiwara, E., Kessler, J., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2005). Decision-making impairments in patients with pathological gambling. *Psychiatry Research*, 133(1), 91-99.
- Brand, M., Labudda, K., Kalbe, E., Hilker, R., Emmans, D., Fuchs, G., et al. (2004). Decision-making impairments in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Behavioural Neurology*, 15(3-4), 77-85.
- Brand, M., Labudda, K., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2006). Neuropsychological correlates of decision-making in ambiguous and risky situations. *Neural Networks*, 19(8), 1266-1276.
- Brand, M., Laier, C., Pawlikowski, M., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2009). Decision making with and without feedback: the role of intelligence, strategies, executive functions, and cognitive styles. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 31(8), 984-998.
- Brand, M., Pawlikowski, M., Labudda, K., Laier, C., von Rothkirch, N., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2009). Do amnesic patients with Korsakoff's syndrome use feedback when making decisions under risky conditions? An experimental investigation with the Game of Dice Task with and without feedback. *Brain and Cognition*, 69(2), 279-290.
- Brand, M., Recknor, E.C., Grabenhorst, F., & Bechara, A. (2007). Decisions under ambiguity and decisions under risk: correlations with executive functions and comparisons of two different gambling tasks with implicit and explicit rules. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 29(1), 86-99.
- Brand, M., Roth-Bauer, M., Driessen, M., & Markowitsch, H.J. (2008). Executive functions and risky decision-making in patients with opiate dependence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *97*(1-2), 64-72.
- Brand, M., & Schiebener, J. (2013). Interactions of age and cognitive functions in predicting decision making under risky conditions over the life span. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *35*(1), 9-23.

- Brennan, C., Worrall-Davies, A., McMillan, D., Gilbody, S., & House, A. (2010). The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale: a diagnostic meta-analysis of case-finding ability. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 69(4), 371-378.
- Bronnum-Hansen, H., Koch-Henriksen, N., & Stenager, E. (2004). Trends in survival and cause of death in Danish patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *127*(Pt 4), 844-850.
- Brownell, B., & Hughes, J.T. (1962). The distribution of plaques in the cerebrum in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 25, 315-320.
- Buckley, M.J., Mansouri, F.A., Hoda, H., Mahboubi, M., Browning, P.G., Kwok, S.C., et al. (2009). Dissociable components of rule-guided behavior depend on distinct medial and prefrontal regions. *Science*, *325*(5936), 52-58.
- Buelow, M.T., & Suhr, J.A. (2009). Construct validity of the Iowa Gambling Task. *Neuropsychology Review*, 19(1), 102-114.
- Burgess, P.W., Alderman, N., Wilson, B.A., Evans, J.J., & Emslie, H. (1996). The Dysexecutive Questionnaire. In B. A. Wilson, N. Alderman, P. W. Burgess, H. Emslie & J. J. Evans (Eds.), *Behavioural assessment of the dysexecutive syndrome*. Bury St. Edmunds, U.K: Thames Valley Test Company.
- Butzkueven, H., Kolbe, S.C., Jolley, D.J., Brown, J.Y., Cook, M.J., van der Mei, I.A.F., et al. (2008). Validation of linear cerebral atrophy markers in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience*, 15(2), 130-137.
- Calabrese, M., Agosta, F., Rinaldi, F., Mattisi, I., Grossi, P., Favaretto, A., et al. (2009). Cortical lesions and atrophy associated with cognitive impairment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, *66*(9), 1144-1150.
- Calabrese, M., Favaretto, A., Poretto, V., Romualdi, C., Rinaldi, F., Mattisi, I., et al. (2013). Low degree of cortical pathology is associated with benign course of multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 19(7), 904-911.
- Calabrese, M., Mattisi, I., Rinaldi, F., Favaretto, A., Atzori, M., Bernardi, V., et al. (2010). Magnetic resonance evidence of cerebellar cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 81(4), 401-404.
- Calabrese, M., Poretto, V., Favaretto, A., Alessio, S., Bernardi, V., Romualdi, C., et al. (2012). Cortical lesion load associates with progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *135*(Pt 10), 2952-2961.
- Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, F., Grossi, P., & Gallo, P. (2011). Cortical pathology and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 11(3), 425-432.
- Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, F., Grossi, P., Mattisi, I., Bernardi, V., Favaretto, A., et al. (2010). Basal ganglia and frontal/parietal cortical atrophy is associated with fatigue in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 16(10), 1220-1228.

- Calabrese, M., Rinaldi, F., Mattisi, I., Grossi, P., Favaretto, A., Atzori, M., et al. (2010). Widespread cortical thinning characterizes patients with MS with mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 74(4), 321-328.
- Calabrese, M., Rocca, M.A., Atzori, M., Mattisi, I., Bernardi, V., Favaretto, A., et al. (2009). Cortical lesions in primary progressive multiple sclerosis: a 2year longitudinal MR study. *Neurology*, 72(15), 1330-1336.
- Calabrese, M., Rocca, M.A., Atzori, M., Mattisi, I., Favaretto, A., Perini, P., et al. (2010). A 3-year magnetic resonance imaging study of cortical lesions in relapse-onset multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 67(3), 376-383.
- Calabrese, P. (2006). Neuropsychology of multiple sclerosis--an overview. *Journal of Neurology*, 253(Suppl 1), I10-15.
- Callicott, J.H., Mattay, V.S., Bertolino, A., Finn, K., Coppola, R., Frank, J.A., et al. (1999). Physiological characteristics of capacity constraints in working memory as revealed by functional MRI. *Cerebral Cortex*, *9*(1), 20-26.
- Camille, N., Coricelli, G., Sallet, J., Pradat-Diehl, P., Duhamel, J.R., & Sirigu, A. (2004). The involvement of the orbitofrontal cortex in the experience of regret. *Science*, 304(5674), 1167-1170.
- Camp, S.J., Stevenson, V.L., Thompson, A.J., Miller, D.H., Borras, C., Auriacombe, S., et al. (1999). Cognitive function in primary progressive and transitional progressive multiple sclerosis: a controlled study with MRI correlates. *Brain*, 122(Pt 7), 1341-1348.
- Campbell, M.C., Stout, J.C., & Finn, P.R. (2004). Reduced autonomic responsiveness to gambling task losses in Huntington's disease. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *10*(2), 239-245.
- Caon, C., Zvartau-Hind, M., Ching, W., Lisak, R.P., Tselis, A.C., & Khan, O.A. (2003). Intercaudate nucleus ratio as a linear measure of brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 60(2), 323-325.
- Castner, S.A., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., & Williams, G.V. (2004). Animal models of working memory: insights for targeting cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology*, 174(1), 111-125.
- Cattell, R.B. (1963). Theory of fluid and crystallized intelligence: A critical experiment. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *54*(1), 1-22.
- Chan, A.S., Cheung, M.C., Han, Y.M., Sze, S.L., Leung, W.W., Man, H.S., et al. (2009). Executive function deficits and neural discordance in children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(6), 1107-1115.
- Chan, R.C. (2001). Dysexecutive symptoms among a non-clinical sample: A study with the use of the Dysexecutive Questionnaire. *British Journal of Psychology*, 92(Pt 3), 551-565.
- Charcot, J.M. (1868). Sur quelaques arthropathies qui paraissent depender d'une lesion du cerveau ou de la moele epiniere. *Archives de physiologie normale et pathologique, 1*, 161-171.
- Charil, A., Dagher, A., Lerch, J.P., Zijdenbos, A.P., Worsley, K.J., & Evans, A.C. (2007). Focal cortical atrophy in multiple sclerosis: relation to lesion load and disability. *Neuroimage*, 34(2), 509-517.

- Chelazzi, L., Perlato, A., Santandrea, E., & Della Libera, C. (2013). Rewards teach visual selective attention. *Vision Research*, *85*, 58-72.
- Chen, J.T., Narayanan, S., Collins, D.L., Smith, S.M., Matthews, P.M., & Arnold, D.L. (2004). Relating neocortical pathology to disability progression in multiple sclerosis using MRI. *Neuroimage*, 23(3), 1168-1175.
- Chiaravalloti, N.D., & DeLuca, J. (2008). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurology*, 7(12), 1139-1151.
- Christodoulou, C., Krupp, L.B., Liang, Z., Huang, W., Melville, P., Roque, C., et al. (2003). Cognitive performance and MR markers of cerebral injury in cognitively impaired MS patients. *Neurology*, 60(11), 1793-1798.
- Cifelli, A., Arridge, M., Jezzard, P., Esiri, M.M., Palace, J., & Matthews, P.M. (2002). Thalamic neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 52(5), 650-653.
- Clark, C.M., James, G., Li, D., Oger, J., Paty, D., & Klonoff, H. (1992). Ventricular size, cognitive function and depression in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 19(3), 352-356.
- Clark, L., Manes, F., Antoun, N., Sahakian, B.J., & Robbins, T.W. (2003). The contributions of lesion laterality and lesion volume to decision-making impairment following frontal lobe damage. *Neuropsychologia*, *41*(11), 1474-1483.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., Aitken, L.S., & West, S.H. (2003). *Applied multiple regression/ correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, N.J.: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Confavreux, C., & Vukusic, S. (2006). Age at disability milestones in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *129*(Pt 3), 595-605.
- Cosco, T.D., Doyle, F., Ward, M., & McGee, H. (2012). Latent structure of the Hospital Anxiety And Depression Scale: a 10-year systematic review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 72(3), 180-184.
- Cross, A.H., Cross, K.A., & Piccio, L. (2012). Update on multiple sclerosis, its diagnosis and treatments. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 50(7), 1203-1210.
- Cummings, J.L. (1995). Anatomic and behavioral aspects of frontal-subcortical circuits. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 769, 1-13.
- Cummings, J.L., & Cole, G. (2002). Alzheimer disease. *JAMA*, 287(18), 2335-2338.
- Czernecki, V., Pillon, B., Houeto, J.L., Pochon, J.B., Levy, R., & Dubois, B. (2002). Motivation, reward, and Parkinson's disease: influence of dopatherapy. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(13), 2257-2267.
- D'Esposito, M., & Postle, B.R. (1999). The dependence of span and delayedresponse performance on prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychologia*, *37*(11), 1303-1315.
- Dalton, C.M., Chard, D.T., Davies, G.R., Miszkiel, K.A., Altmann, D.R., Fernando, K., et al. (2004). Early development of multiple sclerosis is associated with progressive grey matter atrophy in patients presenting with clinically isolated syndromes. *Brain, 127*(Pt 5), 1101-1107.

- Damasio, A.R. (1994). Descartes' error and the future of human life. *Scientific American*, 271(4), 144.
- Damasio, H., Grabowski, T.J., Tranel, D., Hichwa, R.D., & Damasio, A.R. (1996). A neural basis for lexical retrieval. *Nature*, *380*(6574), 499-505.
- Damasio, H., Kuljis, R.O., Yuh, W., van Hoesen, G.W., & Ehrhardt, J. (1991). Magnetic resonance imaging of human intracortical structure in vivo. *Cerebral Cortex*, 1(5), 374-379.
- Davis, C., Fox, J., Patte, K., Curtis, C., Strimas, R., Reid, C., et al. (2008). Education level moderates learning on two versions of the Iowa Gambling Task. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(6), 1063-1068.
- de Frias, C.M., Dixon, R.A., & Strauss, E. (2009). Characterizing executive functioning in older special populations: from cognitively elite to cognitively impaired. *Neuropsychology*, *23*(6), 778-791.
- De Sonneville, L.M.J., Boringa, J.B., Reuling, I.E., W., Lazeron, R.H.C., Adèr, H.J., & Polman, C.H. (2002). Information processing characteristics in subtypes of multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(11), 1751-1765.
- De Stefano, N., Matthews, P.M., Filippi, M., Agosta, F., De Luca, M., Bartolozzi, M.L., et al. (2003). Evidence of early cortical atrophy in MS: relevance to white matter changes and disability. *Neurology*, *60*(7), 1157-1162.
- de Visser, L., Homberg, J., Mitsogiannis, M., Zeeb, F., Rivalan, M., Fitoussi, A., et al. (2011). Rodent versions of the Iowa Gambling Task: opportunities and challenges for the understanding of decision-making. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 5,109.
- Delazer, M., Sinz, H., Zamarian, L., & Benke, T. (2007). Decision-making with explicit and stable rules in mild Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(8), 1632-1641.
- Delis, D.C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J.H. (2001). *Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System:Technical Manual*. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment Company.
- Delis, D.C., Kramer, J.H., Kaplan, E., & Holdnack, J. (2004). Reliability and validity of the Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System: an update. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *10*(2), 301-303.
- Deloire, M.S., Salort, E., Bonnet, M., Arimone, Y., Boudineau, M., Amieva, H., et al. (2005). Cognitive impairment as marker of diffuse brain abnormalities in early relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 76(4), 519-526.
- DeLuca, J., Chelune, G.J., Tulsky, D.S., Lengenfelder, J., & Chiaravalloti, N.D. (2004). Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? *Journal of Clinical* and Experimental Neuropsychology, 26(4), 550-562.
- Demaree, H.A., DeLuca, J., Gaudino, E.A., & Diamond, B.J. (1999). Speed of information processing as a key deficit in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 67(5), 661-663.

- Denney, D.R., Gallagher, K.S., & Lynch, S.G. (2011). Deficits in processing speed in patients with multiple sclerosis: evidence from explicit and covert measures. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 26(2), 110-119.
- Denney, D.R., Hughes, A.J., Owens, E.M., & Lynch, S.G. (2012). Deficits in planning time but not performance in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *27*(2), 148-158.
- Denney, D.R., Lynch, S.G., & Parmenter, B.A. (2008). A 3-year longitudinal study of cognitive impairment in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: speed matters. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 267(1-2), 129-136.
- Denney, D.R., Lynch, S.G., Parmenter, B.A., & Horne, N. (2004). Cognitive impairment in relapsing and primary progressive multiple sclerosis: mostly a matter of speed. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 10(7), 948-956.
- Denney, D.R., Sworowski, L.A., & Lynch, S.G. (2005). Cognitive impairment in three subtypes of multiple sclerosis. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 20(8), 967-981.
- Diamond, B.J., Johnson, S.K., Kaufman, M., & Graves, L. (2008). Relationships between information processing, depression, fatigue and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 23(2), 189-199.
- Drake, A.S., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Morrow, S.A., Hojnacki, D., Munschauer, F.E., & Benedict, R.H. (2010). Psychometrics and normative data for the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite: replacing the PASAT with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 16(2), 228-237.
- Drew, M.A., Starkey, N.J., & Isler, R.B. (2009). Examining the link between information processing speed and executive functioning in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *24*(1), 47-58.
- Drew, M.A., Tippett, L.J., Starkey, N.J., & Isler, R.B. (2008). Executive dysfunction and cognitive impairment in a large community-based sample with Multiple Sclerosis from New Zealand: a descriptive study. *Archives* of Clinical Neuropsychology, 23(1), 1-19.
- Dunn, B.D., Dalgleish, T., & Lawrence, A.D. (2006). The somatic marker hypothesis: a critical evaluation. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(2), 239-271.
- Embretson, S.E., & Reise, S.P. (2000). *Item response theory for psychologists*. Mahwah, NJ: Psychology Press.
- Emre, M. (2003). Dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurologyogy*, 2(4), 229-237.
- Eriksson, M., Andersen, O., & Runmarker, B. (2003). Long-term follow up of patients with clinically isolated syndromes, relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *9*(3), 260-274.
- Ernst, M., & Paulus, M.P. (2005). Neurobiology of decision making: a selective review from a neurocognitive and clinical perspective. *Biological Psychiatry*, *58*(8), 597-604.

- Euteneuer, F., Schaefer, F., Stuermer, R., Boucsein, W., Timmermann, L., Barbe, M.T., et al. (2009). Dissociation of decision-making under ambiguity and decision-making under risk in patients with Parkinson's disease: A neuropsychological and psychophysiological study. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(13), 2882-2890.
- Evans, C.E., Kemish, K., & Turnbull, O.H. (2004). Paradoxical effects of education on the Iowa Gambling Task. *Brain and Cognition*, *54*(3), 240-244.
- Faivre, A., Rico, A., Zaaraoui, W., Crespy, L., Reuter, F., Wybrecht, D., et al. (2012). Assessing brain connectivity at rest is clinically relevant in early multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 18(9), 1251-1258.
- Feinstein, A. (2002). An examination of suicidal intent in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, *59*(5), 674-678.
- Feinstein, A. (2011). Multiple sclerosis and depression. *Multiple Sclerosis, 17*(11), 1276-1281.
- Feinstein, A. (Ed.). (2007). *The Clinical Neuropsychiatry of Multiple Sclerosis,* 2nd edn. (2nd ed.): New York, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Fellows, L.K., & Farah, M.J. (2005). Different underlying impairments in decision-making following ventromedial and dorsolateral frontal lobe damage in humans. *Cerebral Cortex*, *15*(1), 58-63.
- Fernie, G., & Tunney, R.J. (2006). Some decks are better than others: the effect of reinforcer type and task instructions on learning in the Iowa Gambling Task. *Brain and Cognition*, 60(1), 94-102.
- Ferreira, M.L.B. (2010). Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*, 68, 632-641.
- Feuillet, L., Reuter, F., Audoin, B., Malikova, I., Barrau, K., Cherif, A.A., et al. (2007). Early cognitive impairment in patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 13(1), 124-127.
- Filippi, M., Alberoni, M., Martinelli, V., Sirabian, G., Bressi, S., Canal, N., et al. (1994). Influence of clinical variables on neuropsychological performance in multiple sclerosis. *European Neurology*, 34(6), 324-328.
- Filippi, M., Dousset, V., McFarland, H.F., Miller, D.H., & Grossman, R.I. (2002). Role of magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis and monitoring of multiple sclerosis: consensus report of the White Matter Study Group. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 15(5), 499-504.
- Filippi, M., Iannucci, G., Cercignani, M., Assunta Rocca, M., Pratesi, A., & Comi, G. (2000). A quantitative study of water diffusion in multiple sclerosis lesions and normal-appearing white matter using echo-planar imaging. *Archives of Neurology*, 57(7), 1017-1021.
- Filippi, M., Rocca, M.A., Colombo, B., Falini, A., Codella, M., Scotti, G., et al. (2002). Functional magnetic resonance imaging correlates of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 15(3), 559-567.
- Fischer, J.S., Rudick, R.A., Cutter, G.R., & Reingold, S.C. (1999). The Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite Measure (MSFC): an integrated approach

to MS clinical outcome assessment. National MS Society Clinical Outcomes Assessment Task Force. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *5*(4), 244-250.

- Fisher, E., Lee, J.C., Nakamura, K., & Rudick, R.A. (2008). Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Annals of Neurology*, *64*(3), 255-265.
- Fisniku, L.K., Chard, D.T., Jackson, J.S., Anderson, V.M., Altmann, D.R., Miszkiel, K.A., et al. (2008). Gray matter atrophy is related to long-term disability in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 64(3), 247-254.
- Fournier-Vicente, S., Larigauderie, P., & Gaonac'h, D. (2008). More dissociations and interactions within central executive functioning: a comprehensive latent-variable analysis. *Acta Psychologica*, *129*(1), 32-48.
- Fox, N.C., & Freeborough, P.A. (1997). Brain atrophy progression measured from registered serial MRI: validation and application to Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 7(6), 1069-1075.
- Fox, N.C., Jenkins, R., Leary, S.M., Stevenson, V.L., Losseff, N.A., Crum, W.R., et al. (2000). Progressive cerebral atrophy in MS: a serial study using registered, volumetric MRI. *Neurology*, 54(4), 807-812.
- Fox, R.J. (2010). Multiple Sclerosis. *Clevland Clinic*. Retrieved March 1, 2013, from http://www.clevelandclinicmeded.com/medicalpubs/ diseasemanagement/neurology/multiple_sclerosis/
- Friend, K.B., Rabin, B.M., Groninger, L., Deluty, R.H., Bever, C., & Grattan, L. (1999). Language functions in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neuropsychol*, 13(1), 78-94.
- Frisoni, G.B., Beltramello, A., Weiss, C., Geroldi, C., Bianchetti, A., & Trabucchi, M. (1996). Linear measures of atrophy in mild Alzheimer disease. AJNR. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 17(5), 913-923.
- Gansler, D.A., Jerram, M.W., Vannorsdall, T.D., & Schretlen, D.J. (2011). Does the iowa gambling task measure executive function? *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *26*(8), 706-717.
- Gautheir, T.D. (2001). Detecting Trends Using Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficient. *Environmental Forensics*, 2(4), 359-362.
- Ge, Y., Grossman, R.I., Udupa, J.K., Babb, J.S., Nyul, L.G., & Kolson, D.L. (2001). Brain atrophy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: fractional volumetric analysis of gray matter and white matter. *Radiology*, 220(3), 606-610.
- Ge, Y., Law, M., & Grossman, R.I. (2005). Applications of diffusion tensor MR imaging in multiple sclerosis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1064, 202-219.
- Gescheidt, T., Czekoova, K., Urbanek, T., Marecek, R., Mikl, M., Kubikova, R., et al. (2012). Iowa Gambling Task in patients with early-onset Parkinson's disease: strategy analysis. *Neurological Sciences*, *33*(6):1329-1335.
- Geurts, J.J., Stys, P.K., Minagar, A., Amor, S., & Zivadinov, R. (2009). Gray matter pathology in (chronic) MS: modern views on an early observation. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 282(1-2), 12-20.
- Gilbert, J.J., & Sadler, M. (1983). Unsuspected multiple sclerosis. Archives of Neurology, 40(9), 533-536.

- Gilmore, C.P., Bo, L., Owens, T., Lowe, J., Esiri, M.M., & Evangelou, N. (2006). Spinal cord gray matter demyelination in multiple sclerosis-a novel pattern of residual plaque morphology. *Brain Pathology*, 16(3), 202-208.
- Glanz, B.I., Holland, C.M., Gauthier, S.A., Amunwa, E.L., Liptak, Z., Houtchens, M.K., et al. (2007). Cognitive dysfunction in patients with clinically isolated syndromes or newly diagnosed multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 13(8), 1004-1010.
- Gleichgerrcht, E., Ibanez, A., Roca, M., Torralva, T., & Manes, F. (2010). Decision-making cognition in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 6(11), 611-623.
- Goel, V., & Grafman, J. (1995). Are the frontal lobes implicated in "planning" functions? Interpreting data from the Tower of Hanoi. *Neuropsychologia*, *33*(5), 623-642.
- Gomori, J.M., Steiner, I., Melamed, E., & Cooper, G. (1984). The assessment of changes in brain volume using combined linear measurements. A CT-scan study. *Neuroradiology*, 26(1), 21-24.
- Grahn, J.A., Parkinson, J.A., & Owen, A.M. (2008). The cognitive functions of the caudate nucleus. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 86(3), 141-155.
- Grant, D.A., & Berg, E.A. (1948). A behavioral analysis of degree of reinforcement and ease of shifting to new responses in a Weigl-type cardsorting problem. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *38*(4), 404-411.
- Greve, K.W., Stickle, T.R., Love, J.M., Bianchini, K.J., & Stanford, M.S. (2005). Latent structure of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test: a confirmatory factor analytic study. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 20(3), 355-364.
- Gronwall, D. M. A. Sampson, H.D. (1974). *The psychological effects of concussion*. Auckland, NZ: Auckland University Press.
- Gronwall, D.M.A. (1977). Paced auditory serial-addition task: a measure of recovery from concussion. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 44(2), 367-373.
- Grossman, M., Robinson, K.M., Onishi, K., Thompson, H., Cohen, J., & D'Esposito, M. (1995). Sentence comprehension in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 92(4), 324-331.
- Guo, A.C., Jewells, V.L., & Provenzale, J.M. (2001). Analysis of normalappearing white matter in multiple sclerosis: comparison of diffusion tensor MR imaging and magnetization transfer imaging. *AJNR. American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 22(10), 1893-1900.
- Hadjimichael, O., Vollmer, T., & Oleen-Burkey, M. (2008). Fatigue characteristics in multiple sclerosis: the North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis (NARCOMS) survey. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, 6, 100.
- Hagmann, P., Jonasson, L., Maeder, P., Thiran, J.P., Wedeen, V.J., & Meuli, R. (2006). Understanding diffusion MR imaging techniques: from scalar diffusion-weighted imaging to diffusion tensor imaging and beyond. *Radiographics, 26 Suppl 1*, S205-223.
- Handel, A.E., Giovannoni, G., Ebers, G.C., & Ramagopalan, S.V. (2010). Environmental factors and their timing in adult-onset multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 6(3), 156-166.

- Handel, A.E., Handunnetthi, L., Giovannoni, G., Ebers, G.C., & Ramagopalan, S.V. (2010). Genetic and environmental factors and the distribution of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *European Journal of Neurology*, 17(9), 1210-1214.
- Handunnetthi, L., Handel, A.E., & Ramagopalan, S.V. (2010). Contribution of genetic, epigenetic and transcriptomic differences to twin discordance in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 10(9), 1379-1381.
- Hannay, H.J., & Levin, H.S. (1985). Selective reminding test: an examination of the equivalence of four forms. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 7(3), 251-263.
- Hardwood, R.H., & Ebrahim, S. (1995). *Manual of the London Handicap Scale*. Nottingham, UK: University of Nottingham.
- Harwood, R.H., Gompertz, P., & Ebrahim, S. (1994). Handicap one year after a stroke: validity of a new scale. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, *57*(7), 825-829.
- Hayton, T., Furby, J., Smith, K.J., Altmann, D.R., Brenner, R., Chataway, J., et al. (2009). Grey matter magnetization transfer ratio independently correlates with neurological deficit in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 256(3), 427-435.
- Henninger, D.E., Madden, D.J., & Huettel, S.A. (2010). Processing speed and memory mediate age-related differences in decision making. *Psychology and Aging*, 25(2), 262-270.
- Henry, A., Tourbah, A., Chaunu, M.P., Rumbach, L., Montreuil, M., & Bakchine, S. (2011). Social cognition impairments in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 17(6), 1122-1131.
- Henry, J.D., & Crawford, J.R. (2004). A meta-analytic review of verbal fluency performance in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, *18*(4), 621-628.
- Higginson, C.I., Arnett, P.A., & Voss, W.D. (2000). The ecological validity of clinical tests of memory and attention in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *15*(3), 185-204.
- Hinson, J.M., Jameson, T.L., & Whitney, P. (2002). Somatic markers, working memory, and decision making. *Cognitive Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 2(4), 341-353.
- Hobart, J., Freeman, J., & Thompson, A. (2000). Kurtzke scales revisited: the application of psychometric methods to clinical intuition. *Brain, 123* (Pt 5), 1027-1040.
- Hodges, J.R., & Miller, B. (2001). The neuropsychology of frontal variant frontotemporal dementia and semantic dementia. Introduction to the special topic papers: Part II. *Neurocase*, 7(2), 113-121.
- Horakova, D., Dwyer, M.G., Havrdova, E., Cox, J.L., Dolezal, O., Bergsland, N., et al. (2009). Gray matter atrophy and disability progression in patients with early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a 5-year longitudinal study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 282(1-2), 112-119.

- Horakova, D., Kalincik, T., Dusankova, J.B., & Dolezal, O. (2012). Clinical correlates of grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurology*, *12*, 10.
- Horn, W. (1983). *Leistungsprüfsystem [Intelligence test system]*. Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe.
- Houtchens, M.K., Benedict, R.H., Killiany, R., Sharma, J., Jaisani, Z., Singh, B., et al. (2007). Thalamic atrophy and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, *69*(12), 1213-1223.
- Huijbregts, S.C., Kalkers, N.F., de Sonneville, L.M., de Groot, V., Reuling, I.E., & Polman, C.H. (2004). Differences in cognitive impairment of relapsing remitting, secondary, and primary progressive MS. *Neurology*, 63(2), 335-339.
- Hulst, H.E., Steenwijk, M.D., Versteeg, A., Pouwels, P.J., Vrenken, H., Uitdehaag, B.M., et al. (2013). Cognitive impairment in MS: impact of white matter integrity, gray matter volume, and lesions. *Neurology*, 80(11), 1025-1032.
- Ibarretxe-Bilbao, N., Junque, C., Tolosa, E., Marti, M.-J., Valldeoriola, F., Bargallo, N., et al. (2009). Neuroanatomical correlates of impaired decision-making and facial emotion recognition in early Parkinson's disease. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(6), 1162-1171.
- Iverson, G.L., Lovell, M.R., & Collins, M.W. (2005). Validity of ImPACT for measuring processing speed following sports-related concussion. *Journal* of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 27(6), 683-689.
- Jameson, T.L., Hinson, J.M., & Whitney, P. (2004). Components of working memory and somatic markers in decision making. *Psychonomic Bulletin* and Review, 11(3), 515-520.
- Jankovic, J. (2005). Progression of Parkinson disease: are I making progress in charting the course? *Archives of Neurology*, *62*(3), 351-352.
- Jennekens-Schinkel, A., Lanser, J.B., van der Velde, E.A., & Sanders, E.A. (1990). Performances of multiple sclerosis patients in tasks requiring language and visuoconstruction. Assessment of outpatients in quiescent disease stages. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 95(1), 89-103.
- Jones, C.L., Minati, L., Harrison, N.A., Ward, J., & Critchley, H.D. (2011). Under pressure: response urgency modulates striatal and insula activity during decision-making under risk. *PLoS One*, 6(6), e20942.
- Jones, K.H., Ford, D.V., Jones, P.A., John, A., Middleton, R.M., Lockhart-Jones, H., et al. (2012). A large-scale study of anxiety and depression in people with Multiple Sclerosis: a survey via the web portal of the UK MS Register. *PLoS One*, 7(7), e41910.
- Kalkers, N.F., Ameziane, N., Bot, J.C., Minneboo, A., Polman, C.H., & Barkhof, F. (2002). Longitudinal brain volume measurement in multiple sclerosis: rate of brain atrophy is independent of the disease subtype. *Archives of Neurology*, 59(10), 1572-1576.
- Kapogiannis, D., Mooshagian, E., Campion, P., Grafman, J., Zimmermann, T.J., Ladt, K.C., et al. (2011). Reward processing abnormalities in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 26(8), 1451-1457.

- Kastner, S., & Ungerleider, L.G. (2000). Mechanisms of visual attention in the human cortex. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 23, 315-341.
- Kennerley, S.W., & Walton, M.E. (2011). Decision making and reward in frontal cortex: complementary evidence from neurophysiological and neuropsychological studies. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *125*(3), 297-317.
- Kidd, D., Barkhof, F., McConnell, R., Algra, P.R., Allen, I.V., & Revesz, T. (1999). Cortical lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *122* (Pt 1), 17-26.
- Kim, S., Hwang, J., & Lee, D. (2008). Prefrontal coding of temporally discounted values during intertemporal choice. *Neuron*, 59(1), 161-172.
- Kleeberg, J., Bruggimann, L., Annoni, J.M., van Melle, G., Bogousslavsky, J., & Schluep, M. (2004). Altered decision-making in multiple sclerosis: a sign of impaired emotional reactivity? *Annals of Neurology*, 56(6), 787-795.
- Knight, C., Alderman, N., & Burgess, P.W. (2002). Development of a simplified version of the multiple errands test for use in hospital settings. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 12(3), 231-255.
- Kobayakawa, M., Koyama, S., Mimura, M., & Kawamura, M. (2008). Decision making in Parkinson's disease: Analysis of behavioral and physiological patterns in the Iowa gambling task. *Movement Disorders*, 23(4), 547-552.
- Kobayakawa, M., Tsuruya, N., & Kawamura, M. (2010). Sensitivity to reward and punishment in Parkinson's disease: an analysis of behavioral patterns using a modified version of the Iowa gambling task. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, *16*(7), 453-457.
- Koch-Henriksen, N., & Sorensen, P.S. (2010). The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *Lancet Neurology*, 9(5), 520-532.
- Kongs, S.K., Thompson, L.L., Iverson, G.L., & Heaton, R.K. (1993). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test–64 card version professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Krain, A.L., Wilson, A.M., Arbuckle, R., Castellanos, F.X., & Milham, M.P. (2006). Distinct neural mechanisms of risk and ambiguity: a meta-analysis of decision-making. *Neuroimage*, 32(1), 477-484.
- Krause, M., Wendt, J., Dressel, A., Berneiser, J., Kessler, C., Hamm, A.O., et al. (2009). Prefrontal function associated with impaired emotion recognition in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 205(1), 280-285.
- Kringelbach, M.L., & Rolls, E.T. (2004). The functional neuroanatomy of the human orbitofrontal cortex: evidence from neuroimaging and neuropsychology. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 72(5), 341-372.
- Krupp, L.B., Alvarez, L.A., LaRocca, N.G., & Scheinberg, L.C. (1988). Fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 45(4), 435-437.
- Kujala, P., Portin, R., & Ruutiainen, J. (1996). Language functions in incipient cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 141(1-2), 79-86.
- Kurtzke, J.F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, *33*(11), 1444-1452.

- Kutzelnigg, A., Lucchinetti, C.F., Stadelmann, C., Bruck, W., Rauschka, H., Bergmann, M., et al. (2005). Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 128(Pt 11), 2705-2712.
- LaBar, K.S., Gatenby, J.C., Gore, J.C., LeDoux, J.E., & Phelps, E.A. (1998). Human amygdala activation during conditioned fear acquisition and extinction: a mixed-trial fMRI study. *Neuron*, 20(5), 937-945.
- Labudda, K., Brand, M., Mertens, M., Ollech, I., Markowitsch, H.J., & Woermann, F.G. (2010). Decision making under risk condition in patients with Parkinson's disease: A behavioural and fMRI study. *Behavioural Neurology*, 23(3), 131-143.
- Labudda, K., Frigge, K., Horstmann, S., Aengenendt, J., Woermann, F.G., Ebner, A., et al. (2009). Decision making in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(1), 50-58.
- Labudda, K., Woermann, F.G., Mertens, M., Pohlmann-Eden, B., Markowitsch, H.J., & Brand, M. (2008). Neural correlates of decision making with explicit information about probabilities and incentives in elderly healthy subjects. *Experimental Brain Research*, 187(4), 641-650.
- Langdon, D.W. (2011). Cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 24(3), 244-249.
- Lansley, J., Mataix-Cols, D., Grau, M., Radua, J., & Sastre-Garriga, J. (2013). Localized grey matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies and associations with functional disability. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(5), 819-830.
- Larocca, N., Kalb, R., Scheinberg, L., & Kendall, P. (1985). Factors associated with unemployment of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 38(2), 203-210.
- Leavitt, V.M., Lengenfelder, J., Moore, N.B., Chiaravalloti, N.D., & DeLuca, J. (2011). The relative contributions of processing speed and cognitive load to working memory accuracy in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 33(5), 580-586.
- Lezak, M.D. (1994). Domains of behavior from a neuropsychological perspective: the whole story. *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, *41*, 23-55.
- Lezak, M.D. (1995). *Neuropsychological Assessment*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lie, C.H., Specht, K., Marshall, J.C., & Fink, G.R. (2006). Using fMRI to decompose the neural processes underlying the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. *Neuroimage*, *30*(3), 1038-1049.
- Lima, F.S., Simioni, S., Bruggimann, L., Ruffieux, C., Dudler, J., Felley, C., et al. (2007). Perceived behavioral changes in early multiple sclerosis. *Behav Neurol*, 18(2), 81-90.
- Lin, C.H., Chiu, Y.C., Lee, P.L., & Hsieh, J.C. (2007). Is deck B a disadvantageous deck in the Iowa Gambling Task? *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, *3*, 16.
- Lin, C.H., Song, T.J., Lin, Y.K., & Chiu, Y.C. (2012). Mirrored prominent deck B phenomenon: frequent small losses override infrequent large gains in the inverted Iowa Gambling Task. *PLoS One*, 7(10), e47202.

- Lin, X., Tench, C.R., Morgan, P.S., & Constantinescu, C.S. (2008). Use of combined conventional and quantitative MRI to quantify pathology related to cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry,* 79(4), 437-441.
- Lin, X., Tench, C.R., Morgan, P.S., Niepel, G., & Constantinescu, C.S. (2005). 'Importance sampling' in MS: use of diffusion tensor tractography to quantify pathology related to specific impairment. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 237(1-2), 13-19.
- Llufriu, S., Blanco, Y., Martinez-Heras, E., Casanova-Molla, J., Gabilondo, I., Sepulveda, M., et al. (2012). Influence of corpus callosum damage on cognition and physical disability in multiple sclerosis: a multimodal study. *PLoS One*, 7(5), e37167.
- Lockwood, A.H., Linn, R.T., Szymanski, H., Coad, M.L., & Wack, D.S. (2004). Mapping the neural systems that mediate the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASAT). *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *10*(1), 26-34.
- Lombardi, W.J., Andreason, P.J., Sirocco, K.Y., Rio, D.E., Gross, R.E., Umhau, J.C., et al. (1999). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test performance following head injury: dorsolateral fronto-striatal circuit activity predicts perseveration. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 21(1), 2-16.
- Loonstra, A.S., Tarlow, A.R., & Sellers, A.H. (2001). COWAT metanorms across age, education, and gender. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 8(3), 161-166.
- Lucchinetti, C., Bruck, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, 47(6), 707-717.
- Macniven, J.A., Davis, C., Ho, M.Y., Bradshaw, C.M., Szabadi, E., & Constantinescu, C.S. (2008). Stroop performance in multiple sclerosis: information processing, selective attention, or executive functioning? *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(5), 805-814.
- Mahone, E.M., Koth, C.W., Cutting, L., Singer, H.S., & Denckla, M.B. (2001). Executive function in fluency and recall measures among children with Tourette syndrome or ADHD. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 7(1), 102-111.
- Maia, T.V., & McClelland, J.L. (2004). A reexamination of the evidence for the somatic marker hypothesis: what participants really know in the Iowa gambling task. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(45), 16075-16080.
- Manes, F.F., Sahakian, B., Clark, L., Rogers, R., Antoun, N., Aitken, M., et al. (2002). Decision-making processes following damage to the prefrontal cortex. *Brain*, 125(Pt 3), 624-639.
- Manes, F.F., Torralva, T., Roca, M., Gleichgerrcht, E., Bekinschtein, T.A., & Hodges, J.R. (2010). Frontotemporal dementia presenting as pathological gambling. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 6(6), 347-352.

- Manly, T., Hawkins, K., Evans, J., Woldt, K., & Robertson, I.H. (2002). Rehabilitation of executive function: facilitation of effective goal management on complex tasks using periodic auditory alerts. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(3), 271-281.
- Mansouri, F.A., Buckley, M.J., & Tanaka, K. (2007). Mnemonic function of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in conflict-induced behavioral adjustment. *Science*, 318(5852), 987-990.
- Mansouri, F.A., Tanaka, K., & Buckley, M.J. (2009). Conflict-induced behavioural adjustment: a clue to the executive functions of the prefrontal cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*(2), 141-152.
- Martola, J., Stawiarz, L., Fredrikson, S., Hillert, J., Bergstrom, J., Flodmark, O., et al. (2008). Rate of ventricular enlargement in multiple sclerosis: a nineyear magnetic resonance imaging follow-up study. *Acta Radiologica*, 49(5), 570-579.
- Mather, M., & Lighthall, N.R. (2012). Both Risk and Reward are Processed Differently in Decisions Made Under Stress. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(2), 36-41.
- Mathiowetz, V., Weber, K., Kashman, B., & Volland, G. (1985). Adult norms for the nine hole peg test of finger dexterity. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 5, 24–38.
- Matthies, S., Philipsen, A., & Svaldi, J. (2012). Risky decision making in adults with ADHD. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, *43*(3), 938-946.
- McIntosh-Michaelis, S.A., Roberts, M.H., Wilkinson, S.M., Diamond, I.D., McLellan, D.L., Martin, J.P., et al. (1991). The prevalence of cognitive impairment in a community survey of multiple sclerosis. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 30 (Pt 4)*, 333-348.
- Merson, R.M., & Rolnick, M.I. (1998). Speech-language pathology and dysphagia in multiple sclerosis. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, 9(3), 631-641.
- Mesaros, S., Rocca, M.A., Riccitelli, G., Pagani, E., Rovaris, M., Caputo, D., et al. (2009). Corpus callosum damage and cognitive dysfunction in benign MS. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(8), 2656-2666.
- Mesaros, S., Rocca, M.A., Sormani, M.P., Charil, A., Comi, G., & Filippi, M. (2008). Clinical and conventional MRI predictors of disability and brain atrophy accumulation in RRMS. A large scale, short-term follow-up study. *Journal of Neurology*, 255(9), 1378-1383.
- Miller, D., Barkhof, F., Montalban, X., Thompson, A., & Filippi, M. (2005). Clinically isolated syndromes suggestive of multiple sclerosis, part I: natural history, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and prognosis. *Lancet Neurology*, 4(5), 281-288.
- Miller, G.A., & Chapman, J.P. (2001). Misunderstanding analysis of covariance. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 110(1), 40-48.
- Milo, R., & Kahana, E. (2010). Multiple sclerosis: geoepidemiology, genetics and the environment. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, *9*(5), A387-394.

- Mimura, M., Oeda, R., & Kawamura, M. (2006). Impaired decision-making in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, *12*(3), 169-175.
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N.P., Emerson, M.J., Witzki, A.H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T.D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 49-100.
- Mohr, D.C., & Cox, D. (2001). Multiple sclerosis: empirical literature for the clinical health psychologist. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *57*(4), 479-499.
- Morgen, K., Sammer, G., Courtney, S.M., Wolters, T., Melchior, H., Blecker, C.R., et al. (2006). Evidence for a direct association between cortical atrophy and cognitive impairment in relapsing-remitting MS. *Neuroimage*, *30*(3), 891-898.
- Morgen, K., Sammer, G., Courtney, S.M., Wolters, T., Melchior, H., Blecker, C.R., et al. (2007). Distinct mechanisms of altered brain activation in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, *37*(3), 937-946.
- Muller, N.G., Machado, L., & Knight, R.T. (2002). Contributions of subregions of the prefrontal cortex to working memory: evidence from brain lesions in humans. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *14*(5), 673-686.
- Naci, H., Fleurence, R., Birt, J., & Duhig, A. (2010). The impact of increasing neurological disability of multiple sclerosis on health utilities: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Medical Economics*, *13*(1), 78-89.
- Nagy, H., Bencsik, K., Rajda, C., Benedek, K., Beniczky, S., Keri, S., et al. (2006). The effects of reward and punishment contingencies on decisionmaking in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 12(4), 559-565.
- Nakamura, K., & Fisher, E. (2009). Segmentation of brain magnetic resonance images for measurement of gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis patients. *Neuroimage*, 44(3), 769-776.
- Narayanan, S. (2003). The role of cortico-basal-thalamic loops in cognition: a computational model and preliminary results. *Neurocomputing*, 52–54(0), 605-614.
- Neary, D., Snowden, J.S., Gustafson, L., Passant, U., Stuss, D., Black, S., et al. (1998). Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. *Neurology*, 51(6), 1546-1554.
- Nelson, H.E. (1976). A modified card sorting test sensitive to frontal lobe defects. *Cortex*, *12*(4), 313-324.
- Newman, S.D., Carpenter, P.A., Varma, S., & Just, M.A. (2003). Frontal and parietal participation in problem solving in the Tower of London: fMRI and computational modeling of planning and high-level perception. *Neuropsychologia*, *41*(12), 1668-1682.
- Niepel, G., Tench Ch, R., Morgan, P.S., Evangelou, N., Auer, D.P., & Constantinescu, C.S. (2006). Deep gray matter and fatigue in MS: a T1 relaxation time study. *Journal of Neurology*, 253(7), 896-902.
- Noseworthy, J.H., Lucchinetti, C., Rodriguez, M., & Weinshenker, B.G. (2000). Multiple sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *343*(13), 938-952.

- Oken, B.S., Flegal, K., Zajdel, D., Kishiyama, S.S., Lovera, J., Bagert, B., et al. (2006). Cognition and fatigue in multiple sclerosis: Potential effects of medications with central nervous system activity. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 43(1), 83-90.
- Owen, A.M. (2004). Cognitive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: the role of frontostriatal circuitry. *The Neuroscientist*, *10*(6), 525-537.
- Owen, A.M., Herrod, N.J., Menon, D.K., Clark, J.C., Downey, S.P., Carpenter, T.A., et al. (1999). Redefining the functional organization of working memory processes within human lateral prefrontal cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 567-574.
- Owens, E.M., Denney, D.R., & Lynch, S.G. (2013). Difficulties in planning among patients with multiple sclerosis: a relative consequence of deficits in information processing speed. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *19*(5), 613-620.
- Oyama, G., Shimo, Y., Natori, S., Nakajima, M., Ishii, H., Arai, H., et al. (2011). Acute effects of bilateral subthalamic stimulation on decision-making in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, *17*(3), 189-193.
- Ozturk, A., Smith, S.A., Gordon-Lipkin, E.M., Harrison, D.M., Shiee, N., Pham, D.L., et al. (2010). MRI of the corpus callosum in multiple sclerosis: association with disability. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *16*(2), 166-177.
- Pagani, E., Rocca, M.A., Gallo, A., Rovaris, M., Martinelli, V., Comi, G., et al. (2005). Regional brain atrophy evolves differently in patients with multiple sclerosis according to clinical phenotype. *AJNR. American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 26(2), 341-346.
- Pagonabarraga, J., Garcia-Sanchez, C., Llebaria, G., Pascual-Sedano, B., Gironell, A., & Kulisevsky, J. (2007). Controlled study of decision-making and cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 22(10), 1430-1435.
- Paparrigopoulos, T., Ferentinos, P., Kouzoupis, A., Koutsis, G., & Papadimitriou, G.N. (2010). The neuropsychiatry of multiple sclerosis: Focus on disorders of mood, affect and behaviour. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 22(1), 14-21.
- Passamonti, L., Cerasa, A., Liguori, M., Gioia, M.C., Valentino, P., Nistico, R., et al. (2009). Neurobiological mechanisms underlying emotional processing in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Brain, 132*(Pt 12), 3380-3391.
- Patten, S.B., Beck, C.A., Williams, J.V., Barbui, C., & Metz, L.M. (2003). Major depression in multiple sclerosis: a population-based perspective. *Neurology*, 61(11), 1524-1527.
- Payne, J.W., Bettman, J.R., & Luce, M.F. (1996). When time is money: Decision behavior under opportunity-cost time pressure. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 66(2), 131-152.
- Penke, L., Maniega, S.M., Bastin, M.E., Valdes Hernandez, M.C., Murray, C., Royle, N.A., et al. (2012). Brain white matter tract integrity as a neural foundation for general intelligence. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(10), 1026-1030.

- Penny, S., Khaleeli, Z., Cipolotti, L., Thompson, A., & Ron, M. (2010). Early imaging predicts later cognitive impairment in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 74(7), 545-552.
- Perretta, J.G., Pari, G., & Beninger, R.J. (2005). Effects of Parkinson Disease on Two Putative Nondeclarative Learning Tasks: Probabilistic Classification and Gambling. *Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology*, 18(4), 185-192.
- Peterson, J.W., Bo, L., Mork, S., Chang, A., & Trapp, B.D. (2001). Transected neurites, apoptotic neurons, and reduced inflammation in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. *Annals of Neurology*, 50(3), 389-400.
- Petrides, M. (1995). Impairments on nonspatial self-ordered and externally ordered working memory tasks after lesions of the mid-dorsal part of the lateral frontal cortex in the monkey. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(1 Pt 1), 359-375.
- Petrides, M. (2005). Lateral prefrontal cortex: architectonic and functional organization. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 360*(1456), 781-795.
- Piras, M.R., Magnano, I., Canu, E.D.G., Paulus, K.S., Satta, W.M., Soddu, A., et al. (2003). Longitudinal study of cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: neuropsychological, neuroradiological, and neurophysiological findings. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 74(7), 878-885.
- Pirko, I., & Johnson, A.J. (2008). Neuroimaging of demyelination and remyelination models. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 318, 241-266.
- Pirko, I., Lucchinetti, C.F., Sriram, S., & Bakshi, R. (2007). Gray matter involvement in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, *68*(9), 634-642.
- Poletti, M., Frosini, D., Lucetti, C., Del Dotto, P., Ceravolo, R., & Bonuccelli, U. (2010). Decision making in de novo Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 25(10), 1432-1436.
- Poletti, M., Frosini, D., Lucetti, C., Del Dotto, P., Ceravolo, R., & Bonuccelli, U. (2012). Iowa gambling task in de novo Parkinson's disease: A comparison between good and poor performers. *Movement Disorders*, 27(2), 330-332.
- Poletti, M., Lucetti, C., Logi, C., Baldacci, F., Cipriani, G., Nuti, A., et al. (2013). Cognitive correlates of negative symptoms in behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia: implications for the frontal lobe syndrome. *Neurological Sciences*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1007/s10072-013-1400-2.
- Polman, C.H., Reingold, S.C., Banwell, B., Clanet, M., Cohen, J.A., Filippi, M., et al. (2011). Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 Revisions to the McDonald criteria. *Annals of Neurology*, 69(2), 292-302.
- Ponsford, J., & Kinsella, G. (1992). Attentional deficits following closed-head injury. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 14(5), 822-838.
- Poppe, A.Y., Wolfson, C., & Zhu, B. (2008). Prevalence of multiple sclerosis in Canada: a systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 35(5), 593-601.

- Potagas, C., Giogkaraki, E., Koutsis, G., Mandellos, D., Tsirempolou, E., Sfagos, C., et al. (2008). Cognitive impairment in different MS subtypes and clinically isolated syndromes. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 267(1-2), 100-106.
- Preziosa, P., Rocca, M.A., Mesaros, S., Pagani, E., Stosic-Opincal, T., Kacar, K., et al. (2011). Intrinsic damage to the major white matter tracts in patients with different clinical phenotypes of multiple sclerosis: a voxelwise diffusion-tensor MR study. *Radiology*, 260(2), 541-550.
- Prinster, A., Quarantelli, M., Orefice, G., Lanzillo, R., Brunetti, A., Mollica, C., et al. (2006). Grey matter loss in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a voxel-based morphometry study. *Neuroimage*, *29*(3), 859-867.
- Ramagopalan, S.V., Dobson, R., Meier, U.C., & Giovannoni, G. (2010). Multiple sclerosis: risk factors, prodromes, and potential causal pathways. *Lancet Neurology*, 9(7), 727-739.
- Ramsaransing, G.S., & De Keyser, J. (2006). Benign course in multiple sclerosis: a review. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 113(6), 359-369.
- Randolph, J.J., Wishart, H.A., Saykin, A.J., McDonald, B.C., Schuschu, K.R., MacDonald, J.W., et al. (2005). FLAIR lesion volume in multiple sclerosis: relation to processing speed and verbal memory. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 11(2), 205-209.
- Rao, S.M. (1986). Neuropsychology of multiple sclerosis: a critical review. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 8(5), 503-542.
- Rao, S.M. (1990). A manual for the brief repeatable battery of neuropsychological tests in multiple sclerosis. New York: Cognitive Function Study Group, National Multiple Sclerosis Society.
- Rao, S.M., Glatt, S., Hammeke, T.A., McQuillen, M.P., Khatri, B.O., Rhodes, A.M., et al. (1985). Chronic progressive multiple sclerosis: Relationship Between Cerebral Ventricular Size and Neuropsychological Impairment. *Archives of Neurology*, 42(7), 678-682.
- Rao, S.M., Hammeke, T.A., McQuillen, M.P., Khatri, B.O., & Lloyd, D. (1984). Memory disturbance in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 41(6), 625-631.
- Rao, S.M., Leo, G.J., Bernardin, L., & Unverzagt, F. (1991). Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. I. Frequency, patterns, and prediction. *Neurology*, 41(5), 685-691.
- Rao, S.M., Leo, G.J., Haughton, V.M., St Aubin-Faubert, P., & Bernardin, L. (1989). Correlation of magnetic resonance imaging with neuropsychological testing in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 39(2 Pt 1), 161-166.
- Rao, S.M., Leo, G.J., & St Aubin-Faubert, P. (1989). On the nature of memory disturbance in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 11(5), 699-712.
- Rao, S.M., Reingold, S.C., Ron, M.A., Lyon-Caen, O., & Comi, G. (1993).
 Workshop on Neurobehavioral Disorders in Multiple Sclerosis. Diagnosis, underlying disease, natural history, and therapeutic intervention, Bergamo, Italy, June 25-27, 1992. Archives of Neurology, 50(6), 658-662.

- Rascovsky, K., Hodges, J.R., Kipps, C.M., Johnson, J.K., Seeley, W.W., Mendez, M.F., et al. (2007). Diagnostic criteria for the behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD): current limitations and future directions. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 21(4), S14-18.
- Raz, N., & Lindenberger, U. (2010). News of cognitive cure for age-related brain shrinkage is premature: a comment on Burgmans et al. (2009). *Neuropsychology*, 24(2), 255-257.
- Rey, A. (1941). L'examen psychologique dans les cas d'encéphalopathie traumatique. *Archives de Psychologie*, 28, 21.
- Riccitelli, G., Rocca, M.A., Forn, C., Colombo, B., Comi, G., & Filippi, M. (2011). Voxelwise assessment of the regional distribution of damage in the brains of patients with multiple sclerosis and fatigue. *AJNR. American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 32(5), 874-879.
- Roca, M., Parr, A., Thompson, R., Woolgar, A., Torralva, T., Antoun, N., et al. (2010). Executive function and fluid intelligence after frontal lobe lesions. *Brain*, 133(Pt 1), 234-247.
- Roca, M., Torralva, T., Meli, F., Fiol, M., Calcagno, M., Carpintiero, S., et al. (2008). Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis correlate with changes in fronto-subcortical tracts. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 14(3), 364-369.
- Roesch, M.R., & Olson, C.R. (2003). Impact of expected reward on neuronal activity in prefrontal cortex, frontal and supplementary eye fields and premotor cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *90*(3), 1766-1789.
- Rogers, R.D., Owen, A.M., Middleton, H.C., Williams, E.J., Pickard, J.D., Sahakian, B.J., et al. (1999). Choosing between small, likely rewards and large, unlikely rewards activates inferior and orbital prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(20), 9029-9038.
- Rolls, E.T. (2000). The orbitofrontal cortex and reward. *Cerebral Cortex, 10*(3), 284-294.
- Rolls, E.T. (2004). The functions of the orbitofrontal cortex. *Brain and Cognition*, 55(1), 11-29.
- Ron, M.A., Callanan, M.M., & Warrington, E.K. (1991). Cognitive abnormalities in multiple sclerosis: a psychometric and MRI study. *Psychological Medicine*, 21(1), 59-68.
- Rosati, G. (2001). The prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the world: an update. *Neurological Sciences*, 22(2), 117-139.
- Rossi, M., Gerschcovich, E.R., de Achaval, D., Perez-Lloret, S., Cerquetti, D., Cammarota, A., et al. (2010). Decision-making in Parkinson's disease patients with and without pathological gambling. *European Journal of Neurology*, 17(1), 97-102.
- Rovaris, M., Comi, G., & Filippi, M. (2006). MRI markers of destructive pathology in multiple sclerosis-related cognitive dysfunction. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 245(1-2), 111-116.
- Rovaris, M., Filippi, M., Minicucci, L., Iannucci, G., Santuccio, G., Possa and, F., et al. (2000). Cortical/Subcortical Disease Burden and Cognitive Impairment in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 21(2), 402-408.

- Rovaris, M., Judica, E., Sastre-Garriga, J., Rovira, A., Sormani, M.P., Benedetti, B., et al. (2008). Large-scale, multicentre, quantitative MRI study of brain and cord damage in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 14(4), 455-464.
- Rovaris, M., Riccitelli, G., Judica, E., Possa, F., Caputo, D., Ghezzi, A., et al. (2008). Cognitive impairment and structural brain damage in benign multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 71(19), 1521-1526.
- Royall, D.R., Lauterbach, E.C., Cummings, J.L., Reeve, A., Rummans, T.A., Kaufer, D.I., et al. (2002). Executive control function: a review of its promise and challenges for clinical research. A report from the Committee on Research of the American Neuropsychiatric Association. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 14(4), 377-405.
- Salonen, O., Autti, T., Raininko, R., Ylikoski, A., & Erkinjuntti, T. (1997). MRI of the brain in neurologically healthy middle-aged and elderly individuals. *Neuroradiology*, 39(8), 537-545.
- Salthouse, T.A., Atkinson, T.M., & Berish, D.E. (2003). Executive functioning as a potential mediator of age-related cognitive decline in normal adults. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *132*(4), 566-594.
- Sanchez, M.P., Nieto, A., Barroso, J., Martin, V., & Hernandez, M.A. (2008). Brain atrophy as a marker of cognitive impairment in mildly disabling relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology*, 15(10), 1091-1099.
- Sanfilipo, M.P., Benedict, R.H., Sharma, J., Weinstock-Guttman, B., & Bakshi, R. (2005). The relationship between whole brain volume and disability in multiple sclerosis: a comparison of normalized gray vs. white matter with misclassification correction. *Neuroimage*, 26(4), 1068-1077.
- Sanfilipo, M.P., Benedict, R.H., Weinstock-Guttman, B., & Bakshi, R. (2006). Gray and white matter brain atrophy and neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 66(5), 685-692.
- Sarmany-Schuller, I. (2010). Decision making under time pressure in regard to preferred cognitive style (analytical-intuitive) and study orientation. *Studia Psychologia*, *52*(4), 285-290.
- Sastre-Garriga, J., Ingle, G.T., Chard, D.T., Ramio-Torrenta, L., Miller, D.H., & Thompson, A.J. (2004). Grey and white matter atrophy in early clinical stages of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 22(1), 353-359.
- Sayao, A.L., Bueno, A.M., Devonshire, V., & Tremlett, H. (2011). The psychosocial and cognitive impact of longstanding 'benign' multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *17*(11), 1375-1383.
- Scalfari, A., Neuhaus, A., Degenhardt, A., Rice, G.P., Muraro, P.A., Daumer, M., et al. (2010). The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study 10: relapses and long-term disability. *Brain*, 133(Pt 7), 1914-1929.
- Scheltens, P., Leys, D., Barkhof, F., Huglo, D., Weinstein, H.C., Vermersch, P., et al. (1992). Atrophy of medial temporal lobes on MRI in "probable" Alzheimer's disease and normal ageing: diagnostic value and

neuropsychological correlates. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 55(10), 967-972.

- Schiebener, J., Zamarian, L., Delazer, M., & Brand, M. (2011). Executive functions, categorization of probabilities, and learning from feedback: What does really matter for decision making under explicit risk conditions? *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 33(9), 1025-1039.
- Schliebs, R. (2005). Basal forebrain cholinergic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease--interrelationship with beta-amyloid, inflammation and neurotrophin signaling. *Neurochemical Research*, *30*(6-7), 895-908.
- Schwartz, J.E., Jandorf, L., & Krupp, L.B. (1993). The measurement of fatigue: a new instrument. *Journal Psychosomatic Research*, *37*(7), 753-762.
- Seltman, R.E., & Matthews, B.R. (2012). Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: epidemiology, pathology, diagnosis and management. CNS Drugs, 26(10), 841-870.
- Sepulcre, J., Masdeu, J.C., Goni, J., Arrondo, G., Velez de Mendizabal, N., Bejarano, B., et al. (2009). Fatigue in multiple sclerosis is associated with the disruption of frontal and parietal pathways. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 15(3), 337-344.
- Sepulcre, J., Sastre-Garriga, J., Cercignani, M., Ingle, G.T., Miller, D.H., & Thompson, A.J. (2006). Regional gray matter atrophy in early primary progressive multiple sclerosis: a voxel-based morphometry study. *Archives of Neurology*, 63(8), 1175-1180.
- Shallice, T., & Burgess, P.W. (1991). Deficits in strategy application following frontal lobe damage in man. *Brain*, *114*(Pt 2), 727-741.
- Sharma, J., Sanfilipo, M.P., Benedict, R.H., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Munschauer, F.E., 3rd, & Bakshi, R. (2004). Whole-brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis measured by automated versus semiautomated MR imaging segmentation. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 25(6), 985-996.
- Simioni, S., Ruffieux, C., Kleeberg, J., Bruggimann, L., Annoni, J.M., & Schluep, M. (2008). Preserved decision making ability in early multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 255(11), 1762-1769.
- Simioni, S., Ruffieux, C., Kleeberg, J., Bruggimann, L., du Pasquier, R.A., Annoni, J.M., et al. (2009). Progressive decline of decision-making performances during multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 15(2), 291-295.
- Simioni, S., Schluep, M., Bault, N., Coricelli, G., Kleeberg, J., Du Pasquier, R.A., et al. (2012). Multiple sclerosis decreases explicit counterfactual processing and risk taking in decision making. *PLoS One*, *7*(12), e50718.
- Simon, J.H., Jacobs, L.D., Campion, M.K., Rudick, R.A., Cookfair, D.L., Herndon, R.M., et al. (1999). A longitudinal study of brain atrophy in relapsing multiple sclerosis. The Multiple Sclerosis Collaborative Research Group (MSCRG). *Neurology*, 53(1), 139-148.
- Simon, J.H., Kinkel, R.P., Jacobs, L., Bub, L., & Simonian, N. (2000). A Wallerian degeneration pattern in patients at risk for MS. *Neurology*, 54(5), 1155-1160.

- Sinz, H., Zamarian, L., Benke, T., Wenning, G.K., & Delazer, M. (2008). Impact of ambiguity and risk on decision making in mild Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(7), 2043-2055.
- Skegg, D.C., Corwin, P.A., Craven, R.S., Malloch, J.A., & Pollock, M. (1987). Occurrence of multiple sclerosis in the north and south of New Zealand. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 50(2), 134-139.
- Smith, A. (1982). Symbol Digit Modalities Test. Los Angeles, California: Western Psychological Services, 1973, 1976, 1982.
- Smith, M.M., & Arnett, P.A. (2005). Factors related to employment status changes in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 11(5), 602-609.
- Smith, M.M., & Arnett, P.A. (2010). Awareness of executive functioning deficits in multiple sclerosis: self versus informant ratings of impairment. *Journal* of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 32(7), 780-787.
- Sperling, R.A., Guttmann, C.R., Hohol, M.J., Warfield, S.K., Jakab, M., Parente, M., et al. (2001). Regional magnetic resonance imaging lesion burden and cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Archives of Neurology*, 58(1), 115-121.
- Squire, L.R., & McKee, R.D. (1993). Declarative and nondeclarative memory in opposition: when prior events influence amnesic patients more than normal subjects. *Memory and Cognition*, 21(4), 424-430.
- Staut, C.C., & Naidich, T.P. (1998). Urbach-Wiethe disease (Lipoid proteinosis). *Pediatric Neurosurgery*, 28(4), 212-214.
- Stern, Y. (2002). What is cognitive reserve? Theory and research application of the reserve concept. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 8(3), 448-460.
- Stoessl, A.J. (2012). Neuroimaging in Parkinson's disease: from pathology to diagnosis. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders, 18 Suppl 1*, S55-59.
- Stout, J.C., Rodawalt, W.C., & Siemers, E.R. (2001). Risky decision making in Huntington's disease. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 7(1), 92-101.
- Strober, L., Englert, J., Munschauer, F., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Rao, S., & Benedict, R.H. (2009). Sensitivity of conventional memory tests in multiple sclerosis: comparing the Rao Brief Repeatable Neuropsychological Battery and the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in MS. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 15(9), 1077-1084.
- Stuss, D.T., & Alexander, M.P. (2000). Executive functions and the frontal lobes: a conceptual view. *Psychological Research*, 63(3), 289-298.
- Sullivan, E.V., Rosenbloom, M., Serventi, K.L., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2004). Effects of age and sex on volumes of the thalamus, pons, and cortex. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 25(2), 185-192.
- Sumowski, J.F., Chiaravalloti, N., & DeLuca, J. (2009). Cognitive reserve protects against cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *31*(8), 913-926.

- Sumowski, J.F., Chiaravalloti, N., Leavitt, V.M., & Deluca, J. (2012). Cognitive reserve in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *18*(10), 1454-1458.
- Svaldi, J., Brand, M., & Tuschen-Caffier, B. (2010). Decision-making impairments in women with binge eating disorder.*Appetite*, 54(1), 84-92.
- Swirsky-Sacchetti, T., Mitchell, D.R., Seward, J., Gonzales, C., Lublin, F., Knobler, R., et al. (1992). Neuropsychological and structural brain lesions in multiple sclerosis: a regional analysis. *Neurology*, 42(7), 1291-1295.
- Tekok-Kilic, A., Benedict, R.H., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Dwyer, M.G., Carone, D., Srinivasaraghavan, B., et al. (2007). Independent contributions of cortical gray matter atrophy and ventricle enlargement for predicting neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 36(4), 1294-1300.
- Thiel, A., Hilker, R., Kessler, J., Habedank, B., Herholz, K., & Heiss, W.D.
 (2003). Activation of basal ganglia loops in idiopathic Parkinson's disease:
 a PET study. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *110*(11), 1289-1301.
- Thompson, A.J., Kermode, A.G., Wicks, D., MacManus, D.G., Kendall, B.E., Kingsley, D.P., et al. (1991). Major differences in the dynamics of primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 29(1), 53-62.
- Thompson, A.J., Polman, C.H., Miller, D.H., McDonald, W.I., Brochet, B., Filippi, M.M.X., et al. (1997). Primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 120(Pt 6), 1085-1096.
- Thornton, A.E., Raz, N., & Tucke, K.A. (2002). Memory in multiple sclerosis: contextual encoding deficits. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 8(3), 395-409.
- Tiemann, L., Penner, I.K., Haupts, M., Schlegel, U., & Calabrese, P. (2009). Cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: impact of topographic lesion distribution on differential cognitive deficit patterns. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 15(10), 1164-1174.
- Torralva, T., Dorrego, F., Sabe, L., Chemerinski, E., & Starkstein, S.E. (2000). Impairments of social cognition and decision making in Alzheimer's disease. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 12(3), 359-368.
- Torralva, T., Kipps, C.M., Hodges, J.R., Clark, L., Bekinschtein, T., Roca, M., et al. (2007). The relationship between affective decision-making and theory of mind in the frontal variant of fronto-temporal dementia. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(2), 342-349.
- Torralva, T., Roca, M., Gleichgerrcht, E., Bekinschtein, T., & Manes, F. (2009). A neuropsychological battery to detect specific executive and social cognitive impairments in early frontotemporal dementia. *Brain, 132*(Pt 5), 1299-1309.
- Trojano, M., Pellegrini, F., Fuiani, A., Paolicelli, D., Zipoli, V., Zimatore, G.B., et al. (2007). New natural history of interferon-beta-treated relapsing multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 61(4), 300-306.

- Turner, B., Lin, X., Calmon, G., Roberts, N., & Blumhardt, L.D. (2003). Cerebral atrophy and disability in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis over four years. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 9(1), 21-27.
- Turner, B., Ramli, N., Blumhardt, L.D., & Jaspan, T. (2001). Ventricular enlargement in multiple sclerosis: a comparison of three-dimensional and linear MRI estimates. *Neuroradiology*, 43(8), 608-614.
- Ukkonen, M., Vahvelainen, T., Hamalainen, P., Dastidar, P., & Elovaara, I. (2009). Cognitive dysfunction in primary progressive multiple sclerosis: a neuropsychological and MRI study. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 15(9), 1055-1061.
- Van Der Werf, Y.D., Tisserand, D.J., Visser, P.J., Hofman, P.A., Vuurman, E., Uylings, H.B., et al. (2001). Thalamic volume predicts performance on tests of cognitive speed and decreases in healthy aging. A magnetic resonance imaging-based volumetric analysis. *Brain Research. Cognitive Brain Research*, 11(3), 377-385.
- Vercellino, M., Plano, F., Votta, B., Mutani, R., Giordana, M.T., & Cavalla, P. (2005). Grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 64(12), 1101-1107.
- Vernay, D., Gerbaud, L., Biolay, S., Coste, J., Debourse, J., Aufauvre, D., et al. (2000). [Quality of life and multiple sclerosis: validation of the french version of the self-questionnaire (SEP-59)]. *Revue Neurologique*, 156(3), 247-263.
- Vleugels, L., Lafosse, C., van Nunen, A., Nachtergaele, S., Ketelaer, P., Charlier, M., et al. (2000). Visuoperceptual impairment in multiple sclerosis patients diagnosed with neuropsychological tasks. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 6(4), 241-254.
- Wechsler, D. (1981). *Manual for the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale- Revised*. New York: Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third edition*. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Weintraub, D., Moberg, P.J., Culbertson, W.C., Duda, J.E., & Stern, M.B. (2004).
 Evidence for impaired encoding and retrieval memory profiles in Parkinson disease. *Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology*, 17(4), 195-200.
- Wenk, G.L. (2003). Neuropathologic changes in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 64 Suppl 9, 7-10.
- Wilbertz, G., Tebartz van Elst, L., Delgado, M.R., Maier, S., Feige, B., Philipsen, A., et al. (2012). Orbitofrontal reward sensitivity and impulsivity in adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Neuroimage*, 60(1), 353-361.
- Wilson, M., Tench, C.R., Morgan, P.S., & Blumhardt, L.D. (2003). Pyramidal tract mapping by diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis: improving correlations with disability. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 74(2), 203-207.
- Wood, B., van der Mei, I., Ponsonby, A.L., Pittas, F., Quinn, S., Dwyer, T., et al. (2013). Prevalence and concurrence of anxiety, depression and fatigue over time in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 19(2), 217-224.

- Young, D.L., Goodie, A.S., Hall, D.B., & Wu, E. (2012). Decision making under time pressure, modeled in a prospect theory framework. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 118(2), 179-188.
- Yu, H.J., Christodoulou, C., Bhise, V., Greenblatt, D., Patel, Y., Serafin, D., et al. (2012). Multiple white matter tract abnormalities underlie cognitive impairment in RRMS. *Neuroimage*, 59(4), 3713-3722.
- Zachary, R. (1986). *Shipley Institute of Living Scale Revised Manual*. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Zachary, R.A., & Gorsuch, R.L. (1985). Continuous norming: implications for the WAIS-R. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *41*(1), 86-94.
- Zigmond, A.S., & Snaith, R.P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67(6), 361-370.
- Zipoli, V., Goretti, B., Hakiki, B., Siracusa, G., Sorbi, S., Portaccio, E., et al. (2010). Cognitive impairment predicts conversion to multiple sclerosis in clinically isolated syndromes. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 16(1), 62-67.
- Zivadinov, R., De Masi, R., Nasuelli, D., Bragadin, L.M., Ukmar, M., Pozzi-Mucelli, R.S., et al. (2001). MRI techniques and cognitive impairment in the early phase of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Neuroradiology*, 43(4), 272-278.
- Zivadinov, R., Sepcic, J., Nasuelli, D., De Masi, R., Bragadin, L.M., Tommasi, M.A., et al. (2001). A longitudinal study of brain atrophy and cognitive disturbances in the early phase of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 70(6), 773-780.

APPENDIX

Clinical Presentation	Additional Data Needed		
* 2 or more attacks (relapses) * 2 or more objective clinical lesions	None; clinical evidence will suffice (additional evidence desirable but must be consistent with MS)		
* 2 or more attacks * 1 objective clinical lesion	Dissemination in space, demonstrated by: * MRI * or a positive CSF and 2 or more MRI lesions consistent with MS * or further clinical attack involving different site. New criteria: Dissemination in Space (DIS) can be demonstrated by the presence of 1 or more T2 lesions in at least 2 of 4 of the following areas of the CNS: periventricular, juxtacortical, infratentorial, or spinal cord.		
* 1 attack * 2 or more objective clinical lesions	Dissemination in time (DIT), demonstrated by: * MRI * or second clinical attack New criteria: No longer a need to have separate MRIs run; Dissemination in time, demonstrated by: Simultaneous presence of asymptomatic gadolinium-enhancing and non-enhancing lesions at any time; or a new T2 and/or gadolinium-enhancing lesion(s) on follow-up MRI, irrespective of its timing with reference to a baseline scan; or await a second clinical attack. [This allows for quicker diagnosis without sacrificing specificity, while improving sensitivity.]		
* 1 attack * 1 objective clinical lesion (clinically isolated syndrome)	New criteria: Dissemination in space and time, demonstrated by: For DIS: 1 or more T2 lesion in at least 2 of 4 MS-typical regions of the CNS (periventricular, juxtacortical, infratentorial, or spinal cord); or await a second clinical attack implicating a different CNS site; and For DIT: Simultaneous presence of asymptomatic gadolinium-enhancing and non-enhancing lesions at any time; or A new T2 and/or gadolinium-enhancing lesion(s) on follow-up MRI, irrespective of its timing with reference to a baseline scan; or Await a second clinical attack.		
Insidious neurological progression suggestive of MS (primary progressive MS)	 New criteria: One year of disease progression (retrospectively or prospectively determined) and two or three of the following: 1. Evidence for DIS in the brain based on 1 or more T2 lesions in the MS-characteristic (periventricular, juxtacortical, or infratentorial) regions 2. Evidence for DIS in the spinal cord based on 2 or more T2 lesions in the cord 3. Positive CSF (isoelectric focusing evidence of oligoclonal bands and/or elevated IgG index) 		

Appendix A. *The Revised (2010) McDonald Criteria for the diagnosis of MS* (Polman et al., 2011).

Neuropsychological Test Scores	Mean Z-scores	Standard Deviations
SDMT	.22	1.40
SRT Total Correct	.08	.86
SRT CLTR	08	.91
SRT Intrusions	.03	1.54
SRT Delayed	.34	.95
PASAT Total Correct	06	1.16
Pegboard right hand insertion time ¹	70	.98
Pegboard left hand insertion time ¹	74	1.38
TOH Total Trials ²	.40	.66
WCST Total Correct	.12	.57
WCST Perseverative Errors	13	.74
Forward Digit Span	.42	.76
Backward Digit Span	.47	.74
COWAT Total Correct	.42	1.05

Appendix B. *Z*-scores and standard deviations of study controls' performance on the neuropsychological tests, derived from published norms.

SDMT: Symbol-Digit Modalities Test, SRT: Selective Reminding Test, CLTR: Continuous long-term retrieval, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test 3'' version, Pegboard: Nine-Hole Pegboard Test, TOH: Tower of Hanoi, WCST: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (64-card version), COWAT: verbal fluency test. 1: The normed Pegboard scores are separated by right and left hand which is different than my combined Pegboard score that was used for the analyses in this study (see p. 62 for a detailed explanation); ²: The normed TOH Total Trials is a different score than the score of TOH Time that we generated and used for the analyses in this study (see p. 71/72 and footnote 2 on p. 97 for a detailed explanation).

Appendix C. Proportion of MS patien equal to two standard deviations b scores. Scores are frequency counts (p	nts in each subgroup below controls' per percentages).	p performing less than or formance in composite
	RR-2	SP

	NN-1	NN- 2	51
	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=10)
SOIP	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	2 (20.00%)
MEM	4 (30.77%)	5 (55.56%)	3 (30.00%)
EF	1 (7.69%)	1 (11.11%)	0 (0.00%)
Global	1 (7.69%)	1 (11.11%)	0 (0.00%)

SOIP: speed of information processing, MEM: memory, EF: executive functions, Global: global cognitive functioning.